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1.1 Glossary 

“Affiliate” means a company that is affiliated with another Company as described below. A company is 

an Affiliate of another Company if (a) one of them is the subsidiary of the other, or (b) each of them is 

controlled by the same person. A company is "controlled" by a person if (a) voting securities of the issuer 

are held, other than by way of security only, by or for the benefit of that person, and (b) the voting 

securities, if voted, entitle the person to elect a majority of the directors of the issuer. A person beneficially 

owns securities that are beneficially owned by: 

(a) a company controlled by that person, or 

(b) an Affiliate of that person or an Affiliate of any Company controlled by that person; 

“Associate” when used to indicate a relationship with a person or Company, means (a) a partner, other 

than a limited partner, o f that person, (b) a trust or estate in which that person has a substantial beneficial 

interest or for which that person serves as trustee or in a similar capacity, (c) an issuer in respect of which 

that person beneficially owns or controls, directly or indirectly, voting securities carrying more than 10% 

of the voting rights attached to all outstanding voting securities of the issuer, or (d) a relative, including 

the spouse, of that person or a relative of that person's spouse, if the relative has the same home as that 

person; 

“Author” means Brad Leonard, M.Sc., P.Geo. of Sudbury, Ontario, an independent consulting geologist 

and the GIS Manager of Caracle Creek International Consulting Inc., and a “qualified person” as defined in 

NI 43-101; 

“Bear Creek” means Bear Creek Gold Ltd., a company incorporated under the laws of the Province of 

Ontario on August 13, 2020, and permitted assign of Salmay’s interest in the Option Agreement and JV 

Agreement; 

“Board” means the board of directors of the Company; 

“CEO” means chief executive officer of Buccaneer; 

“CFO” means the chief financial officer of Buccaneer; 

“Common Shares” means the common shares without par value in the capital of Buccaneer; 

“Company” or “Buccaneer” means Buccaneer Gold Corp., a company incorporated under the laws of the 

Province of Ontario on October 4, 2004; 

“CSE” or the “Exchange” means the Canadian Stock Exchange; 

“CSE Policies” means the rules and policies of the CSE; 

“Escrow Agent” and “Transfer Agent” means Computershare Trust Company of Canada, located at 100 

University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5J 2Y1; 

“Escrow Agreement” means the escrow agreement dated January 12, 2021 among the Company, the 

Escrow Agent, and the holders of Escrow Securities; 
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“Escrow Securities” means the Common Shares and Options held by the directors, officers and insiders 

that will be deposited pursuant to the Escrow Agreement; 

“Insider” if used in relation to an issuer, means: 

(a) a director or senior officer of the issuer; 

(b) a director or senior officer of the Company that is an Insider or subsidiary of the issuer; 

(c) a Person that beneficially owns or controls, directly or indirectly, voting shares carrying more 
than 10% of the voting rights attached to all outstanding voting shares of the issuer; or 

(d) the issuer itself if it holds any of its own securities; 

“JV Agreement” means the joint venture agreement dated April 11, 2005 between the Company and 

Salmay and their respective successors or permitted assigns; 

“Listing” means the application made by Buccaneer to list its Common Shares on the CSE; 

“Listing Date” means the date on which the Common Shares are listed for trading on the CSE; 

“Listing Statement” means this listing statement and any appendices, schedules or attachments hereto; 

“Named Executive Officer” or “NEO” means the following individuals: 

(a) the Company's CEO; 

(b) the Company's CFO; 

(c) each of the three most highly compensated executive officers, or the three most highly 
compensated individuals acting in a similar capacity, other than the Company’s CEO and CFO, 
at the end of the most recently completed financial year whose total compensation was, 
individually, more than $150,000, as determined in accordance with subsection 1.3(5) of 51-
102F6V – Statement of Executive Compensation – Venture Issuers, for that financial year; and 

(d) each individual who would be a Named Executive Officer under paragraph (c) but for the fact 
that the individual was not an executive officer of the Company, and not acting in a similar 
capacity, at the end of that financial year; 

“NP 46-201” means National Policy 46-201 – Escrow for Initial Public Offerings as published by the 

Canadian Securities Administrators; 

“NI 52-110” means National Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees; 

“OBCA” means the Business Corporations Act (Ontario); 

“Option Agreement” means the option agreement dated December 9, 2014 between the Company and 

Salmay or its successors; 

“Optionee” means the holder of an Option; 

“Options” means incentive stock options granted to the Company's directors, officers, employees and 

consultants in accordance with the Stock Option Plan and rules and the CSE Policies; 
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“OSC” means the Ontario Securities Commission; 

“Person” means a company, incorporated association or organization, body corporate, partnership, trust, 

association or other entity other than an individual, or an individual; 

“Property” means the Massey Silica mineral property in Sudbury, ON comprised of one multi-cell mineral 

tenure, ID 535700, and two single-cell mineral tenures, IDs 123401 and 173366, which is the subject of 

the Technical Report; 

“Salmay” means Salmay Resources Inc., a company incorporated under the laws of the Province of 

Ontario and dissolved pursuant to a Certificate of Dissolution under the OBCA on January 7, 2020, and a 

party to the JV Agreement; 

“SEDAR” means the System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval for the filing of disclosure 

documents by reporting issuers in Canada, accessible at www.sedar.com;  

“Stock Option Plan” means the Company's stock option plan providing for the grant of Options to the 

Company's directors, officers, employees and consultants; and 

“Technical Report” means the NI 43-101 compliant technical report on the Property entitled, 

“Independent Technical Report, Massey Silica Property, Sudbury Mining Division, Ontario, Canada”, dated 

January 25, 2021, prepared by the Author. 

1.2 CURRENCY 

All sums of money to be paid or calculated pursuant to this Listing Statement shall be paid or calculated 

in the currency of Canada unless otherwise expressly stated and the references to $ are to Canadian 

dollars. 

1.3 Forward Looking Statements 

Certain statements contained in this Listing Statement constitute forward-looking information under 

applicable Canadian securities laws. These statements relate to future events or future performance. All 

statements other than statements of historical fact may be forward-looking statements. Forward-looking 

statements are often, but not always, identified by the use of words such as “seek”, “anticipate”, “plan”, 

“continue”, “objectives”, “strategies”, “estimate”, “expect”, “may”, “will”, “project”, “predict”, 

“potential”, “targeting”, “intend”, “could”, “might”, “should”, “believe” and similar expressions. These 

statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual 

results or events to differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements. The 

Company believes the expectations reflected in those forward-looking statements are reasonable but no 

assurance can be given that these expectations will prove to be correct and such forward-looking 

statements included in its Listing Statement should not be unduly relied upon. 

In particular, this Listing Statement contains forward-looking statements pertaining to the following: 

 the Company’s expectations, strategies and plans for the Property, including its planned 
exploration activities; 

 the results of future exploration and drilling and estimated completion dates for certain 
milestones; 
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 successfully locating mineral resources and successfully developing new deposits; 

 the timing, receipt and maintenance of approvals, licences and permits from the government and 
from any other applicable government, regulator or administrative body; 

 future financial or operating performance and condition of the Company and its business, 
operations and properties; 

 statements that may predict, forecast, indicate or imply future plans, intentions, levels of activity, 
results, performance or achievements; 

 mineral exploration, development and operating risks; 

 environmental, health and safety regulations of the resource industry; 

 competitive conditions; 

 operational risks; 

 liquidity and financing risks; 

 funding risks; 

 exploration costs; 

 uninsurable risks; 

 environmental risks; 

 conflicts of interest; 

 government policy changes; 

 ownership risks; 

 permitting and licensing risks; 

 difficulty in enforcement of judgments; 

 market conditions; 

 stress in the global economy; 

 current global financial condition; 

 reliance on key personnel; 

 dilution risk; 

 exchange rate and currency risks; 

 commodity prices; and 
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 the other risks and uncertainties described elsewhere in this Listing Statement. 

Although the forward-looking statements contained in this Listing Statement are based upon assumptions 

which the Company believes to be reasonable, the Company cannot assure holders or prospective 

purchasers of Common Shares that actual results will be consistent with these forward-looking 

statements. With respect to forward-looking statements contained in this Listing Statement, the Company 

has made assumptions regarding: future commodity prices and royalty regimes; availability of skilled 

labour; timing and amount of capital expenditures; future currency exchange and interest rates; the 

impact of increasing competition; general conditions in economic and financial markets; availability of 

drilling and related equipment; effects of regulation by governmental agencies; royalty rates; future tax 

rates; future operating costs; availability of future sources of funding; ability to obtain financing and 

assumptions underlying estimates related to adjusted funds from operations. The Company has included 

the above summary of assumptions and risks related to forward-looking information provided in this 

Listing Statement in order to provide holders and prospective purchasers with a more complete 

perspective on the Company’s future operations and such information may not be appropriate for other 

purposes. The Company’s actual results, performance or achievement could differ materially from those 

expressed in, or implied by, these forward-looking statements and, accordingly, no assurance can be given 

that any of the events anticipated by the forward-looking statements will transpire or occur, or if any of 

them do so, what benefits the Company will derive therefrom. These forward-looking statements are 

made as of the date of this Listing Statement and the Company disclaims any intent or obligation to update 

publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or results 

or otherwise, other than as required by applicable securities laws. 

2. Corporate Structure 

The Company was registered and incorporated on October 4, 2004 under the OBCA as “Verbina Ventures 

Inc.” On December 9, 2004, the Company filed articles of amendment under the OBCA to remove 

restrictions on the number of shareholders of the Company. On September 14, 2007, the Company filed 

articles of amendment under the OBCA to change its name to “Verbina Resources Inc.”, and on April 11, 

2011 filed articles of amendment under the OBCA to change its name to “Buccaneer Gold Corp.” 

The Company’s registered and head office is located at 82 Richmond Street East, Suite 308, Toronto, 

Ontario M5C 1P1. As at the date of this Listing Statement, the Company has no subsidiaries, except as 

listed below. 

Salmay was registered and incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario and was dissolved 

pursuant to a Certificate of Dissolution under the OBCA on January 7, 2020. 

The Company has one wholly owned subsidiary, Buccaneer Gold (Ghana) Limited (the “Subsidiary”), 

incorporated under The Companies Act (Ghana) on September 1, 2011. The Subsidiary was incorporated 

in connection with a binding option agreement (the “Option Agreement”) for the Banso and Muoso 

Concessions in Ghana (the "Concessions") entered into between the Company and Xtra-Gold Resources 

Corp. (“Xtra”) on January 21, 2011.   On November 18, 2016, the Company settled litigation with Xtra 

related to the Option Agreement for the Concessions.  Under the terms of the settlement, the Company 

terminated its earn-in option interest in the Concessions and abandoned its claim to alluvial gold from the 

Concessions, and as a result, the Subsidiary became inactive in 2017. The Company intends to dissolve the 

Subsidiary following the Listing. 
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Buccaneer Gold Corp. 
(Ontario) 

 100% 

Buccaneer Gold (Ghana) 
Limited 
(Ghana) 

 

3. General Development of the Business 

The Company is an exploration-stage junior mineral exploration company currently engaged in the 

identification, acquisition and exploration of precious metals in Canada. The Company has one property, 

the Massey Silica Property in Ontario. The Massey Silica Property is the Company’s material property for 

the purpose of this Listing Statement and the proposed listing of the common shares of the Company on 

the Exchange. See “Narrative Description of the Business – The Massey Silica Property”. 

On December 12, 2018, the Company announced its intention to pursue a business opportunity in the 

United States cannabis market. On March 11, 2019, the Company announced the termination of the 

negotiation. 

3.1 Acquisition of the Property 

On December 9, 2004, the Company entered into the Option Agreement with Salmay or its successors, 

pursuant to which Salmay granted to the Company an option to acquire up to a 100% interest in the 

Property for the mining of silica. The Company earned an initial 65% undivided interest by paying a cash 

consideration of $100,000 and incurring $300,000 in exploration expenditures. To earn a 100% interest, 

the Company must pay further cash consideration of $200,000 and place the Property into production.  In 

the event that the Company earns a 100% undivided interest in the Property, Salmay or its successors or 

permitted assigns shall have the right to be paid a 3% net smelter return royalty (“NSR”). The Company 

will have the right, but not the obligation, at any time, to purchase two (2) percentage points of the NSR 

by payment of $3,000,000 to Salmay or its successors or permitted assigns. 

On April 11, 2005, the Company entered into the JV  Agreement with Salmay to govern the parties’ 

relationship with respect to the Property, which became effective upon the Company earning the initial 

65% undivided interest in the Property. The term of the JV Agreement is twenty (20) years from the date 

of execution and for so long thereafter as any ore, minerals and mineral resources are produced from the 

Property or the participants are actively engaged in the exploration or development of the Property or 

continue to jointly own or operate any of the assets or post-mining reclamation operations are being 

conducted, unless earlier terminated as provided therein. The purpose of the JV Agreement is to govern 

the relationship of the parties which includes: (i) conducting exploration of the Property; (ii) evaluate the 

possible development of and mining on the Property; (iii) engage in development and mining on the 

Property; (iv) acquire additional properties within the area of interest (as set forth in the Option 

Agreement addendum and the JV Agreement); and (v) perform any other activity necessary, appropriate 

or incidental to any of the foregoing. Salmay was dissolved on January 7, 2020 and Salmay’s interest in 

the JV Agreement has since been assigned to Bear Creek. The Company is the operator of the Property 
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and has the overall responsibility to manage and carry out the operations of the joint venture. The 

Company may resign as the operator of the Property upon providing one month’s notice to Bear Creek. 

4. Narrative Description of the Business 

4.1 Business Objectives 

The primary business objective of the Company is to explore and, if warranted, develop, silica and other 

mineral projects in Massey, Ontario. The Company seeks to target properties with excellent exploration 

potential to advance rapidly toward development. The Company’s principal focus in 2021 is to explore 

and, if warranted, develop the Property. In the near term, planned activities at the Project include the 

completion of the recommended Phase 1 work program set forth in the Technical Report. The activities 

comprising the recommended Phase 1 work program are scheduled to commence in Q1 2021 and, if 

commenced in Q1 2021, are expected to be completed by the end of Q2 2022. Depending on the success 

of the recommended Phase 1 work program, the Company will evaluate whether to proceed with the 

recommended Phase 2 work program. For further details regarding the Company’s recommended 

program with respect to the Property, please see “The Massey Silica Property” below. See “17. Risk 

Factors”.  

The evaluation will commence with the establishment of an environmental baseline for flaura and fauna, 

with air quality measurements.  These items are required to establish and confirm the state of the 

property before mining begins, allowing the Company to establish a reasonable rehabilitation program 

based on the existing information.  Without this information, returning the land to its natural state may 

be difficult to determine.  Also, before the Company spends funds on an exploration program, it needs to 

confirm that no unique environmental characteristics exist on the property which could inhibit or restrict 

mining operations.  Work will be delayed to Q2 2021 due to the winter season, which will make an 

environmental inventory unreliable.  Air quality monitoring will be required due to the health risk of 

silicosis. 

Target markets for silica near the Property are nickel-copper smelters, construction materials (cement) 

and/or the glass industry. During Q1 2021, the Company intends to investigate the potential for silica 

markets in and around the Sudbury area.  It is likely that transportation costs will make the total 

production cost prohibitively expensive to markets outside of the Sudbury basin.  The state of the market 

can be established before Q2 2021, so the Company will know the potential economic rewards available 

in local silica markets. 

Establishing an environmental baseline will consume time to Q4 2021 as the Company collects and tests 

samples. 

The Company’s business objectives and associated costs for the next twelve months are as follows: 

Timeframe Business Objectives Estimated Costs 

0 to 3 months  
Commence marketing study to evaluate target 

markets for silica near the Property 

$20,000 

3 to 6 months 
Complete marketing study and commence 

environmental study to determine a baseline 

$50,000 
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Timeframe Business Objectives Estimated Costs 

6 to 12 months 
Complete environmental study and commence field 

work with engineering study 

$65,000 

Total $135,000 

Assuming the market study indicates that a suitable market for silica in Sudbury exists, and the 

environmental study does not indicate any problems, field work can commence Q4 2021 with Engineering 

Studies. Marketing studies will be conducted to determine other potential markets for the silica and silica 

concentrate. 

Engineering studies including a recommended 5 tonne bulk sample in order to determine the nature of 

material, investigations into improving grade by magnetic separation and overall physical and chemical 

properties of the silica material. 

The estimated costs and timeframe for the Engineering and Marketing studies are indicated in the table 

below: 

Phase 1 Work Program Budget $ Timeframe 

Phase 1:   

Complete marketing study 60,000 Q2 2021 

Complete environmental study 40,000 Q4 2021 

Complete engineering study 135,000 Q2 2022 

Total Phase 1  $235,000  

The Phase 2 work program will consist of diamond drilling at approximately 800 metres to further define 

the silica resource. The Phase 2 work program is contingent on successful results from the Phase 1 work 

program. 

The estimated costs for the Phase 2 work program are indicated in the table below: 

Phase 2 Work Program Item Units No. Units CAD$/Unit Amount Sub-Totals 

Diamond Drilling – additional drilling to further define 
the Resource 

     

 Mob-Demob ea 1 $10,000 $10,000  

 Drilling m 800 $150 $120,000  

 Core Assays ea 400 $38 $15,200  

 Core storage month 5 $200 $1,000  

 Facility rental 
(core cutting & 
logging 

 
month 

 
1 

 
$1,000 

 
$1,000 

 

  
Miscellaneous 

 
ea 

 
1 

 
$5,000 

 
$5,000 

 

     Subtotal $152,200 

Geologists      

 Senior Geologist day 30 $700 $21,000  

 Junior Geologist day 30 $350 $10,500  
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     Subtotal $31,500 

Operating Expenses      

 Vehicles month 1 $1,800.00 $1,800  

 Fuel month 1 $1,000.00 $1,000  

 Food/Accomm. day 30 $250.00 $7,500  

 Miscellaneous ea 1 $5,000.00 $5,000  

     Subtotal $15,300 

     Total Phase 2 $199,000 

Use of Funds 

The Company expects to have funds available of $316,000 for the twelve-month period after Listing. The 

Company currently has $316,000 of cash and $45,000 of payables and accruals. Of the $45,000, the 

Company has accrued $30,000 against a termination payment that it has indicated it does not expect to 

pay.  

Pursuant to the JV Agreement, Bear Creek is required to fund 35% of exploration spending on the 

Property, or about $82,000 of the $235,000 required for completion of the Phase 1 work program. The 

Company will fund 65% of exploration spending on the Property for the Phase 1 work program, or about 

$153,000 of the $235,000 required for completion of the Phase 1 work program. Per the Company’s 

business objectives, the Company anticipates that $135,000 of the total $235,000 expected budget of the 

Phase 1 work program will be incurred over the next twelve months, based on the following Phase 1 work 

program budget breakdown: 

Program Budget ($) 

Phase 1 Q1 
2021 

Q2 
2021 

Q3 
2021 

Q4 
2021 

Q1 
2022 

Q2 
2022 

Total 

Complete marketing study 20,000 40,000 
     

Complete environmental study 
 

10,000 20,000 10,000 
   

Complete engineering study 
   

35,000 50,000 50,000 
 

Total 20,000 50,000 20,000 45,000 50,000 50,000 235,000 

 The Company estimates it will require the following funds to conduct its plan of operations over the next 

twelve months: 

Purpose Anticipated Amount ($) 

Phase 1 Work Program (12 months) 88,000 

Payables and accruals 15,000 

General and administrative expenses totaling $60,000  

Audit expenses 10,000 

D&O insurance 10,000 

Filing fees 10,000 

Administration costs 30,000 

Reserved for Balance of Phase 1 Work Program 65,000 

Unallocated working capital 88,000 

TOTAL 316,000 
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It is anticipated the Company will have sufficient funds to complete its Phase 1 work program with an 

estimated completion date in Q2 2022, and to fund its operations and regulatory requirements for the 

twelve months after Listing. 

4.2 Competitive Conditions 

The mineral exploration industry is competitive, with many companies competing for the limited number 

of mineral acquisition and exploration opportunities that are economic under current or foreseeable 

mineral prices, as well as for available investment funds. Competition is also high for the recruitment of 

qualified personnel and equipment. Significant and increasing competition exists for mineral 

opportunities in Ontario. There are a number of large established mineral exploration companies in 

Ontario with substantial capabilities and greater financial and technical resources than the Company. 

Competition in the metals mining industry is primarily for mineral-rich properties which can be developed 

and can produce economically; the technical expertise to find, develop, and operate such properties; the 

labour to operate the properties; and the capital for the purpose of funding such properties. Such 

competition may result in the Company being unable to acquire desired properties, to recruit or retain 

qualified employees or to acquire the capital necessary to fund its operations and develop its properties. 

The Company’s inability to compete with other mining companies for these resources would have a 

material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operation and business. 

4.3 Government Regulation 

Mining operations, development and exploration activities are subject to extensive laws and regulations 

governing prospecting, development, production, exports, taxes, labour standards, occupational health, 

waste disposal, environmental protection and remediation, protection of endangered and protected 

species, mine safety, toxic substances and other matters. Changes in these regulations or in their 

application are beyond the control of the Company and could adversely affect its operations, business 

and results of operations. 

Government approvals and permits are currently, and may in the future be, required in connection with 

the Property. To the extent such approvals are required and not obtained, the Company may be restricted 

or prohibited from proceeding with planned exploration or development activities. Failure to comply with 

applicable laws, regulations and permitting requirements may result in enforcement actions thereunder, 

including orders issued by regulatory or judicial authorities causing operations to cease or be curtailed, 

and may include corrective measures requiring capital expenditures, installation of additional equipment, 

or remedial actions.  Parties engaged in mining operations may be required to compensate those suffering 

loss or damage by reason of the mining activities and may be liable for civil or criminal fines or penalties 

imposed for violations of applicable laws or regulations.  Amendments to current laws, regulations and 

permitting requirements, or more stringent application of existing laws, could have a material adverse 

impact on the Company and cause increases in capital expenditures or production costs or reductions in 

levels of production at producing properties or require abandonment or delays in development of 

properties. 

The Company’s material property will be located in Ontario and as such are subject to the jurisdiction of 

the laws of Canada. The Company believes the present attitude to foreign investment and to the mining 

industry is favourable but conditions may change. Operations may be affected in varying degrees by 
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government regulation with respect to restrictions on production, price controls, export controls, foreign 

exchange controls, income taxes, expropriation of property, environmental legislation and mine safety. 

These uncertainties may make it more difficult for the Company to obtain required production financing 

for the Property or any other properties it may acquire that go to production. 

4.4 Environmental Regulation 

The Company may be subject to potential risks and liabilities associated with pollution of the environment 

and the disposal of waste products that could occur as a result of its mineral exploration, development 

and production. In addition, environmental hazards may exist on a property in which the Company directly 

or indirectly holds an interest which are unknown to the Company at present which have been caused by 

previous or existing owners or operators of the property. Environmental legislation provides for 

restrictions and prohibitions on spills, releases or emissions of various substances produced in association 

with certain mining industry operations, such as seepage from tailings disposal areas, which would result 

in environmental pollution. A breach of such legislation may result in the imposition of fines and penalties.   

To the extent the Company is subject to environmental liabilities, the payment of such liabilities or the 

costs that it may incur to remedy environmental pollution would reduce funds otherwise available to it 

and could have a material adverse effect on the Company. If the Company is unable to fully remedy an 

environmental problem, it might be required to suspend operations or enter into interim compliance 

measures pending completion of the required remedy. The potential exposure may be significant and 

could have a material adverse effect on the Company. 

All of the Company’s exploration, development and production activities will be subject to regulation 

under one or more of the various provincial and federal and other environmental laws and regulations. 

The current or future operations of the Company, including development activities and commencement 

of production on its properties, require permits from various federal, provincial or territorial and local 

governmental authorities and such operations are and will be governed by laws and regulations governing 

prospecting, development, mining, production, exports, taxes, labour standards, occupational health, 

waste disposal, toxic substances, land use, environmental protection, mine safety and other matters. 

There can be no assurance, however, that all permits which the Company require for its operations and 

exploration activities will be obtainable on reasonable terms or on a timely basis or that such laws and 

regulations would not have an adverse effect on any mining project which the Company might undertake. 

The Company must update and review its permits from to time, and is subject to environmental impact 

analyses and public review processes prior to approval of the additional activities.  It is possible that future 

changes in applicable laws, regulations and permits or changes in their enforcement or regulatory 

interpretation could have a significant impact on some portion of the Company’s business, causing those 

activities to be economically re-evaluated at that time. There is no assurance that future changes in 

environmental regulation, if any, will not adversely affect the Company’s operations. The Company 

intends to fully comply with all environmental regulations in every country in which it is active. 

4.5 Employees 

As of the date of this Listing Statement, the Company has nil employees. 
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4.6 Trends 

There are significant uncertainties regarding the availability of equity financing for the purposes of mineral 

exploration and development, and the acquisition of markets for silica. 

The present and future activities of the Company may be influenced to some degree by factors such as 

the availability of capital, governmental regulations, including environmental regulation and territorial 

claims. The influence of such factors cannot be predicted. 

To the knowledge of the Company, other than what is described in this Listing Statement, there is no 

current trend or event that could reasonably influence, in a significant manner, the activities, financial 

situation or operating results of the Company for the current fiscal year. See “17. Risk Factors”. 

4.7 The Massey Silica Property 

The following represents information summarized from the Technical Report on the Property dated 

January 25, 2021, prepared by the Author, a “qualified person”, as defined under National Instrument 43-

101 – Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (previously defined as “NI 43-101”), prepared in 

accordance with the requirements of NI 43-101. Note that not all of the figures and tables from the 

Technical Report are reproduced in and form part of this Listing Statement. The remaining figures are 

contained in the Technical Report which is available under the Company’s profile on the SEDAR website 

at www.sedar.com. 

The following information regarding the Property has been summarized from and is qualified in its entirety 

by the Technical Report. The disclosure in this Listing Statement has been prepared with the consent of 

the QP and in most cases, is a direct extract of, and is qualified in its entirety by the disclosure contained 

in the Technical Report. 

I. PROPERTY DESCRIPTION AND LOCATION 

The Massey Silica Property is located approximately 7 km north of Massey, Ontario on the north-south 

boundary of May and Salter townships, within the Municipality of Massey at 460-16’-29”N latitude, 820- 

04’-00”W longitude. 

The Property (Figure 1) was comprised of 6 unpatented, contiguous mining claims containing 8 units and 

covering 128 hectares. In 2018, the Ministry of Energy, Northern Development and Mines converted to 

map based staking in place of ground staking and converted all mining claims to cell based claims. As a 

result, the new claim configuration consists of a 12 cell multi-unit claim 535700 located in the northeast 

corner of Salter Township and the northwest corner of May Township. The following list of 12 cell id’s 

comprise the multi-unit claim: 41J08A268, 41J08A269, 41J08A270, 41J08A271, 41J08A288, 41J08A289, 

41J08A290, 41J08A291, 41J08A292, 41J08A310, 41J08A311 and 41J08A312. The recorded holder of the 

multi-unit claim is Christopher Brent Patrie (client number 300222). The claim is currently in good standing 

with an anniversary date of April 22, 2021 when $4600 of work is required to renew; there is a total of $ 

196,365 in reserves to satisfy future work requirements. 

http://www.sedar.com/
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Figure 1. Local Property location and access 

II. Accessibility, Climate, Local Resources, Infrastructure and Physiography 

The town of Massey is approximately 100 km west of Sudbury, Ontario along provincial highway #17.  At 

the eastern end of Massey, the West Lake road leads north about 4 km to the southwest end of West Lake 

after which an old tote/logging road leads directly to the western boundary of the Property. 

Approximately 3 km of road would need to be constructed to provide truck access to the Property. 

The climate is cold temperature to continental with a temperature range generally from –35oC in January 

and February to +30oC in July and August. Snowfall accumulates normally between December and March 

to depths in the order of 1 m to 2 m depending on the year. Work can generally be carried out year-round; 

however, trucking is only on a “half-load” basis for some roads in April. 

Local resources on the Property consist of an abundance of fresh water, and mixed deciduous and 

coniferous trees. Both wireless and wire line telecommunication services as well as electrical power are 

present in the local area. The City of Greater Sudbury offers all types of social amenities, and is a source 

of skilled exploration and mining personnel, as well as mine related services. 

The Property has a mixture of bog and relatively higher outcrop ridges. Local relief on the Property ranges 

from 250 m to 280 m above mean sea level. Bedrock outcroppings are fairly common on the claim group; 

most of the outcrop on the Property occurs as high prominent ridges. The drainage present on the 
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Property is best described as a bog, typical of the Canadian Shield. The streams on the property are on 

average 1 m in depth but usually large due to beaver dams and seasonal variation in water level. 

III. HISTORY 

Historic work in the vicinity of the Property was largely concentrated on the gabbroic intrusions in the 

search for Cu-Ni-PGE mineralization. 

1991, Norwin Geological Ltd. 

Norwin Geological Ltd. conducted work in the area to trace out the extent of a silicified zone. Work 

included line cutting, geological mapping, and a 2-hole diamond drill program, which also included major-

oxide analyses of 20 samples and gold analysis on five selected samples from one hole. No significant gold 

values were obtained. Silica analyses ranged from 68% to 98% SiO2. 

2002, Dan Patrie 

Dan Patrie drilled and blasted a small test pit 1.5 m x 3 m x 0.67 m deep. Three samples were collected 

and returned an average analysis of over 95% SiO2. 

2004, Salmay Resources Ltd. 

In 2004, Salmay identified a large area of silica (the “Silica-rich Zone”) comprised of three separate zones; 

the Eastern Zone, the Central Zone and the Western Zone. Three continuous chip samples were collected 

across the eastern end of the Western Zone, perpendicular to the trend of the zone and were composed 

of four continuous, 5 m long chip samples.  Total length of the three sections was 20 m and returned 

values of 94.78% SiO2, 95.15% SiO2 and 92.22 SiO2. The Central and Eastern Zones were mapped in detail 

as well. 

2010, Verbina Resources Inc. 

In 2008, at the direction of Verbina Resources Inc., Adventis Geoservices Inc performed geological 

mapping and executed a 12 hole diamond drill program for a total of 892.5 m to test a 265 metre strike 

length and dip continuity of the Western Zone. Holes were drilled at various angles between -50o and -

70o. Adventis reported a vein-like form (pinch and swell form) to the Western Zone and varied in widths 

from 10 to about 30 metres on surface. Adventis further reported that width of the silica rich material on 

surface was similarly intersected in the drill holes. 

IV. GEOLOGICAL SETTING AND MINERALIZATION 

1. REGIONAL GEOLOGY 

The Property is located within the Southern Province of the Canadian Shield, immediately north of the 

Archean-Huronian Supergroup contact. The claim group is underlain mainly by Archean basement rocks 

of granitoid composition and lesser gabbroic dikes. The Eastern portion of the Property lies adjacent to 

the faulted contact between Huronian volcanic sedimentary rocks and the Archean units. The Property is 

localized along a northwest trending regional fault, which intersects the east northeast trending Murray 

Fault that extends into the Sudbury Igneous Complex to the east (Figure 2). 
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Figure 2. General geology of the Massey Silica Property (MRD 216, Geology of the Canadian Shield - 
http://www.geologyontario.mndm.gov.on.ca/mndmaccess/mndm_dir.asp?type=pub&id=MRD216) 

2. PROPERTY GEOLOGY 

The Silica-rich Zone (Figure 3) occurs as three distinct outcrop areas; the Eastern Zone, the Central Zone 

and the Western Zone. The Silica-rich Zone is located in the extreme northwest corner of May Township 

and the extreme northeast corner of Salter Township. Detailed prospecting and mapping has shown that 

the western Silica-rich Zone continues to the northwest corner of claim 3005838 and continues into claim 

4203233. 

The Central and Eastern Zones outcrop as high prominent ridges exposing the Silica-rich Zone essentially 

in three dimensions. The ridges trend northwest and dip steeply north from 45o to 75o-80o. The Central 

Zone is approximately 600 m in strike length, while the Eastern Zone is approximately 350 m in strike 

length. Both Zones vary in width from 20 m to 55 m and are almost continuously exposed on surface. 

The drilling program completed by the Company across the Eastern and Central Zones confirmed that 

both Zones are continuous to a vertical depth of approximately 80 m to 100 m below the surface. 

The Silica-rich Zone is a large quartz rich unit with minor composite “quartz veining” consisting of massive 

quartz localized along an early northwest trending fault structure. Recrystallization, tectonic layering, 
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slickensides and small-scale drag-fold development within the vein material indicate late, episodic, 

reactivation along this structure. 

The predominate component of the zones is quartz with the quartz being very fine-grained, aphanitic, 

marble-like appearance, massive to semi-massive and pale greenish-white to pinkish-white in colour with 

some local section well banded with almost a “bedded” texture. The appearance of the quartz is 

consistent along the length of the zone. The “purity” and colour of the quartz varies according to the 

chlorite content. When the chlorite content is low, SiO2 values reach over 98.5%. Additional minerals 

within the quartz other than trace amounts of pyrite are rare. 

Along the northern contact of the Central Zone, gabbroic dikes are present both on surface and in drill 

core. Generally, they strike parallel with the Zone but do not appear to crosscut the Zone. The southern 

contact of the quartz vein is sharp and distinct with the granitoid host rock as found from surface mapping, 

however, the contacts from 21+00E to 21+50E are poorly exposed due to overburden cover. In the Eastern 

Zone, a gabbroic dike divides the zone into northern and southern parts 

 
Figure 3. Detailed Geology of the Massey Silica Property ((MRD 216, Geology of the Canadian Shield -
http://www.geologyontario.mndm.gov.on.ca/mndmaccess/mndm_dir.asp?type=pub&id=MRD216 and  
Robertson, 1971 Map P 702). 
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V. DEPOSIT TYPES 

From the geological mapping carried out by Norwin Geological Ltd. (1991), Salmay (2004) and Verbina 

Resources Inc. (2005) and as well as the work by the Ontario Ministry of Northern Development and 

Mines, the Property is closely related to the quartzite-type silica deposit with additional quartz veining, 

where grades are less than 95% SiO2. The Property is a composite zone of quartz veining, shearing and 

silica flooding, with some local sections having the appearance of graded bedding (definite colour 

banding). SiO2 content in the higher grade area is between 90 to 95% and 85 to 90% in the lower grade 

areas. The higher purity Silica deposits are quartz vein and pegmatite deposits where grades are typically 

>99% SiO2. 

The initial silica-rich fluids may have been emplaced along the northwest trending structure in the Archean 

granite-granodiorite. It would appear that there were multiple pulses of quartz veining-silica- flooding 

interspersed with periods of shearing and faulting, which produced the areas of foliated quartz vein. These 

foliated areas usually host variable amounts of chlorite and biotite.  The Silica-rich Zone has a vein-like 

form, varies in width from 10 m to 20 m wide in the northwest to 50 m wide in the Central and Eastern 

Zones, has an overall strike length of over 2000 m and could have a depth extent of at least a few hundred 

metres. 

VI. MINERALIZATION 

The mineral of economic interest in the Property is quartz (SiO2 - silica), which occurs in a large quartz-

rich zone. The quartz (silica) occurs as weakly to well-foliated sections, with local massive well-bedded 

sections. There are also in discrete quartz veins up to a few metres wide and tens of metres in length as 

well as in smaller quartz veins and stringers only a few centimetres or millimetres wide. 

As previously mentioned, the Property consists of three sections; the Eastern Zone, the Central Zone and 

the Western Zone. The exposed silica-rich material is roughly 1750 m long with consistent surface widths 

from 10 m to 15 m in the Western Zone to 10 m to 70 m widths in the Central and Eastern Zones. The 

indicated depth extent of the Silica-rich Zone, according to the Company, is 80 m to 100 m below surface 

outcrops based on the drilling. The Silica-rich material is composed of two main units; massive quartz and 

foliated chlorite schist units with various concentrations of quartz veins and stringers. The massive quartz 

units are continuous at depth with similar widths to those on surface. The overall silica content of Silica-

rich Zone is dependent upon the proportion of chlorite schist present and the intensity of the quartz 

veining. However, the silica content of the Silica-rich Zone may still be high even if the percentage of 

chlorite is high, depending on whether or not the schist has been strongly silicified. 

The SiO2 contents for various “lithologies” encountered in the 2005 drilling are presented below as 

determined by whole-rock major geochemical analyses from diamond drill core and rock samples. 

Granite (wall rock)       75-82% SiO2 

Chlorite Schist (minor quartz veining)     60-75% SiO2 

Chlorite Schist with quartz veining (25-60% quartz veining)  75-85% SiO2 

Mixed Zone/Crenulated Qtz-Chlorite Schist (50-60% qtz veining)  70-85% SiO2  

Semi-massive to thick banded Qtz (10-25% chlorite schist)  85-90% SiO2  

Massive Quartz (< 10% chlorite schist)     90-95% SiO2 
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VII. EXPLORATION 

2004, Salmay Resources Inc. 

Surface sampling in 2004 was carried out by Salmay. Prospecting confirmed a significant ridge of quartz - 

the Eastern Zone - in the southern part of claim 3017503 and claim 4202596. This zone was observed to 

trend approximately southeast, vertical dip and is exposed over a strike length of about 350 m, with widths 

up to 35 m across. 

2005, Verbina Resources Inc. 

A drilling program by North Star Drilling Ltd. on behalf of Verbina Resources Inc. was carried out with one 

drill from April 16 through to May 27, 2005. Twenty-one holes were drilled testing the Eastern and Central 

Zones (Table 1). The continuity of the Western Zone has only been confirmed by surface work. 

During the fall of 2005, five-10 m wide massive quartz outcrops were discovered to the northwest of the 

Eastern Zone and they appear to be closely aligned with the Silica-rich Zone. These outcrops trend 300o 

for over 325 m from the western point of the Eastern Zone. These outcrops appeared to connect with the 

Eastern Zone and represent the western extent of the Zone. These outcrops may delineate the possible 

feeder for the Eastern Zone. 

VIII. DRILLING 

1. DRILLING 

Two zones of silica mineralization were drill-tested by 21 drill holes for a total depth of 2000.9 m during 

the 2005 program (Table 1); 12 holes were drilled into the Central Zone (V-05-1 to 12) and 9 holes were 

drilled into the Eastern Zone (V-05-12 to 21). Drill holes were systematically spaced 50 m apart along grid 

lines perpendicular to the respective baselines of both the Central and Eastern zones (Figure 4). The drill 

was visited by the project geologist daily, to monitor the progress. 

Core was placed in wooden trays (NQ diameter) at the drill site and labelled with the hole ID number and 

box sequence number (ex. V-05-01, Box 1). Initially, the core boxes were transported out by ATV to the 

West Lake Road. Subsequently, a custom designed metal box welded to the front of a timber jack was 

used to transport the core boxes to the West Lake road. The core boxes were collected daily by the project 

geologist and transported by truck to the logging and storage facility located at 190 Hwy #17 West, 

Walford, Ontario. 

Each core box was re-labelled with the hole ID and box number plus the interval, on metal tags, which 

were stapled to the front of each core box. The project geologist used Microsoft Excel to log the drill core. 

The core was split by using a hydraulic core splitter and samples were placed in plastic sample bags with 

a unique sample number. The last continuous sample was taken completely within the southern host 

rock/wall rock of the Silica-rich Zone. 

The drill program, logging and sampling was carried out by Robert Filice, B.Sc. under the supervision of 

L.D.S. Winter, P.Geo., officer and director of Salmay. 
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Figure 4. Diamond drill hole locations 
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Table 1. Diamond Drill Log Summary 

 
Hole 

Location 

(township) 

Co-ordinates 
Azimuth 

(degrees) 

Inclination 

(degrees) 

Length 

(metres) 

 
Comments 

North East 
Elevation 

(metres) 

V-05-01 May 5124704 417818 276 219 -60 98.9 Completed 

V-05-02 May 5124677 417861 276 219 -58 87.1 Completed 

V-05-03 May 5124646 417900 280 219 -58 117.4 Completed 

V-05-04 May 5124609 417935 279 219 -60 86.9 Completed 

V-05-05 May 5124585 417880 278 219 -60 90.0 Completed 

V-05-06 May 5124558 418022 280 219 -60 74.7 Completed 

V-05-07 May 5124540 418056 282 219 -50 44.2 Completed 

V-05-08 May 5124516 418101 280 208 -45 36.6 Completed 

V-05-09 May 5124510 418161 276 208 -55 68.6 Completed 

V-05-10 May 5124479 418206 277 208 -58 59.5 Completed 

V-05-11 May 5124460 418249 276 208 -60 77.8 Completed 

V-05-12 May 5124441 418295 271 208 -60 93.0 Completed 

V-05-13 May 5124138 418858 294 53 -60 123.6 Completed 

V-05-14 May 5124104 418895 294 53 -60 154.1 Completed 

V-05-15 May 5124104 418895 295 232 -60 151.0 Completed 

V-05-16 May 5124084 418955 273 232 -70 96.1 Completed 

V-05-17 May 5124042 418980 273 232 -46 141.9 Completed 

V-05-18 May 5123987 418990 270 232 -55 99.1 Completed 

V-05-19 May 5123944 419017 270 232 -65 99.1 Completed 

V-05-20 May 5124084 418955 273 232 -47 99.1 Completed 

V-05-21 May 5124166 418813 294 53 -60 102.2 Completed 

Total depth 2000.9  

Along each grid line (drill hole section) perpendicular to the baseline, distances and elevations were 

measured using a hand level and a stadia rod to produce a section profile. The considerable relief 

produced by the Silica-rich Zone made it necessary to measure each section profile in order to have an 

accurate profile for the Silica-rich Zone and the resource estimate. 

2. RESULTS 

Central Zone 

The Central Zone is almost continuously exposed along strike on surface. Twelve drill holes totaling 934.7 

m at 50 m spacing were drilled along strike across the Central Zone, which confirmed the continuity in 

depth of the silica-rich material. The Central Zone has an approximate strike length of 600 m and continues 
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into the Western Zone. Holes V-05-01 to V-05-06 were drilled perpendicular to the 128o baseline; holes 

V-05-07 and V-05-08 were drilled perpendicular to the 107o baseline and holes V-05-09 to V-05-12 were 

drilled perpendicular to the 118o baseline. Each hole was located on a grid line and was drilled at an angle 

between 45o to 60o with an average drill length of 100 m. 

The Zone has a vein-like or pinch and swell form and varies in width from 15 m to 40 m on surface. Holes 

V-05-02 to V-05-06 and V-05-09 to V-05-12 had a drill depth extent of 60 m to 90 m below the relevant 

surface elevations and V-05-01, V-05-07 and V-05-08 had a depth extent of 30 m to 40 m below the highest 

measured surface elevation. In general, the vertical extent of the Central Zone has a similar width at depth 

as compared to surface. This relationship was observed in most drill holes that intersected the Zone except 

in hole V-05-12 where the width narrows somewhat at 80 m below surface. On all sections, the Zone 

appears to be open at depth. 

Table 2. Diamond Drill Results 

 

The various Chlorite Schist units vary in size and shape and, in general, appear to be lens-shaped. They 

appear to grade into areas of higher silica concentration as was observed both on surface and in the drill 

core. The massive to semi-massive quartz units appear to be relatively continuous with similar widths on 

surface and at depth. From the continuous samples from the Central Zone drill holes, average grades vary 

from a high grade of +90% SiO2 to a low grade between 80% to 90% SiO2 . The average high grade is 92.28% 

SiO2 over intervals of 16 m to 34 m and the average lower grade material is 85.36% SiO2 over 6 m to 40 m 

intervals. 
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Eastern Zone 

The Eastern Zone was divided into two major outcrops that were separated by an overburden covered 

trend, which is underlain by a gabbro dike. Nine holes totaling 1066.2 m were drilled along strike spaced 

at approximately 50 m intervals. Of the nine drill holes completed, four were set up within a 15 m to 25 

m wide trench on the western end of the Eastern Zone and three were drilled down dip into the northern 

outcrop of the Zone. The Eastern Zone has an approximate strike length of 350 m. Holes V-05-15 and V-

05-14 are drilled on the same section but in opposite directions. These two aforementioned drill hole 

sections were combined to produce a complete cross-section across the widest part of the Eastern Zone. 

Holes V-05-16 and V-05-20 had the same set up and azimuth but are drilled at different inclinations (Table 

2). These two holes the width continuity of the Zone and the compositional continuity across one section. 

The depth extent of the Eastern Zone was observed to be 80 m to 100 m relative to the surface elevation. 

The overall width of the Zone in each drill hole appears to narrow slightly at depth in comparison to the 

measured horizontal surface widths. Holes V-05-14 and V-05-15 provided a drill cross-section on line 

40+25E, which illustrated the width expansion from approximately 30 m at 100 m depth below surface to 

70 m to 75 m width at surface. The southern contact appeared to flatten as the zone reached the surface 

with a shallow dip of 61o compared to the steeper northern contact at 83o. This “funnel-like” shape was 

also apparent in section V-05-16 and V-05-20 on line 40+75E but with a less prominent dip change at 

depth and a gradual expansion to surface. 

Average analyses for the higher grade material was 91.55% SiO2 across 16 m to 80 m, while the lower 

grade material averaged 83.86% SiO2 across 10 m to 36 m. The continuity of the massive to semi-massive 

quartz units from surface to depth is consistent but appears to narrow at depth. An example of this was 

observed in holes V-05-16 and V-05-20, which are on the same section. The massive quartz and chlorite 

schist units were observed to be continuous and appear to decrease in width at depth. The Chlorite Schist 

units at depth were also observed to be discontinuous lenses similar to what is observed on surface, but 

are less common in comparison to the Central Zone. 

In conclusion, both mineralized zones were interpreted to have good continuity in depth over their 

respective strike lengths based on surface mapping compared with diamond drill data. The Central Zone’s 

width varied slightly at depth in comparison to surface widths but is fairly uniform to a depth of 80 m. The 

Eastern Zone tended to taper inward gradually at depth but appeared to be continuous to a depth of 80 

m to 100 m relative to the respective surface elevations. 

IX. SAMPLING METHOD AND APPROACH 

The surface sampling procedure carried out by Salmay in 2004 consisted of taking three sets of surface 

samples across the exposed width of the Silica-rich Zone from the northern to southern contacts, 

perpendicular to the trend of the Zone. Samples were generally 5 m in length and were taken by chipping 

pieces of the rock into a plastic sample bag. When the 5 m sample was complete, a sample ticket was 

placed in the bag and the bag was closed with a security seal. The location of each sample was recorded 

in a notebook. Five or six individual samples were then placed in a large "rice bag" which in turn was 

security sealed for transport and shipment to Swastika Laboratories Ltd., Swastika, Ontario for whole rock 

analysis. Location co-ordinates for each sample were collected by GPS and also recorded in a notebook. 
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Diamond drill core from the Verbina Resources Inc. program in 2005 was continuously sampled at 2m 

intervals within the mineralized zone. 

X. SAMPLE SECURITY, PREPARATION AND ANALYSES 

The surface samples collected during the Salmay sampling were placed in plastic sample bags which were 

sealed on site. Following this, the samples were shipped by bus express to Swastika Laboratories, 

Swastika, Ontario. The surface samples were crushed and ground in the sample preparation lab at 

Swastika Laboratories Ltd. after which a subsample of material was shipped to Assayers Canada, 

Vancouver for whole rock analysis. 

The diamond drill core was sampled at 2 m intervals by the Company. The sample interval was marked on 

the core with a grease pencil and split using a hydraulic splitter. Half the core was placed back into the 

core box and the other half was put in a plastic sample bag. A lab tag was placed within the sample bag 

and sealed with a plastic tie and the bag was labelled using the tag number identifier. The samples were 

then placed in a rice bag showing both the lab address (ALS Chemex Laboratories) and the return address. 

The rice bags were numbered and each sample in each rice bag was recorded on the transfer form. The 

samples were then shipped by Manitoulin Transport to ALS Chemex Laboratories in Mississauga, Ontario 

for whole-rock major geochemical analyses by the XRF method (ME-XRF06). No duplicate or check 

samples were entered into the sample stream by any of the samplers as verified by the Qualified Person. 

XI. DATA VERIFICATION 

A site visit was completed by Brad Leonard on January 19, 2018. No additional samples were collected as 

the Author had previously collected samples from the property in 2007. The Qualified Person visited the 

sample location. No work has been conducted on  the property by Buccaneer Gold. 

XII. ADJACENT PROPERTIES 

There are no properties immediately adjacent or in the area of the Property that are being or have been 

investigated for their silica potential. There is no reported work for silica on this or other patented lands 

in the immediate vicinity of the mining claims. However, there is the Snow White Silica property roughly 

26 km northwest of the Massey Silica deposit in Deagle Township. There is no resource on the Snow White 

Silica property; however the geological characteristics of the Snow White Silica property are similar to the 

Massey Silica deposit. 

XIII. MINERAL PROCESSING AND METALLURGICAL TESTING 

The silica-rich material from the Property consists mainly of two types of material, massive silica (quartz) 

which grades >90% SiO2 and interlayered massive silica and chlorite-rich schist zones grading <90% SiO2. 

Several tests were conducted by SGS – Lakefield Research to determine if the interlayered silica and 

chlorite schist material could be upgraded to >90% SiO2. The testing consisted of crushing/grinding to 

produce a product that varied in size from ~ ½ inch to 0.5 mm with the chlorite being removed by magnetic 

separation. The two final samples produced the following results: 
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Sample Original Material 
% SiO2 

Upgraded Material 
% SiO2 

% Recovery 

V 86.8 94.6 53% 

W 82.2 94.5 46% 

These results indicate that by magnetic separation, the silica-rich material with a grade in the 80% to 90% 

SiO2 range can be upgraded to >90% SiO2 but with a loss of approximately 50% of the mined rock. This 

would approximately double the mining and treatment costs (2 tonnes mined for every tonne of material 

>90% SiO2 shipped). 

XIV. MINERAL RESOURCE AND RESERVE ESTIMATES 

The elevation of the top of the Eastern and Central Zones was determined to approximately 300 m above 

mean sea level (“ASL”) and from this basis 270 m ASL and 220 m ASL were used as reference horizons that 

represent 30 m and 80 m below surface for the purpose of reporting the mineral resource for the Property. 

The material above 270 m ASL is referred to as the Upper Zone while that between 270 m and 220 m ASL 

is referred to as the Lower Zone. 

1. DIGITAL ELEVATION MODEL 

In May, 2005, Eagle Mapping Group was contracted by the Company to provided digital topographic 

mapping from all available public domain aerial photography in order to build a Digital Elevation Model 

(“DEM”) for the Property. The DEM for the Property area was provided by the Company in AutoCAD DWG 

format. The original DEM projection was checked to match the drill hole location data. The DEM supplied 

by the Company was compared with various other DEMs and topographic data available in the public 

domain for the area and is considered by the Qualified Person to be sufficiently accurate for the purposes 

of this mineral resource estimate and is used as the DEM for the mineral resource estimate. 

2. DRILL COLLAR POSITIONS 

The drill collar locations were originally obtained by Verbina Resources Inc. utilizing a hand-held GPS with 

a horizontal accuracy of 6 m to 10 m and unknown vertical accuracy. As a result, the collar elevations are 

contradictive to the DEM. Drill collar elevations were therefore projected back to the DEM (Table 3); the 

resultant shifts in elevation for each collar are provided in Table 3. 

Table 3. Summary of Diamond Drill Hole Data 

 
BHID 

 
Easting 

 
Northing 

 
Elevation 

Re-projected 
Elevation 

 
Δ Elevation 

V-05-01 417818 5124704 276.00 278.29 2.29 

V-05-02 417861 5124677 276.00 278.07 2.07 

V-05-03 417900 5124646 280.00 280.68 0.68 

V-05-04 417935 5124609 279.00 280.50 1.50 

V-05-05 417980 5124585 278.00 279.99 1.99 

V-05-06 418022 5124558 280.00 280.58 0.58 

V-05-07 418056 5124540 282.00 280.66 -1.34 

V-05-08 418101 5124516 280.00 280.81 0.81 
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V-05-09 418161 5124510 276.00 276.33 0.33 

V-05-10 418206 5124479 277.00 277.42 0.42 

V-05-11 418249 5124460 276.00 276.38 0.38 

V-05-12 418295 5124441 271.00 268.34 -2.66 

V-05-13 418858 5124138 294.00 294.09 0.09 

V-05-14 418895 5124104 294.00 297.66 3.66 

V-05-15 418895 5124104 295.00 297.66 2.66 

V-05-16 418955 5124084 273.00 281.02 8.02 

V-05-17 418980 5124042 273.00 277.19 4.19 

V-05-18 418990 5123987 270.00 274.49 4.49 

V-05-19 419017 5123944 270.00 270.19 0.19 

V-05-20 418955 5124084 273.00 281.02 8.02 

V-05-21 418813 5124166 294.00 293.04 -0.96 

 

3. WIREFRAME MODELLING 

The final wireframe models represents a threshold above which a continuous zone of >80.0% SiO2 could 

be consistently followed and projected downwards to an elevation of 200 m. Diamond drill hole sections 

provided by the Company were also utilized for comparison and data verification. A surface geology map 

published by the Ontario Ministry of Northern Development and Mines was used to help interpret the 

drill hole sections and examine the downward projection of the East and Central Zones. The Zones were 

extended 25 m along strike past the delimiting drill hole. To account for slight variability, the Central Zone 

was divided into three contiguous zones based on changes in strike and dip (Figures 5.1, 5.2 and 6; Table 

4). 

4. SPECIFIC GRAVITY 

The Company conducted a specific gravity (“S.G.”) tests on 3 samples randomly collected from silica-rich 

portions of the Central (2 samples) and Eastern (1 sample) Zone. The S.G. value utilized in the current 

Estimate is the average of these 3 measurements (2650 kg/m3) and is considered reasonable by the 

Qualified Person given the geological setting. 

5. BLOCK MODEL 

A summary of parameters used to generate the block model is presented in Table 5. The block sizes were 

chosen to reflect the sample spacing and yield the best fill of the wireframe model. 
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  Figure 5.1 Wireframe models for Central and Eastern Zones 

 
  Figure 5.2 Central Zone wireframe model 
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Table 4. Wireframe model parameters used build blocks to estimate the inferred Resource 

Axis Parent Block Subcell 

Central Zone 

X 50 m 10 m 

Y 5 m  

Z 50 m 10 m 

Eastern Zone 

X 5 m  

Y 50 m 10 m 

Z 50 m 10 m 

 
  Figure 6. Eastern Zone wireframe model 

Table 5. Orientation of SiO2 >80% Zones 

Zone Strike Dip Across Strike Search 

Distance 

Down Dip Search 

Distance 

Normal Search 

Distance 

Central 1 130º 80º 55 m 50 m 10 m 

Central 2 115º 75º 55 m 50 m 10 m 

Central 3 115º 68º 55 m 50 m 10 m 

Eastern 150º 78º 55 m 50 m 10 m 
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6. GRADE INTERPOLATION 

The wide sample spacing (i.e. one drill intercept on 50 m sections) that defines the Zones did not allow 

for proper variogram modeling; however, given the relatively predictable nature of the commodity and 

the surface traceability of the Zones, this did not present a significant issue in terms of geologic 

confidence. For these reasons, grade interpolation was completed using the Inverse Power of Distance 

(IPD) method. As a reflection of the drill section spacing, the second power was utilized (IPD2). The results 

are reported in Table 17.5 as < 80 SiO2%, 80-90 SiO2 %, and 90-100 SiO2 %. Grade interpolation was 

completed utilizing all available and validated sample data which includes 614 samples from 20 drill holes. 

Table 6. Massey Silica deposit Indicated Mineral Resource Estimate 

 
 

Zone 

Higher Grade >90 (%) Lower Grade 80-90 (%) Waste < 80 (%) 

Tonnes SiO2Grade 
(%) 

Tonnes SiO2Grade (%) Tonnes SiO2Grade (%) 

Eastern- Upper Zone 
(Surface - 250m) 

530,000 92.93 515,508 84.99 95,234 77.50 

Central-Upper Zone 
(Surface – 250m) 

604,531 92.48 674,922 86.08 126,289 74.67 

Sub-Total Upper 
Zone 

1,322,930 92.50 1,592,071 85.42 358,164 76.02 

       

Eastern- Lower Zone 
(250 - 200m) 

316,758 92.61 641,797 85.73 122,148 77.12 

Central- Lower Zone 
(250 – 200m) 

792,930 92.07 1,076,563 85.85 262,930 74.53 

Sub-Total Lower 
Zone 

921,289 92.55 1,316,719 85.90 248,437 75.90 

Total (Upper Zones excluding < 80%) 2,915,000 tonnes @ 88.96% SiO2  

Total (Lower Zones excluding < 80%) 2,238,000 tonnes @ 89.22% SiO2  

Total (All Zones excluding < 80%) 5,153,000 tonnes @ 89.10% SiO2 

XV. CONCLUSIONS 

The original work performed on the Property has indicated a zone of silica-rich material with economic 

potential. CVRD INCO Limited and Xstrata both operate nickel-copper smelters in the Sudbury area, 100 

km east of the Massey Silica deposit. Silica-rich material is used in significant amounts in the smelting 

process. Silica is also a major component of cement and the glass industry consumes significant amounts 

of high purity silica. 

The Silica-rich Zone trends northwest-southeast, dips steeply to the north, is exposed discontinuously 

over a strike length of 2000 m and appears to vary in width on surface from 10 m to 70 m. The Silica-rich 

Zone is localized in a northwest-southeast-trending structure and is composed of massive to semi-massive 

quartz- material with chlorite schist lenses containing various concentrations of quartz veins and stringers. 

The main host rock is an Archean granite-granodiorite. Within the Property, the overall Silica-rich Zone 

has been divided into three sub-zones: the Eastern Zone, the Central Zone and the Western Zone which 
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is a more overburden covered extension of the Central Zone. The 2005 drilling program conducted by the 

Company only examined the Central and Eastern Zones. 

Twelve drill holes, at an average length of 100 m were completed along the 600 m strike length of the 

Central Zone. The Central Zone trends northwest-southeast, dips steeply to the north and varies on 

surface from 20 m to 55 m wide. The Zone forms a northwest-trending ridge, which rises about 30 m 

above the adjacent lowlands. The drilling shows good continuity of the zone to a depth of 80 m below the 

surface elevations and the zone is open in depth. The thickness of the zone at depth is generally the same 

as at surface. The average analyses for the higher grade material averaged 92.28% SiO2 across 16 m to 34 

m while the lower grade material averaged 85.36% SiO2 across 6 m to 40 m intervals. 

The Eastern Zone is separated from the Central Zone by about 400 m of covered lowlands. Nine drill holes 

were completed across the 350 m strike length of the Eastern Zone. The Eastern Zone also trends 

northwest-southeast, dips steeply to the north and widths vary from 10 m to 70 m on surface. This Zone 

also forms a northwest-trending ridge, which rises about 35 m above the adjacent lowlands. The drilling 

determined that the Zone has a depth extent of 100 m below surface elevations and is open down-dip.  

The Zone is continuous along strike but tends to taper in size both along strike, east and west, and to some 

extent at depth. The massive quartz units are continuous throughout the zone but may decrease in width 

at depth and are frequently separated by chlorite schist lenses. Average analyses for the higher grade 

material was 91.55% SiO2 across 16 m to 80 m, while the lower grade material averaged 83.86% SiO2 

across 10 m to 36 m. 

No work was completed on the Western Zone during the 2005 drilling program. The Western Zone is 

continuous westward from the Central Zone for at least an additional 750 m to the northwest. The 

Western Zone is generally covered by a thin layer of overburden and is not as well exposed as the Eastern 

and Central Zones. Drilling was completed by the Company in 2008, but results have not been 

incorporated into the current resource estimation. 

The indicated depth extent of the Silica-rich Zone is 80 m to 100 m below surface outcrops based on the 
drilling, however, the Zone is open at depth and the geological characteristics indicate that the zone will 
have a significant depth extent. The Silica-rich Zone is composed of two main units, massive quartz and 
foliated chlorite schist units with various concentrations of quartz veins and stringers. The massive quartz 
units are continuous at depth with similar widths to those on surface. An inferred resource estimate has 
been calculated for both the Central and Eastern Zones. Together, the two Upper Zones host 1,322,930 
tonnes of higher grade material at 92.61% SiO2 and 1,592071 tonnes of lower grade material at 85.73% 
SiO2. The Lower Zones contain 921,289 tonnes of higher grade material at 92.55% SiO2 and 1,316,719 
tonnes of lower grade material at 85.90% SiO2. The inferred total grade and tonnage based on diamond 
drilling for the Property is 5,153,000 tonnes at 89.10% SiO2. 

The Qualified Person has concluded that the Property is still of merit as an early-stage advanced 
exploration project to warrant, at a minimum, the exploration program outlined in the Technical Report. 

XVI. RECOMMENDATIONS 

To advance the Massey Silica project, the QP recommends a two-phase program.  Phase 2 would only be 
undertaken if Phase 1 was successful. In Phase 1, a 5 tonne bulk sample is recommended for engineering 
studies to define the technical specifications for the silica and marketing research to determine additional 
uses for the silica-rich material from the Massey Deposit. Based on the success of Phase 1, the QP further 
recommends additional diamond drilling to further define the resource (Phase 2). 
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Proposed Work Plan and Exploration Budget 

Phase 1 proposed work program 

 Engineering studies including a recommended 5 tonne bulk sample in order to determine 
nature of material; investigations into improving grade by magnetic separation overall 
physical and chemical properties of the silica material; and 

 Marketing studies to determine other potential markets for the silica and silica concentrate. 

Phase 2 proposed work program 

 ~800 metres of diamond drilling to further define the resource. 

Table 8. Proposed budget for Engineering studies, marketing studies and detailed drilling 

Category Item Units No. Units CAD$/Unit Amount Sub-Totals 

Phase 1 Work Program      

Engineering Studies      

  ea 1 $175,000 $175,000  

     Subtotal $175,000 

Marketing Studies      

  ea 1 $60,000 $60,000  

     Subtotal $60,000 

     Total Phase 1 $235,000 

Phase 2 Work Program       

Diamond Drilling – additional drilling to 
further define the Resource 

     

 Mob-Demob ea 1 $10,000 $10,000  

 Drilling m 800 $150 $120,000  

 Core Assays ea 400 $38 $15,200  

 Core storage month 5 $200 $1,000  

 Facility rental 
(core cutting & 
logging 

 
month 

 
1 

 
$1,000 

 
$1,000 

 

  
Miscellaneous 

 
ea 

 
1 

 
$5,000 

 
$5,000 

 

     Subtotal $152,200 

Geologists      

 Senior 
Geologist 

 
day 

 
30 

 
$700 

 
$21,000 

 

 Junior 
Geologist 

 
day 

 
30 

 
$350 

 
$10,500 

 

     Subtotal $31,500 

Operating Expenses      

 Vehicles month 1 $1,800.00 $1,800  

 Fuel month 1 $1,000.00 $1,000  

 Food/Accomm. day 30 $250.00 $7,500  

 Miscellaneous ea 1 $5,000.00 $5,000  

     Subtotal $15,300 

     Total Phase 2 $199,000 
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5. Selected Financial Information 

5.1 Annual Information 

The following table sets forth selected financial information with respect to the Company as at and for 
the financial years ended September 30, 2017, 2018, and 2019, and the nine-month periods ended June 
30, 2019 and 2020. The selected financial information has been derived from the audited and unaudited 
financial statements of the Company for the financial periods indicated. The following should be read in 
conjunction with the said financial statements and related notes thereto, which are included in this Listing 
Statement. For a discussion of the factors affecting the comparability of the data, see “Management's 
Discussion and Analysis – Annual MD&A for the Years Ended September 30, 2019 and 2018”. 

 

Nine Months 
ended June 30, 

2020 

($) 

Nine Months 
ended June 30, 

2019 

($) 

Year ended 
September 30, 

2019 

($) 

Year ended 
September 30, 

2018 

($) 

Year ended 
September 30, 

2017 

($) 

Net Sales nil nil nil nil nil 

Net Income (Loss) (76,490) (81,132) (101,884) (96,905) (192,807) 

Net Income (Loss) per Share 
(Basic) 

(0.002) (0.003) (0.003) (0.003) (0.006) 

Net Income (Loss) per Share 
(Diluted) 

(0.002) (0.003) (0.003) (0.003) (0.006) 

Total Assets 321,311 421,305 403,251 507,501 600,890 

Total Current Financial 
Liabilities 

44,899 47,651 50,349 52,715 49,199 

Cash Dividends Declared per 
share for each class of share 

nil nil nil nil nil 

 

1.1 Quarterly Information 

The following table sets out selected quarterly information for the eight most recently completed 

quarters, ending at the end of the most recently completed financial year. 

 

Three Months 
ended September 

30, 2019 

($) 

Three Months 
ended June 30, 

2019 

($) 

Three Months 
ended March 31, 

2019 

($) 

Three Months 
ended December 

31, 2018 

($) 

Net Sales nil nil nil nil 

 Net Income (Loss) (20,752) (26,748) (25,376) (29,008) 

 Net Income (Loss) per Share (Basic) (0.001) (0.001) (0.001) (0.001) 

 Net Income (Loss) per Share (Diluted) (0.001) (0.001) (0.001) (0.001) 
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Three Months 
ended September 

30, 2018 

($) 

Three Months 
ended June 30, 

2018 

($) 

Three Months 
ended March 31, 

2018 

($) 

Three Months 
ended December 

31, 2017 

($) 

Net Sales nil nil nil nil 

Net Income (Loss) (11,503) (13,816) (38,219) (33,367) 

Net Income (Loss) per Share (Basic) (0.000) (0.000) (0.001) (0.001) 

Net Income (Loss) per Share (Diluted) (0.000) (0.000) (0.001) (0.001) 

 
5.2 Dividends 

The Company has never declared or paid dividends since its incorporation and it does not foresee paying 

dividends in the near future. The Company currently intends to retain any future earnings to fund the 

development and growth of its business and will pay dividends and/or distributions, if any, in the future 

as the Board see fit. There are currently no restrictions that could prevent the Company from declaring or 

paying dividends. 

6. Management's Discussion and Analysis 

Financial information in this Listing Statement, unless otherwise indicated, is presented in Canadian 

dollars and derived from information contained in the Company’s financial statements and related notes 

thereto included in this Listing Statement, which were prepared in accordance with IFRS. 

The following management discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) includes financial information from, and 

should be read in conjunction with, the audited and unaudited financial statements and the notes thereto 

included in this Listing Statement, as well as the disclosure contained throughout this Listing Statement. 

This section may contain forward-looking information that involves risk, uncertainties, assumptions and 

other factors that could cause actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from the 

results discussed or implied in such forward-looking information. See “1.3 Forward Looking Statements”. 

6.1 Annual MD&A for the Years Ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 

The following MD&A is dated as of January 20, 2020 and discloses specified information up to that date. 

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS. 

Overall Performance 

The Property is at an early stage of exploration. As such, the Company’s only source of funds is derived 

from the issuance of equity, plus whatever interest it may earn from cash balances and the investment of 

that portion of the proceeds of such equity issuances not otherwise immediately required for exploration 

purposes, in short-term investments and money market instruments. 

The net loss for the year ended September 30, 2019 was $101,884 (2018 - $96,905). For the year ended 

September 30, 2019, exploration costs were $11,037 (2018 - $9,997), and general and administrative costs 

were $99,294 (2018 - $91,378). Interest income in 2019 increased to $6,816 (2018 - $876) as cash was 

better invested into interest bearing instruments. 
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During the year ended September 30, 2019, the Company earned no revenue and reported a loss of 

$(101,884) (year ended September 30, 2018 – a loss of $(96,905)). Losses in the periods presented mainly 

represent exploration and evaluation expenditures, professional fees, management compensation and 

other general and administrative expenses. 

On December 12, 2018, the Company announced its intention to pursue a business opportunity in the 

United States cannabis market (the “Corporate Opportunity”). Management and Director fees of $39,500 

in the year ended September 30, 2019 were higher than the $34,645 recorded in the year ended 

September 30, 2018 due to work on a Special Committee to pursue the Corporate Opportunity. 

Professional fees increased with work on the Corporate Opportunity. Filing and transfer agent fees were 

reduced as the Company delisted from the TSX Venture Exchange in consideration of pursuing a listing on 

another exchange. Other administration expenses in 2019 were similar to those in 2018 and relate to 

office fees, bank fees, and insurance. On March 11, 2019, the Company announced the termination of the 

negotiation of the Corporate Opportunity. 

Selected Annual Information 

The following table sets forth selected financial information with respect to the Company as at and for 

the years ended September 30, 2017, 2018 and 2019, and the nine-month periods ended June 30, 2019 

and 2020. The selected financial information has been derived from the audited and unaudited financial 

statements of the Company for the financial periods indicated. The following should be read in 

conjunction with the said financial statements and related notes thereto, which are included in this Listing 

Statement. 

 

Nine months ended 

June 30, 
Year ended 

September 30, 
Year ended 

September 30, 
Year ended 

September 30, 

2020 

(Unaudited) 

2019 

(Unaudited) 

2019 

(Audited) 

2018 

(Audited) 

2017 

(Audited) 

Total Revenue $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil 

Net Income (Loss) $(76,490) $(81,132) $(101,884) $(96,905) $(192,807) 

# Shares Outstanding 31,021,667 31,021,667 31,021,667 31,021,667 31,021,667 

Net Income (Loss) per Share 
(Basic) 

$(0.002) $(0.003) $(0.003) $(0.003) $(0.006) 

Net Income (Loss) per Share 
(Diluted) 

$(0.002) $(0.003) $(0.003) $(0.003) $(0.006) 

Total Assets $321,311 $421,305 $403,251 $507,501 $600,890 

Total Financial Liabilities $44,899 $47,651 $50,349 $52,715 $49,199 

Total Shareholder’s Equity $276,412 $373,654 $352,902 $454,786 $551,691 

 
Discussion of Operations 

The Company is a mineral exploration company engaged in the acquisition, exploration and development 

of mineral properties. The Company is incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario and during 

2018, closed its inactive wholly-owned subsidiary, Buccaneer Gold (Ghana) Limited. 
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On December 9, 2004, the Company entered into the Option Agreement with Salmay to earn up to a 100% 

interest in six mining claims located in May and Salter Townships, Ontario. The Company earned an initial 

65% undivided interest by paying to Salmay cash consideration of $100,000 and incurring $300,000 in 

exploration expenditures. To earn a 100% interest, the Company must pay further cash consideration of 

$200,000 and place the property into production.  This project is subject to a 3% NSR, 2% of which may 

be purchased by the Company at any time for $3,000,000. 

On April 11, 2005, the Company entered into the JV Agreement with Salmay to govern the parties’ 

relationship with respect to the Property, which became effective upon the Company earning the initial 

65% undivided interest in the Property. The term of the JV Agreement is twenty (20) years from the date 

of execution and for so long thereafter as any ore, minerals and mineral resources are produced from the 

Property or the participants are actively engaged in the exploration or development of the Massey 

Property or continue to jointly own or operate any of the assets or post-mining reclamation operations 

are being conducted, unless earlier terminated as provided therein. The purpose of the JV Agreement is 

to govern the relationship of the parties which includes: (i) conducting exploration of the Property; (ii) 

evaluate the possible development of and mining on the Property; (iii) engage in development and mining 

on the Property; (iv) acquire additional properties within the area of interest (as set forth in the Option 

Agreement addendum and the JV Agreement); and (v) perform any other activity necessary, appropriate 

or incidental to any of the foregoing. Salmay was dissolved on January 7, 2020 and assigned its interest in 

the JV Agreement to Bear Creek. The Company is the operator of the Property and has the overall 

responsibility to manage and carry out the operations of the joint venture. The Company may resign as 

the operator of the Property upon providing one month’s notice to Bear Creek.  

The Property is comprised of a twelve (12) cell multi-unit claim and covering 128 hectares near Sudbury, 

Ontario approximately 7 kilometres north of Massey, Ontario. The mineral of economic interest in the 

Property is quartz (SiO2 – silica) which occurs in a large northwest-southeast-trending deposit produced 

by silica-flooding and quartz veining. The deposit has been mapped over a strike length of approximately 

1,750 metres and occurs in three zones, the Eastern Zone, the Central Zone and the Western Zone. The 

deposit dips steeply north and in the Western Zone is from 10 metres to 15 m wide while in the Central 

and Eastern Zones the width varies from 10 m to 70 m. A drilling program by the Company in 2005 showed 

continuity of the deposit along strike in both the Eastern and Central Zones and to a depth of at least 80 

m. See “General Development of the Business”. 

6.2 Summary of Quarterly Results 

The following table sets out selected quarterly information for the eight most recently completed 

quarters, from the two most recent completed financial years for which financial statements are included 

herein. 
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June 30, 

2020 
March 31, 

2020 
Dec. 31, 

2019 
Sept. 30, 

2019 
June 30, 

2019 
March 31, 

2019 
Dec. 31, 

2018 
Sept. 30, 

2018 

Revenue $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil $nil 

Loss $(48,823) $(16,148) $(11,955) $(20,752) $(26,748) $(25,376) $(29,008) $(11,503) 

Loss per Share 
(Basic) 

$(0.002) $(0.001) $(0.000) $(0.001) $(0.001) $(0.001) $(0.001) $(0.00) 

Loss per Share 
(Diluted) 

$(0.002) $(0.001) $(0.000) $(0.001) $(0.001) $(0.001) $(0.001) $(0.00) 

 
6.3 Liquidity and Capital Resources  

Working capital of as of September 30, 2019 was $352,902 compared to $454,786 as of September 30, 

2018. The Company’s principal source of liquidity as of September 30, 2019 was cash and cash equivalents 

of $398,185 compared to $499,539 as of September 30, 2018. 

While management of the Company believes that the Company has sufficient funds to meet its 

obligations and short term working capital requirements, and to accomplish its short term plans, the 

Company plans to continue to monitor closely its use of its available cash, while conditions in the capital 

markets continue to make it difficult for early stage exploration companies to raise additional capital. 

The Company may require substantial additional capital to fund any new project or to advance the 

Property. 

Historically, the Company has used the net proceeds from issuances of its securities to provide sufficient 

funds for it to meet its near-term exploration and development plans and other contractual obligations 

when due. However, given the current market conditions affecting the junior mining sector and other 

uncertainties discussed herein, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain 

sufficient additional funds on favorable terms, or at all, in order to carry out its objectives. The Company 

is evaluating various strategic alternatives and, if it decides to pursue any such alternative, it may also 

require additional funds to carry out its strategic plans in amounts that cannot be determined as of the 

date hereof, which funds may also be unavailable to the Company on favorable terms or at all. See “17. 

Risk Factors”. 

6.4 Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

The Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements. 

6.5 Transactions with Related Parties 

Years Ended September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018 

In accordance with IAS 24, key management personnel are those persons having authority and 

responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company directly or indirectly, 

including any directors (executive and non-executive) of the Company. Remuneration of directors and key 

management personnel of the Company for the years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 was: 
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2019 

$ 
2018 

$ 

Management Fees 17,500 22,540 

Director Fees 22,000 12,105 

Share-based Payments nil nil 

Total 39,500 34,645 

 

Management and Directors’ Fees 
2019 

$ 
2018 

$ 

Birks Bovaird 11,000 3,000 

Richard Smith nil 9,639 

Peter Clausi 11,000 3,000 

Barry Lee nil 3,000 

Blaine Schmidt nil 3,105 

John Ross 17,500 12,901 

Total 39,500 34,645 

As at September 30, 2019, $30,000 (2018 - $30,000) is accrued relating to a potential liability to a prior 

director and officer of the Company. The Company originally entered into a settlement agreement with 

the prior director and officer. However, the Company subsequently believes that the former director and 

officer may not have fulfilled the conditions of the settlement. The Company intends to defend against 

collection of this balance, if required. 

All amounts due to related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing and payable on demand. 

6.6 First Nine Months 

The net loss of the Company for the nine months ended June 30, 2020 was $76,490 as compared to the 

net loss for the nine months ended June, 2020 of $81,132. The decrease in the loss during the nine months 

ended June 30, 2020 is attributable to a reduction in professional fees due to the termination of the 

negotiation of the Corporate Opportunity. 

6.7 Proposed Transactions 

As at the date hereof, there are no proposed transactions currently contemplated by the Company. See 

“1.3 Forward Looking Statements”. 

6.8 Changes in Accounting Policies 

Effective October 1, 2018, the Company adopted IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) which resulted 

in changes in accounting policies. In accordance with the transitional provisions in the standard, the 

Company adopted this standard retrospectively without restating comparatives, with the cumulative 

impact adjusted in the opening balances as at October 1, 2018. There were no effects on opening balances 

at October 1, 2018 with respect to the adoption of this policy. 
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IFRS 9, Financial Instruments 

IFRS 9 replaces International Accounting Standard 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement (“IAS 39”). IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification, measurement and 

impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting. It establishes two primary measurement categories 

for financial assets: (i) amortized cost and (ii) FVPL or FVOCI; establishes criteria for the classification of 

financial assets within each measurement category based on business model and cash flow 

characteristics; and eliminates the existing held for trading, held to maturity, available for sale, loans and 

receivable and other financial liabilities categories. IFRS 9 also introduces a new expected credit loss 

model for the purpose of assessing the impairment of financial assets and requires that there be a 

demonstrated economic relationship between the hedged item and hedging instrument. 

The Company adopted IFRS 9 retrospectively without restating comparatives and therefore the 

comparative information in respect of financial instruments for the year ended September 30, 2018 was 

accounted for in accordance with the Company’s previous accounting policy under IAS 39. 

Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been issued by the 

IASB or IFRIC that are mandatory for accounting periods beginning after October 1, 2019, or later periods. 

The following have not yet been adopted and are being evaluated to determine their impact on the 

Company. 

IFRIC 23 – Uncertainty Over Income Tax Treatments (“IFRIC 23”) was issued in June 2017 and clarifies the 

accounting for uncertainties in income taxes. The interpretation committee concluded that an entity shall 

consider whether it is probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment. If an entity 

concludes it is probable that the taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, then the entity 

shall determine taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses and credits or tax rates consistently 

with the tax treatment used or planned to be used in its income tax filings. If an entity concludes it is not 

probable that the taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the entity shall reflect the 

effect of uncertainty in determining the related taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses and 

credits or tax rates. IFRIC 23 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. 

6.9 Financial Instruments 

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and 

accounts payable and accrued liabilities. Unless otherwise noted, it is management’s opinion that the 

Company is not exposed to significant interest, currency or credit risks arising from these financial 

instruments. The fair values of these financial instruments approximate their carrying values unless 

otherwise stated. 

6.10 Quarterly Highlights 

The Company’s MD&A provides an analysis of the Company’s financial results for the period from 

September 30, 2019 to June 30, 2020 and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements of 

the Company for such period, and the notes thereto. The Company’s MD&A is attached to this Listing 

Statement as Schedule “A”. 

Certain information included in the Company’s MD&A is forward-looking and based upon assumptions 

and anticipated results that are subject to uncertainties. Should one or more of these uncertainties 
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materialize or should the underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary significantly 

from those expected. See “1.3 Forward Looking Statements” for further detail. 

6.11 Disclosure of Outstanding Share Data 

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Common Shares, of which 31,021,667 

Common Shares were issued and outstanding as fully paid and non-assessable as at December 31, 2019 

and as of the date hereof. As of the date hereof, 1,750,000 Common Shares of the Company are reserved 

for issuance upon the deemed exercise of 1,750,000 issued and outstanding Options of the Company. A 

summary of the outstanding Options is set out below. 

Expiry Date 
Options Issued 

# 
Exercise Price 

$ 

September 12, 2021 1,750,000 0.05 

Total 1,750,000 0.05 

Nil Warrants were outstanding as at December 31, 2019 and nil Warrants are outstanding as of the date 

hereof. See “9. Options to Purchase Securities”. 

6.12 Additional Disclosure for Venture Issuers without Significant Revenue 

The following table sets out a breakdown of all material components of certain costs to the Company for 

the period from September 30, 2019 to June 30, 2020. 

 

For the nine months ended 
June 30, 2020 

(Unaudited) 

($) 

For the year ended 
September, 2019 

(Audited) 

($) 

Exploration and 
evaluation expenditures 

nil 11,037 

Management fees 11,250 17,500 

Directors’ fees 18,000 22,000 

Filing and transfer agent 
fees 

10,085 6,192 

Professional fees 24,696 32,046 

Office and administration 17,958 13,825 

Insurance nil 6,300 

Bank Charges nil 1,431 

Total 81,989 110,331 

 
6.13 Additional Disclosure for Junior Issuers 

The Company anticipates having general net working capital of $88,000 following completion of the 

recommended proposed budget for engineering studies and marketing studies on the Property 

comprising Phase 1 of the recommended work program and after meeting the budgeted administrative 
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costs for the next 12 months of $60,000. Other than as disclosed in this Listing Statement, the Company 

does not anticipate incurring any other material capital expenditures. 

Assuming that the Company has expended its exploration expenses in accordance with the recommend 

Phase 1 work program of the Qualified Person, on the Property, the Company will have achieved one of 

its material stated business objectives which is to determine whether the results warrant the Company 

carrying out further work on the Property and proceeding with Phase 2 of the recommended work 

program. 

If the results on the Property do not warrant the Company incurring further exploration expenditures, 

then the Company anticipates that it would have sufficient funds to meet its budgeted administrative 

costs for the next calendar year. However, if the Phase 2 work program is recommended on the Property, 

the Company may be required to raise additional funding to carry out additional exploration programs on 

the Property. In addition, should the opportunity to acquire other mineral exploration properties be 

presented to the Company, then the Company would have to determine the appropriate method of 

acquiring those properties. In the event that Common Shares could not be used to acquire the said 

properties, then the Company may have to look to raise further capital. See "17. Risk Factors". 

7. Market for Securities 

The Common Shares of the Company are not currently listed or posted for trading on any securities 

exchange. The Common Shares were previously listed on the TSX Venture Exchange (the “TSXV”) under 

the symbol “BGG.V” from February 25, 2008 until February 6, 2019, when the Common Shares were 

voluntarily delisted from the TSXV. The Company is a reporting issuer in the provinces of Alberta, British 

Columbia and Ontario. 

8. Consolidated Capitalization 

The following table summarizes the changes in the Company’s capitalization since June 30, 2020 and as 

of the date of this Listing Statement. 

The Company currently has 31,021,667 Shares issued and outstanding. The Company adopted a 10% 

rolling stock option plan on April 12, 2017, under which, as of the date of this Listing Statement, the 

Company is able to grant up to 3,102,167 Options. The Company has granted 1,750,000 Options as of the 

date of this Listing Statement. There are no other securities convertible into Common Shares outstanding. 

Description 
Date of Listing 

Statement As at June 30, 2020 

Common Shares 31,021,667 31,021,667 

Stock Options(1) 1,750,000 1,950,000 

Note: 

(1) The Company has adopted a 10% rolling stock option plan, under which it is currently able to issue up to 3,102,167 Options. See “Options to 

Purchase Securities”. 
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9. Options to Purchase Securities 

9.1 Stock Option Plan 

The Board adopted a stock option plan on April 12, 2017 (the “Stock Option Plan”). The purpose of the 

Stock Option Plan is to advance the interests of the Company by encouraging the directors, officers, 

employees, management corporation employees and consultants of the Company, and of its subsidiaries 

and affiliates, if any, to acquire Common Shares in the share capital of the Company, thereby increasing 

their proprietary interest in the Company, encouraging them to remain associated with the Company and 

furnishing them with additional incentive in their efforts on behalf of the Company in the conduct of its 

affairs. The Stock Option Plan provides that, subject to the requirements of the CSE, the aggregate number 

of securities reserved for issuance will be 10% of the number of the Company’s Common Shares issued 

and outstanding at the time such options are granted. 

The Stock Option Plan will be administered by the Board, which will have full and final authority with 

respect to the granting of all Options thereunder. 

Eligible Optionees 

To be eligible to receive a grant of Options under the Stock Option Plan, regulatory authorities require an 

Optionee to be either a director, officer, employee, consultant or an employee of a corporation providing 

management or other services to the Company or a subsidiary at the time the Option is granted. 

Options may be granted only to an individual eligible, or to a non-individual that is wholly-owned by 

individuals eligible, for an Option grant. If the Option is granted to a non-individual, it will not permit any 

transfer of its securities, nor issue further securities, to any individual or other entity as long as the Option 

remains in effect. 

Restrictions 

The Stock Option Plan is a 10% rolling plan and the total number of Common Shares issuable upon exercise 

of Options under the Stock Option Plan cannot exceed 10% of the Company's issued and outstanding 

Common Shares on the date on which an Option is granted, less Common Shares reserved for issuance 

on exercise of Options then outstanding under the Stock Option Plan. The Stock Option Plan is also subject 

to the following restrictions: 

(a) The Company must not grant an Option to a director, employee, consultant, or consultant 
Company (the “Service Provider”) in any 12-month period that exceeds 5% of the 
outstanding Common Shares of the Company, unless the Company has obtained approval by 
a majority of the votes cast by all shareholders of the Company at the shareholders' meeting 
excluding votes attached to Common Shares beneficially owned by Insiders of the Company 
and their Associates (“Disinterested Shareholder Approval”). 

(b) The aggregate number of Options granted to a service provider conducting investor relations 
activities in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the outstanding Common Shares 
calculated at the date of the grant, without prior regulatory approval. 

(c) The Company must not grant an Option to a consultant in any 12-month period that exceeds 
1% of the outstanding Common Shares calculated at the date of the grant of the Option. 
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(d) The aggregate number of Common Shares reserved for issuance under Options granted to 
Insiders must not exceed 10% of the outstanding Common Shares (if the Stock Option Plan is 
amended to reserve for issuance more than 10% of the outstanding Common Shares) unless 
the Company has obtained Disinterested Shareholder Approval to do so. 

(e) The number of Common Shares issued to Insiders upon exercise of Options in any 12-month 
period must not exceed 10% of the outstanding Common Shares (if the Stock Option Plan is 
amended to reserve for issuance more than 10% of the outstanding Common Shares) unless 
the Company has obtained Disinterested Shareholder Approval to do so. 

(f) The issuance to any one Optionee within a 12-month period of a number of Common Shares 
must not exceed 5% of outstanding Common Shares unless the Company has obtained 
Disinterested Shareholder Approval to do so. 

(g) The exercise price of an Option previously granted to an Insider must not be reduced, unless 
the Company has obtained Disinterested Shareholder Approval to do so. 

(h) The Company may implement such procedures and conditions as the Board deems 
appropriate with respect to withholding and remitting taxes imposed under applicable law, 
or the funding of related amounts for which liability may arise under such applicable law. 

Material Terms of the Stock Option Plan 

The following is a summary of the material terms of the Stock Option Plan: 

(a) all Options granted under the Stock Option Plan are non-assignable and non- transferable 
and can be exercised for a period of up to ten (10) years, as determined by the Board. The 
expiry date of outstanding Options held by Optionees that would otherwise expire during a 
restricted trading period, imposed by the Company pursuant to any of its policies (a 
“Blackout Period”), will be extended for a period of ten (10) business days following the end 
of such Black-Out Period; 

(b) the number of the Common Shares, the exercise price, the vesting period and any other 
terms and conditions of Options granted pursuant to Stock Option Plan are determined by 
the Board, subject to the express provisions of the Stock Option Plan;  

(c) The exercise price of options under the Stock Option Plan will be set by the Board at the time 
of grant and cannot be less than the closing price of the Common Shares on the stock 
exchange on which the Common Shares are listed on the last trading day immediately 
preceding the date of the grant of such option; and provided further, that if the Common 
Shares are not listed on any stock exchange, the purchase price shall not be less than the fair 
market value of the Common Shares, as may be determined by the Board on the day 
immediately preceding the date of the grant of such option;  

(d) If before the expiry of the Option, the Optionee ceases to be an eligible Optionee for any 
reason other than the death of the eligible Optionee or termination by the Company for 
cause, the Option will terminate on a date determined by the Board, which date shall not be 
less than ninety (90) days and not more than twelve (12) months of the date the Optionee 
ceases to be an eligible Optionee. If the Optionee ceases to be an eligible Optionee by reason 
of termination by the Company for cause, the Option will terminate immediately upon the 
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Optionee ceasing to be an eligible Optionee. In the event of the death of the Optionee, the 
Option continues to be exercisable for a period up to twelve (12) months from the date of 
such event; 

Under the Stock Option Plan, the Board may do the following, without obtaining shareholder approval: 

(a) amend the Stock Option Plan to correct typographical, grammatical or clerical errors; 

(b) change the vesting provisions of an Option granted under the Stock Option Plan, if applicable; 

(c) change the termination provision of an Option granted under the Stock Option Plan if it does 
not entail an extension beyond the original expiry date of such Option; 

(d) make such amendments to the Stock Option Plan as are necessary or desirable to reflect 
changes to securities laws applicable to the Company; 

(e) make such amendments as may otherwise be permitted by regulatory authorities; 

(f) if the Company becomes listed or quoted on a stock exchange or stock market senior to the 
CSE, make such amendments as may be required by the policies of such senior stock 
exchange or stock market; and 

(g) amend the Stock Option Plan to reduce the benefits that may be granted to Service Providers. 

9.2 Options Granted 

As of the date hereof, the Company has granted 1,750,000 Options under the Stock Option Plan. 

The following table sets forth the Options issued as of the date of this Listing Statement, along with the 

material terms of the grants: 

Holder of Options 
Number of 

Holders Date of Grant Expiration Date Quantity Exercise Price 

Executive Officers 2 September 12, 2016 September 12, 2021 600,000 $0.05 

Directors (other than those 
who are also executive 
officers) 

4 September 12, 2016 September 12, 2021 1,100,000 $0.05 

Consultants 1 September 12, 2016 September 12, 2021 50,000 $0.05 

 

10. Description of the Securities 

10.1 Disclosure of Outstanding Security Data 

The Company has one class of shares outstanding, being the Common Shares. The authorized capital of 

the Company consists of an unlimited number of voting and participating Common Shares without par 

value. All Common Shares of the Company rank equally as to dividends, voting powers and participation 

in assets. 
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As of the date of this Listing Statement, 31,021,667 Common Shares are issued and outstanding, and 

1,750,000 Common Shares are reserved for issuance upon the exercise of 1,750,000 issued and 

outstanding Options of the Company at an exercise price of $0.05 per Common Share. 

10.2 Common Shares 

The holders of the Common Shares are entitled to receive notice of and to attend and vote at all meetings 

of the shareholders of the Company and each Common Share shall confer the right to one vote in person 

or by proxy at all meetings of the shareholders of the Company. The holders of the Common Shares, 

subject to the prior rights, if any, of any other class of shares of the Company, are entitled to receive such 

dividends in any financial year as the Board of the Company may by resolution determine. In the event of 

the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, the holders 

of the Common Shares are entitled to receive, subject to the prior rights, if any, of the holders of any other 

class of shares of the Company, the remaining property and assets of the Company. The Common Shares 

do not carry any pre-emptive, subscription, redemption or conversion rights, nor do they contain any 

sinking or purchase fund provisions. 

Listing of the Common Shares is subject to the Company fulfilling all of the Listing requirements of the 

CSE. 

10.3 Prior Sales 

The Company has completed nil prior sales of Common Shares during the last twelve (12) months from 

the date of this Listing Statement. The Company currently has 31,021,667 Common Shares and 1,750,000 

stock options, priced at $0.05, outstanding.  Neither number has changed from September 30, 2017 to 

date, with the exception of the expiration 200,000 stock options in November 2020. 

The CSE has advised the Company that the issuance of nil securities during the twelve-month period prior 

to Listing is irregular but non-material for the purposes of the Company’s application to list its Common 

Shares on the CSE. 

10.4 Trading Price and Volume 

The Common Shares are not traded or quoted on a market place and there is currently no public market 

for the Common Shares. 

11. Escrowed Securities 

11.1 Escrow under CSE Policies 

In accordance with the CSE Policies and NP 46-201, all Common Shares held by a Related Person (as that 

term is defined in CSE Policy 1 – Interpretation and General Provisions) as of the Listing Date are subject 

to escrow restrictions. Under the CSE Policies, the Related Persons of the Company are its directors and 

officers, the Company's promoters, and any person that beneficially owns, either directly or indirectly, or 

exercises voting control or direction over at least 10% of the total Common Shares. 

The CSE Policies require that the Escrow Securities be governed by the form of escrow prescribed by NP 

46-201. 
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Pursuant to the Escrow Agreement, among the Company, the Escrow Agent, and the directors, officers 

and insiders of the Company, the Escrow Securities will be released in accordance with the following 

release schedule: 

Escrow Release Date Amount of Released Securities 

On the Listing Date 1/10 of the Escrow Securities 

6 months after the Listing Date 1/6 of the remaining Escrow Securities 

12 months after the Listing Date 1/5 of the remaining Escrow Securities 

18 months after the Listing Date 1/4 of the remaining Escrow Securities 

24 months after the Listing Date 1/3 of the remaining Escrow Securities 

30 months after the Listing Date 1/2 of the remaining Escrow Securities 

36 months after the Listing Date the remaining Escrow Securities 

 
Assuming there are no changes to the Escrow Securities initially deposited and no additional Escrow 

Securities are deposited, this will result in a 10% release on the Listing Date, with the remaining Escrow 

Securities being released in 15% tranches every 6 months thereafter. 

All the Escrow Securities are subject to the direction and determination of the CSE. Specifically, the Escrow 

Securities may not be sold, assigned, hypothecated, transferred within escrow or otherwise dealt with in 

any manner without the consent of the CSE. 

The following table sets forth particulars of the Escrow Securities that will be subject to escrow under the 

Escrow Agreement on the Listing Date. 

Name and Municipality of Residence 
Number of Common Shares Held in 

Escrow 

Percentage of Outstanding 
Common Shares(1) 

Blaine Schmidt 

Acton, ON, Canada 
525,000 1.69% 

Total 525,000 1.69% 

Notes: 

(1) On a non-diluted basis. 

Under NP 46-201, a “principal” is: (a) a person who has acted as a promoter of the Company within two 

years of the date of the Company’s Listing Statement; (b) a director or senior officer of the Company at 

the time of this Listing Statement; (c) a person that holds securities carrying more than 20% of the voting 

rights attached to the Company’s outstanding securities immediately before and immediately after the 

Company’s initial public offering; and (d) a person that: (i) holds securities carrying more than 10% of the 

voting rights attached to the Company’s outstanding securities immediately before and immediately after 

the Company’s initial public offering; and (ii) has elected or appointed, or has the right to elect or appoint, 

one or more directors or senior officers of the Company. A principal’s spouse and their relatives that live 

at the same address as the principal will be deemed principals and any securities of the Company held by 

such a person will be subject to the escrow requirements. 

The automatic time release provisions under NP 46-201 pertaining to “emerging issuers” provide that 

securities are released according to the following schedule: 
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On the date the issuer’s securities are listed on 
a Canadian exchange (the listing date) 

1/10 of the escrow securities 

6 months after the listing date 1/6 of the remaining escrow securities 

12 months after the listing date 1/5 of the remaining escrow securities 

18 months after the listing date 1/4 of the remaining escrow securities 

24 months after the listing date 1/3 of the remaining escrow securities 

30 months after the listing date 1/2 of the remaining escrow securities 

36 months after the listing date The remaining escrow securities 

If, within 18 months of the listing date, the Company meets the “established issuer” criteria, as set out in 

NP 46-201, the Escrow Securities will be eligible for accelerated release according to the criteria for 

established issuers. In such a scenario that number of Escrow Securities that would have been eligible for 

release from escrow if the Company had been an “established issuer” on the listing date will be 

immediately released from escrow. The remaining Escrow Securities would be released in accordance 

with the time release provisions for established issuers, with all escrow securities being released 18 

months from the listing date. 

Under the terms of the Escrow Agreement, Escrow Securities cannot be transferred by the holder unless 

permitted under the Escrow Agreement. Notwithstanding this restriction on transfer, a holder of Escrow 

Securities may (a) pledge, mortgage or charge the Escrow Securities to a financial institution as collateral 

for a loan provided that no Escrow  Securities will be delivered by the escrow agent to the financial 

institution; (b) exercise any voting rights attached to the Escrow Securities; (c) receive dividends or other 

distributions on the Escrow Securities; and (d) exercise any rights to exchange or convert the Escrow 

Securities in accordance with the Escrow Agreement. 

The Escrow Securities may be transferred within escrow to: (a) subject to approval of the Board, an 

individual who is an existing or newly appointed director or senior officer of the Company or of a material 

operating subsidiary of the Company; (b) subject to the approval of the Board, a person that before the 

proposed transfer holds more than 20% of the voting rights attached to the Company’s outstanding 

securities; (c) subject to the approval of the Board, a person that after the proposed transfer will hold 

more than 10% of the voting rights attached to the Company’s outstanding securities and that has the 

right to elect or appoint one or more directors or senior officers of the Company or any of its material 

operating subsidiaries; (d) upon the bankruptcy of a holder of escrowed securities, the securities held in 

escrow may be transferred within escrow to the trustee in bankruptcy or other person legally entitled to 

such securities; (e) upon the death of a holder of escrowed securities, all securities of the deceased holder 

will be released from escrow to the deceased holder’s legal representative; (f) a financial institution that 

the holder pledged, mortgaged or charges to a financial institution as collateral for a loan on realization 

of such loan; and (g) a registered retirement savings plan (“RRSP”), registered retirement income fund 

(“RRIF”) or similar registered plan or fund with a trustee, where the annuitant of the RRSP or RRIF, or the 

beneficiaries of another plan or fund are limited to the holders spouse, children or parents, or if the holder 

is the trustee of such registered plan or fund, to the annuitant of the RRSP or RRIF, or a beneficiary of the 

other registered plan or fund or his or her spouse, children or parents. 

In addition, tenders of Escrow Securities pursuant to a business combination, which includes a take-over 

bid, issuer bid, statutory arrangement, amalgamation, merger or other reorganization similar to an 

amalgamation or merger, are permitted. Escrow Securities subject to a business combination will continue 
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to be escrowed if the successor entity is not an “exempt issuer”, the holder is a principal of the successor 

entity; and the holder holds more than 1% of the voting rights of the successor entities’ outstanding 

securities. 

Under the terms of the Escrow Agreement, 10% of each escrowed shareholder’s shares (a total of 52,500 

Common Shares) will be released from escrow on the Listing Date. The remaining 472,500 Common Shares 

will be held in escrow immediately following the Listing Date. 

12. Principal Shareholders 

As at the date of this Listing Statement, to the knowledge of the directors and officers of the Company, 

no persons beneficially own or exercise control or direction over, directly or indirectly, more than 10% of 

any class of securities of the Company as of the date hereof.  

13. Directors and Officers 

The following table sets forth the name and municipality of residence of each director and executive 

officer of the Company, as well as such individual's age, position with the Company, principal occupation 

within the five preceding years and period of service. Each of the directors of the Company will hold office 

until the close of the next annual meeting of shareholders and until such director's successor is elected 

and qualified, or until the director's earlier death, resignation or removal. 

Name and 
Municipality of 

Residence Age 
Position with 

Company 
Principal Occupation for Five Preceding 

Years 

Director/ 

Officer of 
the 

Company 
Since 

Number of 
Common 

Shares 
Held (%)(1) 

Richard Smith 

Calgary, AB, 
Canada 

65 
President, Chief 
Executive Officer, 
and Director 

Mr. Smith is currently President & CEO of 
Buccaneer Gold Corp. 

June 30, 
2016 

500,000 

(1.59%) 

Peter M. Clausi 

St. Catharines, 
ON, Canada 

56 Director 

President and General Counsel, Maplegrow 
Capital Inc.; consultant to reporting and 
private issuers; GTA Financecorp (formerly 
GTA Resources and Mining); CEO, Director, 
General Counsel;  CBLT Inc., CEO and 
Director; Camrova Resources Ltd., 
independent director and member of audit 
committee 

 

November 
2, 2015 

405,500 

(1.29%) 

J. Birks 
Bovaird(2)(3)(4) 

Toronto, ON, 
Canada 

72 
Chair of the Board 
and Director 

Director and Chairman of the board of 
Energy Fuels Inc. Independent director and 
chair of the compensation committee of 
Noble Mineral Exploration Inc..  
Independent director and chair of the board 
of GTA Financecorp. 

May 30, 
2016 

300,000 

(0.96%) 

D. Barry Lee(3)(4) 

Vancouver, BC, 
Canada 

63 Director 
Business consultant and a founding partner 
of First Merit Group Inc., a private consulting 
company since 1999. 

May 30, 
2016 

200,000 

(0.64%) 

Blaine 
Schmidt(3)(4) 

57 Director Mr. Schmidt is President of Skylar Wireless 
Telecommunications and has held this 

May 30, 
2016 

725,000 
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Acton, ON, 
Canada 

position since July 1994. Also, from May 
1995 he has and continues to co-own and 
operate 113271 Ontario Inc., which has 
operated as Boot Hill Auto since January 
2006. Mr. Schmidt previously served as a 
director of the Company from November 
20, 2009 to June 25, 2015. 

(2.32%) 

John Ross 

Toronto, ON, 
Canada 

61 
Chief Financial 
Officer 

A senior financial management professional 
with more than 30 years of private and 
public company experience, offering part 
time CFO and management services to 
smaller companies. Currently part-time CFO 
of Buccaneer Gold Corp. (since September 
2016), part-time CFO of U3O8 Corp. (TSX) 
since June 2010, part-time CFO of AMPD 
Ventures Inc. (CSE) (October 2019 to 
present).  Previously interim CEO (since May 
2019 to March 2020) and CFO February 2017 
to March 2020) of Hempco Food and Fiber 
Inc., a subsidiary of Aurora Cannabis Inc. 
(TSX) and part time CFO of High Mountain 
Capital Corporation (TSXV) (January 2018 to 
July 2019). 

September 
30, 2016 

100,000 

(0.32%) 

Notes: 

(1) Based on 31,021,667 Common Shares issued and outstanding as at the date hereof, and calculated on a partially diluted basis assuming exercise 

of securities convertible into Common Shares. 

(2) 

(3) 

Chair of the Audit Committee. 

Member of the Compensation Committee. 

(4) Member of the Audit Committee. 

 
As of the date of this Listing Statement, the directors and executive officers of the Company, as a group, 

beneficially own, directly or indirectly, 530,500 Common Shares representing approximately 1.71% of the 

issued and outstanding Common Shares on a non-diluted basis (and 2,230,500 Common Shares representing 

approximately 6.82% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares on a fully diluted basis). 

13.1 Cease Trade Orders, Bankruptcies, Penalties or Sanctions 

Except as set out below, no individual set forth in the above table: 

(i) is, as at the date of this Listing Statement, or has been, within 10 years before the date of this 

Listing Statement, a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer of any company 

(including the Company) that: 

(a) was subject to a cease trade order, an order similar to a cease trade order or an order 

that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, 

that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days that was issued while 

such individual was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief 

financial officer; or 

(b) was subject to a cease trade order, an order similar to a cease trade order or an order 

that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, 

that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days, that was issued after 

such individual ceased to be a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer 



 

51 

 

and which resulted from an event that occurred while such proposed director was acting 

in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer; 

(ii) is, as of the date of this Listing Statement, or has been within ten (10) years before the date of 

this Listing Statement, a director or executive officer of any company (including the Company) 

that, while such individual was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing 

to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to 

bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or 

compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold 

its assets; 

(iii) has, within the ten (10) years before the date of this Listing Statement, become bankrupt, 

made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject 

to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, 

receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of such individual; 

(iv) has been subject to (a) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities 

legislation or by a securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement 

with a securities regulatory authority; or (b) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a 

court or regulatory body that would likely be considered important to a reasonable investor in 

making an investment decision. 

Mr. Bovaird and Mr. Clausi became directors of Interactive Capital Partners Corporation (“ICPC”) in 2014, 

when ICPC was already the subject of cease trade orders issued by the Ontario, British Columbia, and 

Alberta Securities Commissions on May 8, 2012, May 9, 2012 and May 17, 2012, respectively, as a result 

of ICPC’s failure to meet its timely disclosure filing obligations. The cease trade orders were revoked by 

the Ontario and British Columbia Securities Commissions on April 4, 2016 and by the Alberta Securities 

Commissions on April 6, 2016. 

Mr. Clausi was a director of CBLT Inc. when it was subject to a Failure to File Cease Trade Order on October 

4, 2019. CBLT Inc. soon thereafter filed the required periodic continuous disclosure documents and the 

Failure to File Cease Trade Order was revoked on December 18, 2019. 

13.2 Conflicts of Interest 

Certain of the officers and directors of the Company also serve as directors and/or officers of other 

companies involved in the mineral exploration and development business and consequently there exists 

the possibility for such officers or directors to be in a position of conflict. Any decision made by any of 

such officers or directors involving the Company will be made in accordance with their duties and 

obligations under the laws of Ontario and Canada. 

13.3 Management 

Set forth below is a description of the background of the officers and directors of the Company, including 

a description of each individual’s principal occupation(s) within the past five years. Each member of 

management will devote the time necessary to perform the work required in connection with the 

management of the Company, upon listing. No member of management has entered into a non-

competition or non-disclosure agreement with the Company. 
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Richard Smith, President, Chief Executive Officer and Director – Age 65 

Mr. Smith is currently President and CEO of Buccaneer Gold Corp. Previously he was responsible for 
institutional sales at Dominick and Dominick. His twenty years of equity financing and portfolio 
management capitalizes on a foundation of over fifteen years' oil and gas technical experience. Mr. Smith 
provides in-depth analysis of client companies, including due diligence on exploration and production 
firms. Licensed with IIROC since 1992-2016. Mr. Smith has raised over 500 million for the oil & gas 
industry/service sector. He holds a B.Sc in Math And Chemistry, Dean's list, Acadia University, 1975. 
 
Mr. Smith dedicates approximately 5% of his time in his role with the Company. 

Peter M. Clausi, Director – Age 56 

Mr. Clausi is an investment banker, litigator and corporate director. A graduate of Osgoode Hall Law 

School and called to Ontario’s bar in 1990, Mr. Clausi has experience in complex commercial litigation, 

finance, shareholder rights, and corporate growth. Mr. Clausi has been a guest lecturer at three Ontario 

MBA programs, and was an instructor at the Law Society of Upper Canada’s Bar Admission Course for over 

ten years. He has been involved as part of the management team of GTA Financecorp Inc. since 2012, and 

is currently its CEO. Mr. Clausi has been President and General Counsel of Maplegrow Capital Inc. since 

1996. 

Mr. Clausi dedicates between 5% and 20% of his time for regular board matters and on an as-needed basis 

at the request of the Chairman. 

J. Birks Bovaird, Director and Chairman – Age 72 

Mr. Bovaird is a Consultant, providing advisory services to natural resource companies. For a majority of 

his career, Mr. Bovaird's focus has been the provision and implementation of corporate financial 

consulting and strategic planning services. Mr. Bovaird graduated from Concordia University in 1971 and 

following more than two decades in commercial lending he took on the role of Vice President of Corporate 

Finance for one of Canada’s major accounting firms.  Mr. Bovaird has previously been involved with 

numerous public resource and non-resource companies, both as a member of management and as a 

director. Mr. Bovaird is a director and chair of the board of Energy Fuels Inc. (EFR.TSX  and UUUU.NYSE). 

He is also an independent director and chair of the compensation committee of Noble Mineral Exploration 

Inc. (NOB.TSX.V).  Additionally, he is an independent director and chair of the board of GTA Financecorp.  

As chair of the board of Buccaneer he also sits on the audit committee. He is a graduate of the Canadian 

Director Education Program and holds an ICD.D designation.  

Mr. Bovaird is the chairman of the audit committee of the Company. 

Mr. Bovaird dedicates approximately 5-10% of his time in his role with the Company. 

D. Barry Lee, Director – Age 63 

Mr. Lee is a business consultant and a founding partner of First Merit Group Inc., a private consulting 

company providing senior management and strategic advisory services since 1999. He is a director and 

member of the audit committee and/or holds senior management positions in several Canadian and US- 

based public and private companies in the resource, technology and merchant banking sectors. 
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Mr. Lee is a member of the audit committee of the Company. 

Mr. Lee dedicates approximately 5-10% of his time in his role with the Company. 

Blaine Schmidt, Director – Age 57 

Mr. Schmidt is President of Skylar Wireless Telecommunications and has held this position since July 1994. 

Also, from May 1995 he has and continues to co-own and operate 113271 Ontario Inc., which has 

operated as Boot Hill Auto since January 2006. Mr. Schmidt previously served as a director of the Company 

from November 20, 2009 to June 25, 2015. 

Mr. Schmidt is a member of the audit committee of the Company. 

Mr. Schmidt dedicates approximately 5-10% of his time in his role with the Company. 

John Ross, Chief Financial Officer – Age 61 

A senior financial management professional with more than 30 years of private and public company 

experience, offering part time CFO and management services to smaller. Currently part-time CFO of 

Buccaneer Gold Corp. (since September 2016), part-time CFO of U3O8 Corp. (TSX) (since June 2010), and 

part-time CFO of AMPD Ventures Inc. (CSE) (since October 2019).  Previously interim CEO (May 2019 to 

March 2020) and CFO (February 2017 to March 2020) of Hempco Food and Fiber Inc., a subsidiary of 

Aurora Cannabis Inc. (TSX) and part-time CFO of High Mountain Capital Corporation (TSXV) (January 2018 

to July 2019). 

Mr. Ross dedicates approximately 5-10% of his time in his role with the Company. 

13.4 Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee’s Charter 

The directors of the Company have adopted a charter for the Audit Committee (the “Audit Committee 

Charter”), which sets out the Audit Committee’s mandate, organization, powers and responsibilities. The 

full text of the Audit Committee Charter is available on the Company’s profile on the SEDAR website at 

www.sedar.com as Schedule “A” to the Company’s management information circular dated March 21, 

2017. 

Composition of the Audit Committee 

The members of the Audit Committee are J. Birks Bovaird (Chairman), D. Barry Lee and Blaine Schmidt. 

Messrs. Bovaird, Lee and Schmidt are independent (as defined in National Instrument 52-110 - Audit 

Committees (“NI 52-110”) adopted by the Canadian Securities Administrators) and all members are 

financially literate (as defined in NI 52-110). 

Name of Member Independent(1) Financially Literate(2) 

J. Birks Bovaird (Chair) Yes Yes 

D. Barry Lee Yes Yes 

Blaine Schmidt Yes Yes 

 
 

http://www.sedar.com/
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Notes: 
(1) To be considered independent, a member of the Audit Committee must not have any direct or indirect “material relationship” with the 

Company. A “material relationship” is a relationship which could, in the view of the Board, be reasonably expected to interfere with 
the exercise of a member’s independent judgment. 

(2) To be considered financially literate, a member of the Audit Committee must have the ability to read and understand a set of financial 
statements that present a breadth and level of complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and 
complexity of the issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised by the Company’s financial statements. 

 
Relevant Education and Experience 

Each of the members of the Audit Committee has extensive education and experience relevant to the 

performance of their responsibilities as members of the Audit Committee. Please see “13. Directors and 

Officers – 13.3. Management”. 

Audit Committee Oversight 

At the date of Listing, the Company will have an Audit Committee consisting of J. Birks Bovaird (Chair), D. 

Barry Lee and Blaine Schmidt. 

The Company’s Board will adopt a written charter setting forth the responsibilities, powers and operations 
of the Audit Committee consistent with NI 52-110. The principal duties and responsibilities of the 
Company’s Audit Committee will be to assist the Company’s Board in discharging the oversight of: 
 

o the integrity of the Company’s consolidated financial statements and accounting and 
financial processes and the audits of our consolidated financial statements;   

o the Company’s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;   
o the Company’s external auditors’ qualifications and independence;   
o the work and performance of the Company’s financial management and its external 

auditors;  
o the Company’s system of disclosure controls and procedures and system of internal 

controls regarding finance, accounting, legal compliance, and risk management 
established by management and the Company’s Board; and 

o It is anticipated that the Audit Committee will have access to all books, records, facilities, 
and personnel and may request any information about the Company as it may deem 
appropriate. It will also have the authority to retain and compensate special legal, 
accounting, financial and other consultants, or advisors to advise the Audit Committee. 
The Audit Committee is also expected to review and approve all related-party 
transactions and prepare reports for the Company’s Board on such related-party 
transactions as well as be responsible for the pre-approval of all non-audit services to be 
provided by our auditors. 

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures 

The Audit Committee has adopted specific policies and procedures for the engagement of non-audit 

services as described in the Audit Committee Charter. 

Exemption in Section 6.1 

The Company is a “venture issuer” as defined in NI 52-110 and is relying on the exemption in section 6.1 

of NI 52-110 relating to Parts 3 (Composition of Audit Committee) and 5 (Reporting Obligations). 
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13.5 Other Reporting Issuer Experience 

The following table sets forth the directors of the Company who currently hold directorships with other 

reporting issuers: 

Name of Director Reporting Issuer 

Peter M. Clausi Camrova Mining Corp. 

CBLT Inc. 

GTA Financecorp Inc. 

J. Birks Bovaird Energy Fuels Inc. 

Noble Mineral Exploration Inc. 

GTA Financecorp Inc. 

D. Barry Lee Gainey Capital Corp. 

Voip-Pal.Com Inc. 

Worldwide Resources Corp. 

 

14. Capitalization 

14.1 Issued Capital 

As of the date of this Listing Statement, the Company has the following capitalization structure: 

Public Float 

Number of 
Securities 

(non-
diluted) 

Number of 
Securities 

(fully 
diluted) 

% of Issued 
(non-

diluted) 

% of Issued 
(fully 

diluted) 

Total outstanding (A) 31,021,667 32,771,667 100% 100% 

Held by Related Persons or employees of the Company or 
Related Person of the Company, or by persons or companies 
who beneficially own or control, directly or indirectly, more 
than a 5% voting position in the Company (or who would 
beneficially own or control, directly or indirectly, more than a 
5% voting position in the Company upon exercise or 
conversion of other securities held) (B) 

530,500 2,280,500 1.71% 6.96% 

Total Public Float (A-B) 30,491,167 30,491,167 98.29% 93.04% 

Freely-Tradeable Float     

Number of outstanding securities subject to resale 
restrictions, including restrictions imposed by pooling or 
other arrangements or in a shareholder agreement and 
securities held by control block holders (C) 

nil nil nil nil 

Total Tradeable Float (A-C) 31,021,667 32,771,667 100% 100% 
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14.2 Securityholders 

Public Securityholders (Beneficial) 

The following table sets forth the number of public securityholders and aggregate number of Common 

Shares held by such holders, grouped by the number of Common Shares held, as of the date of the Listing 

Statement. 

Quantity of Common Shares Held Number of Holders Total Number of Common Shares 

1 - 99 0 0 

100 - 499 4 810 

500 - 999 5 2,990 

1,000 - 1,999 15 19,302 

2,000 - 2,999 21 44,400 

3,000 - 3,999 7 21,500 

4,000 - 4,999 5 21,045 

5,000 or more 222 29,773,115 

 
Non-Public Securityholders (Registered) 

The following table sets forth the number of non-public securityholders and aggregate number of 

Common Shares held by such holders, grouped by the number of Common Shares held, as of the date of 

the Listing Statement. 

Quantity of Common Shares Held Number of Holders Total Number of Common Shares 

1 - 99 0 nil 

100 - 499 0 nil 

500 - 999 0 nil 

1,000 - 1,999 0 nil 

2,000 - 2,999 0 nil 

3,000 - 3,999 0 nil 

4,000 - 4,999 0 nil 

5,000 or more 2 530,500 

 
Based on the shareholder list provided by the Transfer Agent to the Company, to the knowledge of the 

Company, as of the date of the Listing Statement, there are approximately 199 public shareholders holding 

at least a board lot of 500 free-trading Company Shares. As such, the Company has more than the 

minimum number of shareholders with minimum board lots to satisfy the listing qualifications of the CSE. 

14.3 Convertible Securities 

The following table sets forth details regarding of securities convertible into Common Shares, as of the 

date of the Listing Statement: 
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Description of Security (include 
conversion / exercise terms, including 

conversion / exercise price) 
Number of convertible / exchangeable 

securities outstanding 
Number of listed securities issuable 

upon conversion / exercise 

Stock Options(1) 1,750,000 1,750,000 

Notes: 

(1) For a description of the Company’s Stock Option Plan and prior issuances, see “Options to Purchase Securities – Stock Option Plan” and “Options 

to Purchase Securities – Options Granted”. 

 

15. Executive Compensation 

15.1 Compensation Discussion and Analysis 

On May 30, 2016, the Board formed a compensation committee (the “Compensation Committee”), 
which is comprised of all directors. The Compensation Committee is responsible for ensuring that the 
Company has in place an appropriate plan for executive compensation and for making recommendations 
to the Board with respect to the compensation of the Company’s Named Executive Officers (as hereinafter 
defined). A “Named Executive Officer” (“NEO”) includes: (i) the Company’s CEO; (ii) the Company’s CFO; 
(iii) each of the three most highly compensated executive officers, other than the CEO and CFO, who were 
serving as executive officers as at the end of the most recently completed financial year of September 30, 
2019, and whose total compensation was more than $150,000; and (iv) any additional individuals for 
whom disclosure would have been required except that the individual was not serving as an officer of the 
Company at the end of the most recently completed financial year. 

The primary objective of the Company’s executive compensation program is to recruit, retain and 
motivate top quality individuals at the executive level. The program is designed to: (a) assist the Company 
in reaching its potential by achieving long term goals and success; and (b) encourage and reward its NEOs 
in connection with the ongoing development of the Company and its operations. 

The Compensation Committee is responsible for ensuring that the Company has in place an appropriate 

plan for executive compensation and for making recommendations to the Board with respect to the 

compensation of the Company’s executive officers. The Board believes that executive compensation 

should be fair and reasonable and be determined, in part, based on industry standard for similar positions 

in other comparable issuers. Compensation paid to the NEOs is determined on the basis set forth in the 

above paragraph and is paid to the NEOs in order to motivate and reward their performance. Grants of 

incentive Options to NEOs are entirely at the discretion of the Board, with reference to the same factors 

set forth above that inform decisions with respect to base salary. Previous Option grants are taken into 

account when considering new grants. 

The Company generally endorses the concept that executive compensation should meet the following 

objectives: 

 to align the interests of executive officers with the short- and long-term interests of shareholders; 

 to  link  executive  compensation  to  the  performance  of  the  Company  and  the individual; and 

 to  compensate  executive  officers  at  a  level  and  in  a  manner  that  ensures  the  Company is 

capable of attracting, motivating, retaining and inspiring individuals with exceptional skills. 
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Cash Salary 

The Company’s compensation payable to the NEOs is based upon, among other things, the responsibility, 

skills and experience required to carry out the functions of each position held by each NEO and varies with 

the amount of time spent by each NEO in carrying out his or her functions on behalf of the Company. Base 

salary is used to provide the NEOs a set amount of money during the year with the expectation that each 

NEO will perform his responsibilities to the best of his ability and in the best interests of the Company. 

In particular the CEO’s compensation will be determined by time spent on: (i) the Company’s current 

mineral property; (ii) reviewing potential mineral properties that the Company may acquire and 

negotiating, on behalf of the Company; and (iii) new business ventures. The CFO’s compensation is 

primarily determined by time spent in reviewing the Company’s financial statements. 

Long Term Compensation and Option-Based Awards 

The Company has no long-term incentive plans other than its Stock Option Plan. The Company’s directors, 

officers, employees and certain consultants are entitled to participate in the Stock Option Plan. The Stock 

Option Plan is designed to encourage share ownership and entrepreneurship on the part of the senior 

management and other employees. The Board believes that the Stock Option Plan aligns the interests of 

the NEO and the Board with shareholders by linking a component of executive compensation to the 

longer-term performance of the Common Shares. 

Options are granted by the Board. In monitoring or adjusting the Option allotments, the Board takes into 

account its own observations on individual performance (where possible) and its assessment of individual 

contribution to shareholder value, previous Option grants and the objectives set for the NEOs and the 

Board. The scale of Options is generally commensurate to the appropriate level of base compensation for 

each level of responsibility. 

In addition to determining the number of Options to be granted pursuant to the methodology outlined 

above, the Board also makes the following determinations: 

(a) parties who are entitled to participate in the Stock Option Plan; 

(b) the exercise price for each Option granted, subject to the provision that the exercise price 
cannot be lower than the prescribed discount permitted by the CSE from the market price on 
the date of grant; 

(c) the date on which each Option is granted; 

(d) the vesting period, if any, for each Option; 

(e) the other material terms and conditions of each Option grant; and 

(f) any re-pricing or amendment to an Option grant. 

The Board makes these determinations subject to and in accordance with the provisions of the Stock 

Option Plan. The Board reviews and approves grants of Options on an annual basis and periodically during 

a financial year. 
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A summary of the Option grants to NEOs is provided below. See “15. Executive Compensation – Incentive 

Plan Awards”. 

Summary Compensation Table 

The following information is presented in accordance with National Instrument Form 51-102F6V – 

Statement of Executive Compensation – Venture Issuers, for the nine months ended June 30, 2020 and the 

Company’s financial years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018. 

Name and Position Year 

Salary, 
consulting fee, 

retainer or 
commission 

($) 

Bonus 

($) 

Committee 
or meeting 

fees 

($) 

Value of 
perquisites 

($) 

Value of all 
other 

compensation 

($) 

Total 
compensation 

($) 

Richard Smith, CEO 
and Director 

2020 nil nil nil nil nil nil 

2019 nil nil nil nil nil nil 

2018 9,639 nil nil nil nil 9,639 

John Ross, CFO 

2020 11,250 nil nil nil nil 11,250 

2019 17,500 nil nil nil nil 17,500 

2018 12,901 nil nil nil nil 12,901 

Peter M. Clausi, 
Director 

2020 9,000 nil nil nil nil 9,000 

2019 11,000 nil nil nil nil 11,000 

2018 3,000 nil nil nil nil 3,000 

J. Birks Bovaird, 
Director 

2020 9,000 nil nil nil nil 9,000 

2019 11,000 nil nil nil nil 11,000 

2018 3,000 nil nil nil nil 3,000 

D. Barry Lee, Director 

2020 nil nil nil nil nil nil 

2019 nil nil nil nil nil nil 

2018 3,000 nil nil nil nil 3,000 

Blaine Schmidt, 
Director 

2020 nil nil nil nil nil nil 

2019 nil nil nil nil nil nil 

2018 3,105 nil nil nil nil 3,105 

 
Incentive Plan Awards 

The following table sets forth all outstanding share based and option-based awards to the NEOs as at the 

fiscal year ended a September 30, 2019. 
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Name and Position 

Type of 
compensatio

n security 

Number of 
underlying 
securities 

Exercise 
price per 
security 

($) 
Date of 
exercise 

Closing 
price per 
security 

on date of 
exercise 

($) 

Difference 
between exercise 
price and closing 
price on date of 

exercise 

($) 

Total 
value 

on 
exercise 

date 

($) 

Richard Smith, CEO 
and Director 

Options 500,000 0.05 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

John Ross, CFO Options 100,000 0.05 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 
15.2 Stock option plans and other incentive plans 

The Company maintains a stock option incentive plan. See “9. Options to Purchase Securities”. 

15.3 Employment and Consulting Agreements 

The Company has not entered into written employment or consulting agreements with any of its NEOs. 

15.4 Pension Disclosure 

The Company does not presently maintain a pension plan that provides for payments or benefits to any 

NEOs. 

16. Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers 

There is not as of the date of this Listing Statement, nor has there been since the Company’s inception, 

any indebtedness of any director, executive officer, senior officer, employee or any former director, 

executive officer, employee or senior officer or any associate of any of them, to or guaranteed or 

supported by the Company either pursuant to an employee stock purchase program of the Company or 

otherwise, and no such individual is or has been indebted to any other entity where the indebtedness is 

the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit, or similar arrangement or understanding 

by the Company. 

17. Risk Factors 

An investment in the Company is speculative and involves a high degree of risk. Accordingly, prospective 

investors should carefully consider the specific risk factors set out below, in addition to the other 

information contained in this document, before making any decision to invest in the Company. The Board 

considers the following risks and other factors to be the most significant for potential investors in the 

Company, but the risks listed do not necessarily comprise all those associated with an investment in the 

Company and are not set out in any particular order of priority. Additional risks and uncertainties not 

currently known to the Board may also have an adverse effect on the Company’s business. 

If any of the following risks actually occur, the Company’s business, financial condition, capital resources, 

results or future operations could be materially adversely affected. In such a case, the price of the 

Common Shares could decline and investors may lose all or part of their investment. 
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Exploration Stage Corporation 

The Company has a limited history of operations and is in the early stage of development. The Company 

is engaged in the business of acquiring and exploring mineral properties with an aim of locating economic 

deposits of minerals. Development of the Company’s properties will only follow upon obtaining 

satisfactory exploration results. There can be no assurance that the Company’s existing or future 

exploration programs will result in the discovery of commercially viable mineral deposits. Further, there 

can be no assurance that even if a deposit of minerals is located, that it can be commercially mined. 

Mineral Exploration and Development 

The exploration and development of minerals is highly speculative in nature and involves a high degree of 
financial and other risks over a significant period of time which even a combination of careful evaluation, 
experience and knowledge may not eliminate. The properties in which the Corporation has an interest, or 
the option to acquire an interest, are in the early exploration. While discovery of an orebody may result 
in significant rewards, few properties which are explored are ultimately developed into producing mines. 
Substantial expenses are required to establish ore reserves by drilling, sampling and other techniques and 
to design and construct mining and processing facilities. Whether a mineral deposit will be commercially 
viable depends on a number of factors, including the particular attributes of the deposit, such as size, 
grade, access and proximity to infrastructure, financing costs, the cyclical nature of commodity prices and 
government regulations (including those relating to prices, taxes, currency controls, royalties, land tenure, 
land use, importing and exporting of mineral products, and environmental protection). The effect of these 
factors or a combination thereof cannot be accurately predicted but could have an adverse impact on the 
Company. 

Mining Operations and Insurance 

Mining operations generally involve a high degree of risk. The Company’s operations are subject to 

all of the hazards and risks normally encountered in mineral exploration and development. Such 

risks include unusual and unexpected geological formations, seismic activity, rock bursts, cave-ins, 

water inflows and other conditions involved in the drilling and removal of material, environmental 

hazards, industrial accidents, periodic interruptions due to adverse weather conditions, labour 

disputes, political unrest and theft. The occurrence of any of the foregoing could result in damage 

to, or destruction of, mineral properties or interests, production facilities, personal injury, damage 

to life or property, environmental damage, delays or interruption of operations, increases in costs, 

monetary losses, legal liability and adverse government action. The Company does not currently 

carry insurance against these risks and there is no assurance that such insurance will be available 

in the future, or if available, at economically feasible premiums or acceptable terms. The potential 

costs associated with losses or liabilities not covered by insurance coverage may have a material 

adverse effect upon the Company’s financial condition. 

Dilution 

The financial risk of the Company’s future activities will be borne to a significant degree by purchasers of 

the Common Shares. If the Company issues Common Shares from its treasury for financing purposes, 

control of the Company may change and purchasers may suffer additional dilution. 
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No Market for Securities 

There is currently no market through which any of the Common Shares may be sold and there is no 

assurance that such securities of the Company will be listed for trading on a stock exchange, or if listed, 

will provide a liquid market for such securities. Until the Common Shares are listed on a stock exchange, 

holders of the Common Shares may not be able to sell their Common Shares. Even if a listing is obtained, 

there can be no assurance that an active public market for the Common Shares will develop or be 

sustained. The holding of Common Shares involves a high degree of risk and should be undertaken only 

by investors whose financial resources are sufficient to enable them to assume such risks and who have 

no need for immediate liquidity in their investment. Common Shares should not be purchased by persons 

who cannot afford the possibility of the loss of their entire investment. 

Negative Cash Flow from Operating Activities 

The Company has no history of earnings and had negative cash flow from operating activities since 

inception. Significant capital investment will be required to achieve commercial production from the 

Company’s existing projects. There is no assurance that the Massey Silica Project will generate earnings, 

operate profitably or provide a return on investment in the future. Accordingly, the Company will be 

required to obtain additional financing in order to meet its future cash commitments. 

Current Market Volatility 

The securities markets in the United States and Canada have recently experienced a high level of price 

and volume volatility, and the market prices of securities of many companies have experienced wide 

fluctuations in price which have not necessarily been related to the operating performance, underlying 

asset values or prospects of such companies. There can be no assurance that continual fluctuations in 

price will not occur. It may be anticipated that any market for the Common Shares will be subject to 

market trends generally, notwithstanding any potential success of the Company. The value of the 

Common Shares distributed hereunder will be affected by such volatility. 

Use of Funds 

The Company has prepared a detailed budget setting out the way in which it proposes to expend the 

funds. However, the quantum and timing of expenditure will necessarily be dependent upon receiving 

positive results from the Company’s activities on the Property. As the Company conducts its exploration 

program, it is possible that results and circumstances may dictate a departure from the pre-existing 

budget. Further, the Company may, from time to time as opportunities arise, utilise part of its financial 

resources to participate in additional opportunities that arise and fit within the Company’s broader 

objectives, as a means of advancing shareholder value. 

No Production History 

The Property is not a producing property and its ultimate success will depend on its operating ability to 

generate cash flow from producing properties in the future. The Company has not generated any revenue 

to date and there is no assurance that it will do so in the future. The Company’s business operations are 

at an early stage of development and its success will be largely dependent upon the outcome of the 

exploration programs that the Company proposes to undertake. 
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Limited Operating History 

The Company has no properties producing positive cash flow and its ultimate success will depend on its 

ability to generate cash flow from producing properties in the future. The Company has not earned profits 

to date and there is no assurance that it will do so in the future. Significant capital investment will be 

required to achieve commercial production from the Company’s existing projects. There is no assurance 

that the Company will be able to raise the required funds to continue these activities. 

Government Regulation 

The current or future operations of the Company, including exploration and development activities and 
the commencement and continuation of commercial production, require licenses, permits or other 
approvals from various federal, provincial and local governmental authorities and such operations are or 
will be governed by laws and regulations relating to prospecting, development, mining, production, 
exports, taxes, labour standards, occupational health and safety, waste disposal, toxic substances, land 
use, water use, environmental protection, land claims of indigenous people and other matters. The 
Company believes that it is in substantial compliance with all material laws and regulations which 
currently apply to its activities. There can be no assurance, however, that it will obtain on reasonable 
terms or at all the permits and approvals, and the renewals thereof, which it may require for the conduct 
of its current or future operations or that compliance with applicable laws, regulations, permits and 
approvals will not have an adverse effect on any mining project which the Company may undertake. 
Possible future environmental and mineral tax legislation, regulations and actions could cause additional 
expense, capital expenditures, restrictions and delay on the Company’s planned exploration and 
operations, the extent of which cannot be predicted. 

Failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations and permitting requirements may result in 
enforcement actions thereunder, including orders issued by regulatory or judicial authorities causing 
operations to cease or be curtailed, and may include corrective measures requiring capital expenditures, 
installation of additional equipment, or remedial actions. Parties engaged in mining operations may be 
required to compensate those suffering loss or damage by reason of the mining activities and may have 
civil or criminal fines or penalties imposed for violations of applicable laws or regulations. 

Reliance on Management and Experts 

The success of the Company will be largely dependent upon the performance of its senior management. 

The Company has not purchased any “key-man” insurance nor has it entered into any non-competition 

agreements with any of its directors, officers or key employees and has no current plans to do so. The 

Company has hired and may continue to rely upon consultants and others for geological and technical 

expertise. The Company’s current personnel may not include persons with sufficient technical expertise 

to carry out the future development of the Company’s properties. There is no assurance that suitably 

qualified personnel can be retained or will be hired for such development. 

Title to Property 

The Company has taken precautions to ensure that legal title to its property interests is properly recorded, 

however, there can be no assurance or guarantee that title has not been properly recorded or that the 

Company’s property interests may not be challenged. There can be no assurance that the Company will 

be able to secure the grant or the renewal of exploration permits or other tenures on terms satisfactory 

to it, or that governments in the jurisdictions in which the properties are situated will not revoke or 
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significantly alter such permits or other tenures or that such permits and tenures will not be challenged 

or impugned. Third parties may have valid claims underlying portions of the Company’s interests and the 

permits or tenures may be subject to prior unregistered agreements or transfers or native land claims and 

title may be affected by undetected defects. If a title defect exists, it is possible that the Company may 

lose all or part of its interest in the properties to which such defects relate. 

Competition 

The Company competes with numerous other companies and individuals possessing greater financial 

resources and technical facilities than itself in the search for, and acquisition of, mineral claims, leases and 

other mineral interests, as well as the recruitment and retention of suitably qualified individuals. 

Environmental Risks and Hazards 

All phases of the Company’s operations are subject to environmental regulation in the jurisdictions in 
which it operates. These regulations mandate, among other things, the maintenance of air and water 
quality standards and land reclamation, provide for restrictions and prohibitions on spills, releases or 
emissions of various substances produced in association with certain mining industry activities and 
operations. They also set forth limitations on the generation, transportation, storage and disposal of 
hazardous waste. A breach of such regulation may result in the imposition of fines and penalties. In 
addition, certain types of mining operations require the submission and approval of environmental impact 
assessments. Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner which will require stricter standards and 
enforcement, increased fines and penalties for non-compliance, more stringent environmental 
assessments of proposed projects and a heightened degree of responsibility for companies and their 
officers, directors and employees. The cost of compliance with changes in governmental regulations has 
a potential to reduce the viability or profitability of operations. Environmental hazards may exist on the 
properties in which the Company holds interests or on properties that will be acquired which are unknown 
to the Company at present and which have been or existing owners or operators of the properties. 

Conflicts of Interest 

Some of the Company’s directors and officers act as directors and/or officers of other mineral exploration 

companies. As such, the Company’s directors and officers may be faced with conflicts of interests when 

evaluating alternative mineral exploration opportunities. In addition, the Company’s directors and officers 

may prioritize the business affairs of another Company over the affairs of the Company. 

Volatility of Commodity Prices 

The price of the Company’s securities, its financial results and exploration, development and mining 

activities have previously been, or may in the future be, significantly adversely affected by declines in the 

price of silica and uranium. Prices fluctuate widely and are affected by numerous factors beyond the 

Company’s control such as the sale or purchase of commodities by various dealers, central banks and 

financial institutions, interest rates, exchange rates, inflation or deflation, currency exchange fluctuation, 

global and regional supply and demand; production and consumption patterns, speculative activities, 

increased production due to improved mining and production methods, government regulations relating 

to prices, taxes, royalties, land tenure, land use, importing and exporting of minerals, environmental 

protection, the degree to which a dominant producer uses its market strength to bring supply into 

equilibrium with demand, and international political and economic trends, conditions and events. The 
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prices of commodities have fluctuated widely in recent years, and future price declines could cause 

continued development of the Company’s properties to be impracticable. 

In addition to adversely affecting reserve estimates and its financial condition, declining commodity prices 

can impact operations by requiring a reassessment of the feasibility of a particular project. Such a 

reassessment may be the result of a management decision or may be required under financing 

arrangements related to a particular project. Even if the project is ultimately determined to be 

economically viable, the need to conduct such a reassessment may cause substantial delays or may 

interrupt operations until the reassessment can be completed. 

Uninsured Risks 

The Company, as a participant in exploration and mining programs, may become subject to liability for 

hazards such as unusual geological or unexpected operating conditions that cannot be insured against or 

against which it may elect not to be so insured because of high premium costs or other reasons. The 

Company is currently uninsured against all such risks as such insurance is either unavailable or 

uneconomic at this time. The Company also currently has no key man insurance or property insurance as 

such insurance is uneconomical at this time. The Company will obtain such insurance once it is available 

and, in the opinion of the Board, economical to do so. The Company may incur a liability to third parties 

(in excess of any insurance coverage) arising from pollution or other damage or injury. 

The Company is not insured against most environmental risks. Insurance against environmental risks has 

not been generally available to companies within the mining and exploration industry. Without such 

insurance, and if the Company does become subject to environmental liabilities, the costs of such 

liabilities would reduce or eliminate the Company’s available funds or could result in bankruptcy. Should 

the Company be unable to fully fund the remedial costs of an environmental problem, it may be required 

to enter into interim compliance measures pending completion of the required remedy. 

 COVID-19 

The Company’s operations could be significantly adversely affected by the effects of a widespread global 

outbreak of a contagious disease, including the recent outbreak of respiratory illness caused by COVID-

19. The Company cannot accurately predict the impact COVID-19 will have on its operations and the ability 

of others to meet their obligations with the Company, including uncertainties relating to the ultimate 

geographic spread of the virus, the severity of the disease, the duration of the outbreak, and the length 

of travel and quarantine restrictions imposed by governments of affected countries. In addition, a 

significant outbreak of contagious diseases in the human population could result in a widespread health 

crisis that could adversely affect the economies and financial markets of many countries, resulting in an 

economic downturn that could further affect the Company’s operations and ability to finance its 

operations. 

Health and Safety Risks 

A violation of health and safety laws, or the failure to comply with the instructions of relevant health and 

safety authorities, could lead to, among other things, a temporary cessation of activities on the Property 

or any part thereof, a loss of the right to prospect for minerals, or the imposition of costly compliance 

procedures. This could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s operations and/or financial 

condition. 
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Tax Issues 

Income tax consequences in relation to the securities offered will vary according to the circumstances of 

each purchaser. Prospective purchasers should seek independent advice from their own tax and legal 

advisers prior to subscribing for the securities. 

Additional Requirements for Capital 

Substantial additional financing will be required if the Company is to be successful in pursuing its ultimate 

strategy of discovering and extracting mineral resources. No assurances can be given that the Company 

will be able to raise the additional capital that it may require for its anticipated future operations. 

Commodity prices, environmental rehabilitation or restitution, revenues, taxes, transportation costs, 

capital expenditures, operating expenses, geological results and the political environment are all factors 

which will have an impact on the amount of additional capital that may be required. Any additional equity 

financing may be dilutive to investors and debt financing, if available, may involve restrictions on financing 

and operating activities. There is no assurance that additional financing will be available on terms 

acceptable to the Company, if at all. If the Company is unable to obtain additional financing as needed, it 

may be required to reduce the scope of its operations or anticipated expansion, incur financial penalties, 

or reduce or terminate its operations. 

Smaller Companies 

The share price of publicly traded smaller companies can be highly volatile. The value of the Common 

Shares may go down as well as up and, in particular, the share price may be subject to sudden and large 

falls in value given the restricted marketability of the Common Shares. 

Liquidity of the Common Shares 

Listing on the CSE should not be taken as implying that there will be a liquid market for the Common 

Shares. Thus, an investment in the Common Shares may be difficult to realise. Investors should be aware 

that the value of the Common Shares may be volatile. Investors may, on disposing of Common Shares, 

realise less than their original investment, or may lose their entire investment. The Common Shares, 

therefore, may not be suitable as a short-term investment. 

The market price of the Common Shares may not reflect the underlying value of the Company’s net assets. 

The price at which the Common Shares will be traded, and the price at which investors may realise their 

Common Shares, will be influenced by a large number of factors, some specific to the Company and its 

proposed operations, and some that may affect the sectors in which the Company operates. Such factors 

could include the performance of the Company’s operations, large purchases or sales of the Common 

Shares, liquidity or the absence of liquidity in the Common Shares, legislative or regulatory changes 

relating to the business of the Company, and general market and economic conditions. 

General 

Although management believes that the above risks fairly and comprehensibly illustrate all material risks 

facing the Company, the risks noted above do not necessarily comprise all those potentially faced by the 

Company as it is impossible to foresee all possible risks. 
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Although the directors of the Company will seek to minimise the impact of the risk factors, an investment 

in the Company should only be made by investors able to sustain a total loss of their investment. Investors 

are strongly recommended to consult a person who specialises in investments of this nature before 

making any decision to invest. 

18. Promoters 

As of the date hereof, no person or company is, or has been within the two years immediately preceding 

the date of this Listing Statement, a promoter of the Company or of a subsidiary of the Company. 

19. Legal Proceedings 

There are no legal or regulatory proceedings that the Company is or has been a party to, or that any of its 

property is or has been the subject of, and none are known to be contemplated. 

20. Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions 

Except as disclosed herein and elsewhere in this Listing Statement, no director or executive officer of the 

Company, and no associate or affiliate of the foregoing persons, has, or has had, any material interest, 

direct or indirect, in any transaction or in any proposed transaction that has materially affected or will 

materially affect the Company or any of its subsidiaries. 

21. Auditors, Transfer Agents and Registrars 

The auditors of the Company are McGovern Hurley LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, located at 

251 Consumers Road, Suite 800, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M2J 4R3. 

The transfer agent and registrar for the Common Shares is Computershare Trust Company of Canada, 

located at 100 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5J 2Y1. 

22. Material Contracts 

Except for contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business, the only contracts which have been 

entered into by the Company as of the date hereof or which will be entered into prior to the Listing and 

which are regarded presently as material are: 

1. The Option Agreement dated December 9, 2004 between the Company and Salmay or its 
successors, pursuant to which the Company acquired the option to acquire up to a 100% 
interest in the Property. See “3. General Development of the Business – 3.1. Acquisition of the 
Property”. 

2. The JV Agreement dated April 11, 2015 between the Company and Salmay, and assigned by 
Salmay to Bear Creek, to govern the parties’ relationship with respect to the Property, which 
became effective upon the Company earning the initial 65% undivided interest in the 
Property. 

All material contracts identified in this Listing Statement can be found on the Company’s SEDAR profile at 
www.sedar.com. 

http://www.sedar.com/


 

68 

 

23. Interest of Experts 

The following persons or companies whose profession or business gives authority to the report, valuation, 

statement or opinion made by the person or Company are named in this Listing Statement as having 

prepared or certified a report, valuation, statement or opinion in this Listing Statement: 

1. Brad Leonard, M.Sc., P.Geo. of Sudbury, Ontario, is an independent consulting geologist and the GIS 
Manager of Caracle Creek International Consulting Inc. and is a “qualified person” as defined in NI 
43-101 and is the Author responsible for the preparation of the Technical Report on the Property. 

2. The audited financial statements included in this Listing Statement have been subject to audit by 
McGovern Hurley LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants (“McGovern Hurley”), and their audit 
report is included herein. McGovern Hurley is independent in accordance with the CPA Code of 
Professional Conduct. 

In addition, certain legal matters relating to the CSE listing will be passed upon on behalf of the Company 

by Peterson McVicar LLP. 

None of the foregoing persons or companies have held, received or is to receive any registered or 

beneficial interests, direct or indirect, in any securities or other property of the Company or of its 

associates or affiliates when such person or company prepared the report, valuation, statement or 

opinion aforementioned or thereafter. 

24. Other Material Facts 

There are no material facts other that are not disclosed in this Listing Statement that are necessary in 

order for this Listing Statement to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the 

Company and its Securities. 

25. Financial Statements and MD&A 

Audited financial statements of the Company for the years ended September 30, 2019, September 30, 

2018 and September 30, 2017 are included in this Listing Statement, in addition to the quarterly 

statements for the nine months ended June 30, 2020 and its corresponding management’s discussion and 

analysis are provided as follows: 

Schedule A The interim financial statements and MD&A of the Company for the period ending June 

30, 2020; 

Schedule B The audited financial statements and MD&A of the Company for the period ending 

September 30, 2019;  

Schedule C The audited financial statements and MD&A of the Company for the period ending 

September 30, 2018; and 

Schedule D The audited financial statements and MD&A of the Company for the period ending 

September 30, 2017. 
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CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 

Pursuant to a resolution duly passed by its Board of Directors, Buccaneer Gold Corp., hereby applies for 

the listing of the above mentioned securities on the CSE. The foregoing contains full, true and plain 

disclosure of all material information relating to (full legal name of the Company). It contains no untrue 

statement of a material fact and does not omit to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that 

is necessary to prevent a statement that is made from being false or misleading in light of the 

circumstances in which it was made. 

Dated at Toronto, Ontario 

This 25th day of January, 2021. 

(signed) “Richard Smith” (signed) “John Ross” 

Richard Smith 
Chief Executive Officer 

John Ross 
Chief Financial Officer 

(signed) “Peter M. Clausi” (signed) “J. Birks Bovaird” 

Peter M. Clausi 
Director 

J. Birks Bovaird
Director
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Audited financial statements of the Company for the years ended September 30, 2019, September 30, 

2018 and September 30, 2017 are included in this Listing Statement, in addition to the quarterly 

statements for the nine months ended June 30, 2020 and its corresponding management’s discussion and 

analysis. 
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(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS) 

 

(UNAUDITED) 

 

Notice to Reader 

 

 

The accompanying unaudited condensed interim financial statements of Buccaneer Gold Corp. (the "Company") have 

been prepared by and are the responsibility of management. The unaudited condensed interim financial statements 

have not been reviewed by the Company's auditors. 
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BUCCANEER GOLD CORP. 
INTERIM CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS) 
(UNAUDITED) 

 
   

Notes 

June 30, 

2020 

$ 

Sept. 30, 

2019 

$ 

ASSETS     

CURRENT      

    Cash and cash equivalents   316,219 398,185 

    Amounts receivable   5,092 5,066 

       

TOTAL ASSETS   321,311 403,251 

     

LIABILITIES     

CURRENT LIABILITIES     

    Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  8 44,899 50,349 

     

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY     

CAPITAL STOCK   6 (b) 7,674,830 7,674,830 

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT RESERVE  6 (c) 26,621 26,621 

DEFICIT   (7,425,039) (7,348,549) 

     

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY   276,412 352,902 

     

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY   321,311     403,251 

     

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN  1   

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS  5, 7   

     

APPROVED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD 

 
"Birks Bovaird"                           Director 

 

"Rick Smith"                          Director 

 

 

 

 

 

 

See the accompanying notes to the financial statements  
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BUCCANEER GOLD CORP. 
INTERIM CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS) 
(UNAUDITED) 

 

  Three Months Ended 

June 30, 

Nine Months Ended 

June 30, 

 Notes               2020 

             $ 

        2019 

       $ 

2020 

$ 

2019 

$ 

EXPENSES      

      

Exploration and evaluation expenditures 4, 6 - - - - 

    General and administrative 7, 8 48,510 26,975 81,989 87,306 

    Share-based payments 5(c) - - - - 

    (Gain) Loss on foreign exchange  313 1,350 (2,011) (873) 

      

Loss before other income  (48,823) (28,325) (79,978) 86,306 

     Interest income  435 1,577 3,488 5,301 

      

NET LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE PERIOD (48,388) (26,748) (76,490) (81,132) 

      

NET LOSS PER SHARE - Basic and diluted  (0.002) (0.001) (0.002) (0.003) 

      

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES 

OUTSTANDING - Basic and diluted 

  

31,102,667 

 

31,102,667 

 

31,102,667 

 

31,102,667 

      

      

      

 

 

 

 

 

See the accompanying notes to the financial statements  
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BUCCANEER GOLD CORP. 
INTERIM CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS) 
(UNAUDITED) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

See the accompanying notes to the financial statements 
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Share-based 

 

 Capital Capital Payment   
 Stock 

 
Stock Reserve (Deficit) Total 

 # $ $ $ $ 

      
      

BALANCE, SEPTEMBER 30, 2018 31,021,667 7,674,830 26,621 (7,246,665) 454,786 
Loss and comprehensive loss - - - (81,132) (81,132) 
      
BALANCE, JUNE 30, 2019 31,021,667 7,674,830 26,621 (7,327,797) 373,654 

Loss and comprehensive loss - - - (20,752) (20,752) 
      
BALANCE, SEPTEMBER 30, 2019 31,021,667 7,674,830 26,621 (7,348,549) 352,902 

Loss and comprehensive loss - - - (76,490) (76,490) 
      
BALANCE, JUNE 30, 2020 31,021,667 7,674,830 26,621 (7,425,039) 276,412 

      



 

 

 

BUCCANEER GOLD CORP. 
INTERIM CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS) 
FOR THE PERIODS ENDED JUNE 30,   

 

 Nine Months Ended 

June 30, 

 2020 

$ 

2019 

$ 

   

CASH FLOWS USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES   

    Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year   (76,490)   (81,132) 

        Changes not involving cash:   

       Unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain)  (2,011) (873) 

 (78,501) (56,607) 

    Changes in non-cash components of working capital   

        Decrease (increase) in amounts receivable (26) 4,756 

        (Decrease) increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (5,450) (5,064) 

Cash flow used in operating activities (83,977) (82,313) 

   

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash  2,011 873 

   

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents for the year (81,966) (81,440) 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of the year 398,185     499,539     

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of the year 316,219     418,099     

   

Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of:   

Cash 16,260 16,540 

Cash equivalents 299,959 401,559 

 316,219 418,099 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

See the accompanying notes to the financial statements  
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Notes to Interim Condensed Financial Statements 

Nine months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 
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(Unaudited) 
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN  

 

 Buccaneer Gold Corp. (the “Company” or “Buccaneer”), is engaged in the acquisition, exploration 

and evaluation of a mineral property, and is actively pursuing other potential opportunities. The 

Company has operations in Canada. The Company’s head office is located at 82 Richmond Street 

East, Suite 308, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5C 1P1. The Company has delisted from the TSX Venture 

Exchange (“TSX-V”) and has applied for a listing on another Canadian stock exchange.   

 

 These financial statements of the Company were approved and authorized for issue by the Board 

of Directors (the “Board”) on July 29, 2020.  

 

 On December 12, 2018, the Company announced its intention to pursue a business opportunity in 

the United States cannabis market.  On March 11, 2019, the Company announced the termination 

of the negotiation. 

 

Before that time, the Company was in the process of conducting exploration on its property to 

identify mineral resources and had not yet determined whether the property contained 

economically recoverable reserves. The business of mining and exploring for minerals involves a 

high degree of risk and there can be no assurance that exploration programs would result in 

profitable mining operations. The Company’s continued existence as an exploration company is 

dependent upon the preservation of its interest in the underlying property, the discovery of 

economically recoverable reserves, the ability of the Company to obtain necessary financing to 

complete planned exploration programs, the achievement of profitable operations or, alternatively, 

upon the Company’s ability to dispose of its property interests on an advantageous basis.  

 

 Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to the property on which it is conducting 

exploration and in which it has an interest, in accordance with industry practice for the current 

stage of exploration of such properties, these procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title. 

Property title may be subject to unregistered prior agreements or non-compliance with regulatory 

or social licencing requirements. The Company’s assets may also be subject to increases in taxes 

and royalties, renegotiation of contracts, currency exchange fluctuations and restrictions and 

political uncertainty.  

 

 These financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting principles applicable to 

a going concern, which assume that the Company will continue in operation for the foreseeable 

future and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of 

operations as they come due. The Company has no current revenues or cash flows from operations 

and has working capital of $276,412 as at June 30, 2020 (September 30, 2019 - $352,902). 
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Management believes it will be successful in raising the necessary funds to continue in the normal 

course of operations or effecting a corporate transaction; however, there is no assurance that these 

funds will be available on terms acceptable to the Company or at all, or that a corporate transaction 

will be effected. These consolidated financial statements do not include the adjustments that would 

be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. Such adjustments 

could be material.  

 

2.  STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE  

 

 The Company applies International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the 

International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations 

Committee ("IFRIC"). These interim condensed financial statements have been prepared in 

accordance with International Accounting Standard 34, Interim Financial Reporting. Accordingly, 

they do not include all of the information required for full annual financial statements required by 

IFRS as issued by the IASB. The policies applied in these unaudited interim condensed financial 

statements are based on IFRS issued and outstanding as of July 29, 2020, the date the Board of 

Directors approved the statements. The same accounting policies and methods of computation are 

followed in these interim condensed financial statements as compared with the most recent annual 

consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended September 30, 2019. Any 

subsequent changes to IFRS that are given effect in the Company’s annual financial statements for 

the year ending September 30, 2020 could result in restatement of these interim condensed 

financial statements. 

 

3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION  

 

 Basis of consolidation  

 

 These interim condensed financial statements include the accounts of Buccaneer Gold Corp. and its 

wholly owned subsidiary Buccaneer Gold (Ghana) Limited (from September 1, 2011), which became 

inactive in 2017. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated upon 

consolidation.  

 

 Subsidiaries are those entities which Buccaneer controls. Control exists when the Company is 

exposed or has rights to the variable returns of the subsidiary and has the ability to affect those 

returns through its power over the subsidiary. Power is defined as existing rights that give the 

Company the ability to direct the relevant activities of the subsidiary. Subsidiaries are fully 

consolidated from the date on which control is obtained by the Company and are de-consolidated 

from the date that control ceases.  
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 Basis of measurement  

 

 These interim condensed financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis. 

In addition, these interim condensed financial statements have been prepared using the accrual 

basis of accounting, except for cash flow information.  

 

4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

 

 Outlined below are those policies considered particularly significant:  

 

 (a)  Cash and cash equivalents  

 

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and money market funds, with original maturities 

of less than 90 days. The money market funds are held with a Canadian chartered bank or a 

Canadian financial institution.  

 

 (b)  Property and equipment  

 

 Property and equipment are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses. The cost of an item of property or equipment consists of the purchase price, any 

costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for its 

intended use and an initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring 

the site on which it is located.  

 

 Depreciation is recognized based on the cost of an item of equipment, less its estimated residual 

value, over its estimated useful life over the following periods:  

 

  Buildings  Straight-line over 25 years  

  Equipment  Straight-line over 5 years  

 

 An asset's residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if 

appropriate, on an annual basis.  

 

 (c)  Exploration and evaluation expenditures  

 

 The Company expenses exploration and evaluation expenditures as incurred. Exploration and 

evaluation expenditures include acquisition costs of mineral properties, property option payments 

and evaluation activity.  
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 Once a project has been established as commercially viable and technically feasible, related 

development expenditures are capitalized. This includes costs incurred in preparing the site for 

mining operations. Capitalization ceases when the mine is capable of commercial production, with 

the exception of development costs that give rise to a future benefit.  

 

 (d)  Restoration, rehabilitation and environmental obligations  

 

 A legal or constructive obligation to incur restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs may 

arise when environmental disturbance is caused by the exploration, development or ongoing 

production of a mineral property interest. Such costs are discounted to their net present value using 

a risk-free rate and are provided for and charged to operations, as soon as the obligation to incur 

such costs arises. Discount rates using a pre-tax rate that reflects the time value of money are used 

to calculate the net present value. The related liability is adjusted for each period for the unwinding 

of the discount rate and for changes to the current market-based discount rate, amount or timing 

of the underlying cash flows needed to settle the obligation.  

 

 The Company had no material restoration, rehabilitation and environmental obligations at June 30, 

2020 or September 30, 2019.  

 

 (e)  Income taxes  

 

 Income tax on the profit or loss for the years presented comprises current and deferred tax. Income 

tax is recognized in the statement of operations except to the extent that it relates to items 

recognized directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in equity.  

 

 Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 

enacted or substantively enacted at period end, adjusted for amendments to tax payable with 

regards to previous years.  

 

 In general, deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences arising between the tax 

bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements unless such 

differences arise from goodwill or the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of 

other assets or liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting 

profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined on a non-discounted basis using tax rates and laws 

that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date and are 

expected to apply when the deferred tax asset or liability is settled. Deferred tax assets are 

recognized to the extent that it is probable that the assets can be recovered.  
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 Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries 

and associates, except, in the case of subsidiaries, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary 

difference is controlled by the Company and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 

reverse in the foreseeable future.  

 

 Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are presented as non-current. Deferred tax assets and 

liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 

current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority 

and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.  

 

 (f)  Share-based payment transactions  

 

 Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are 

measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date. The fair value is measured 

at grant date and each tranche is recognized on a graded-vesting basis over the period in which the 

options vest. The offset to the recorded cost is to share-based payment reserve. Consideration 

received on the exercise of stock options is recorded as share capital and the related share-based 

payment reserve is transferred to share capital. Upon expiry, the recorded value is transferred to 

deficit.  

 

 At the end of each reporting period, the Company revises its estimate of the number of equity 

instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is 

recognized in the statement of operations such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised 

estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based payment reserve. Where the terms 

and conditions of options are modified, the increase in the fair value of the options, measured 

immediately before and after the modification, is also charged to the statement of operations.  

 

 Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured 

at the fair value of the goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated 

reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, 

measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service.  

 

 (g)  Flow-through financing  

 

 The Company finances a portion of its exploration activities through the issue of flow-through 

shares, which transfers the tax deductibility of exploration expenditures to the investor. The 

Company has adopted a policy whereby flow-through proceeds are allocated between the offering 

of the common shares and the sale of tax benefits when the common shares are offered. The 
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allocation is made based on the difference between the quoted price of the common shares and 

the amount the investor pays for the flow-through shares. A liability is recognized for the premium 

paid by the investors and is then derecognized in the period of renunciation. The recognition of a 

deferred income tax liability upon renunciation of the flow through expenditures is recorded as 

income tax expense in the period of renunciation. Any difference between the amount of the 

liability component derecognized and deferred income tax liability recognized is recorded in the 

consolidated statement of operations. As at June 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019, the Company 

has no outstanding flow-through obligations.  

 

 (h)  Loss per common share  

 

 Basic loss per share is calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding. The 

diluted loss per share assumes that any proceeds from the exercise of dilutive stock options and 

warrants would be used to repurchase common shares at the average market price during the 

period, with the incremental number of shares being included in the denominator of the diluted 

loss per share calculation. The diluted loss per share calculation excludes any potential conversion 

of options and warrants that would decrease loss per share. See Notes 6(c), and (d) for details on 

the Company’s potentially dilutive securities. All of the Company’s outstanding stock options were 

anti-dilutive for the periods ended June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019.  

 

  (i)  Use of estimates  

 

 The preparation of these consolidated financial statements under IFRS requires management to 

make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions about future events that affect the amounts 

reported in the financial statements and related notes to the financial statements. Although these 

estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the amount, event or actions, actual 

results may differ from those estimates and these differences could be material.  

 

 The areas which require management to make significant judgements, estimates and assumptions 

in determining carrying values include, but are not limited to:  

 

• Estimation of restoration, rehabilitation and environmental obligations  

Restoration, rehabilitation and environmental liabilities are estimated based on the 

Company’s interpretation of current regulatory requirements and constructive obligations 

and are measured at fair value. Fair value is determined based on the net present value of 

estimated future cash expenditures for the settlement of restoration, rehabilitation and 

environmental liabilities that may occur upon ceasing exploration and evaluation activities. 
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Such estimates are subject to change based on changes in laws and regulations and 

negotiations with regulatory authorities.  

 

• Income, value added, withholding and other taxes   

The Company is subject to income, value added, withholding and other taxes. Significant 

judgment is required in determining the Company’s provisions for taxes. There are many 

transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during 

the ordinary course of business. The Company recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit 

issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. The determination of the 

Company’s income, value added, withholding and other tax liabilities requires 

interpretation of complex laws and regulations. The Company’s interpretation of taxation 

law as applied to transactions and activities may not coincide with the interpretation of the 

tax authorities. All tax related filings are subject to government audit and potential 

reassessment subsequent to the financial statement reporting period. Where the final tax 

outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such 

differences will impact the tax related accruals and deferred income tax provisions in the 

period in which such determination is made. 

 

• Share-based payments  

Management determines costs for share-based payments using market-based valuation 

techniques. The fair value of the market-based and performance-based share awards is 

determined at the date of grant using generally accepted valuation techniques. 

Assumptions are made and judgment used in applying valuation techniques. These 

assumptions and judgments include estimating the future volatility of the stock price, 

expected dividend yield, future employee turnover rates and future employee stock option 

exercise behaviours and Company performance. Such judgments and assumptions are 

inherently uncertain. Changes in these assumptions affect the fair value estimates.  

 

• Environmental  

Management believes its operations are in material compliance with all applicable laws and 

regulations. The Company has made, and expects to make in the future, expenditures to 

comply with such laws and regulations. Management is required to estimate the cost of 

compliance when laws change. 
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(j)  Financial assets and liabilities  

 

Financial assets 

 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Non-derivative financial assets within the scope of IFRS 9 are classified and measured as “financial 

assets at fair value”, as either fair value through profit and loss (“FVPL”) or fair value through other 

comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), and “financial assets at amortized costs”, as appropriate. The 

Company determines the classification of financial assets at the time of initial recognition based on 

the Company’s business model and the contractual terms of the cash flows. 

 

All financial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not at 

FVPL, directly attributable transaction costs on the trade date at which the Company becomes a 

party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining their 

classification at FVPL or at amortized cost. Other amounts receivable held for collection of 

contractual cash flows are measured at amortized cost. 

 

Subsequent measurement – financial assets at amortized cost 

After initial recognition, financial assets measured at amortized cost are subsequently measured at 

the end of each reporting period at amortized cost using the Effective Interest Rate (“EIR”) method. 

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and any 

fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included in interest income 

in the consolidated statements of operations. 

 

Subsequent measurement – financial assets at FVPL 

Financial assets measured at FVPL include financial assets management intends to sell in the short 

term and any derivative financial instrument that is not designated as a hedging instrument in a 

hedge relationship. Financial assets measured at FVPL are carried at fair value in the consolidated 

statements of financial position with changes in fair value recognized in other income or expense 

in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company does not measure any financial assets 

at FVPL. 

 

Subsequent measurement – financial assets at FVOCI 

Financial assets measured at FVOCI are non-derivative financial assets that are not held for trading 

and the Company has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to measure the 

assets at FVOCI. The Company does not measure any financial assets at FVOCI. 
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After initial measurement, investments measured at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value 

with unrealized gains or losses recognized in other comprehensive income or loss in the 

consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss). When the investment is sold, the 

cumulative gain or loss remains in accumulated other comprehensive income or loss and is not 

reclassified to profit or loss. 

 

Dividends from such investments are recognized in other income in the consolidated statements of 

earnings (loss) when the right to receive payments is established. 

 

Derecognition 

A financial asset is derecognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, 

or the Company no longer retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 

 

Impairment of financial assets 

The Company’s only financial assets subject to impairment are amounts receivable, which are 

measured at amortized cost. The Company has elected to apply the simplified approach to 

impairment as permitted by IFRS 9, which requires the expected lifetime loss to be recognized at 

the time of initial recognition of the receivable. To measure estimated credit losses, accounts 

receivable have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics, including the number of 

days past due. An impairment loss is reversed in subsequent periods if the amount of the expected 

loss decreases and the decrease can be objectively related to an event occurring after the initial 

impairment was recognized. 

 

Financial liabilities 

 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost, unless they are required to be measured at 

FVPL as is the case for held for trading or derivative instruments, or the Company has opted to 

measure the financial liability at FVPL. The Company’s financial liabilities include accounts payable 

and accrued liabilities, which are measured at amortized cost.  All financial liabilities are recognized 

initially at fair value and in the case of long-term debt, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

 

Subsequent measurement – financial liabilities at amortized cost 

After initial recognition, financial liabilities measured at amortized cost are subsequently measured 

at the end of each reporting period at amortized cost using the EIR method. Amortized cost is 

calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and any fees or costs that 

are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included in finance cost in the consolidated 

statements of operations. 
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Derecognition 

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled 

or expires with any associated gain or loss recognized in other income or expense in the 

consolidated statements of loss. 

 

 Impairment of financial assets:  

 Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. 

Financial assets are impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more 

events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial assets, the estimated future cash 

flows of the financial assets have been negatively impacted.  

 

 Financial instruments recorded at fair value:  

 Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the consolidated statements of financial position 

are classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making 

the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:  

 

 Level 1 - valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities;  

 Level 2 - valuation techniques based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are 

observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from 

prices); and  

 Level 3 - valuation techniques using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable 

market data (unobservable inputs).  

  

 (k)  Translation of foreign currencies and foreign subsidiary  

 

 The functional and reporting currency of the Company and its subsidiary is the Canadian dollar. 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the currency of measurement at the exchange 

rates in effect on the transaction date. Monetary items on the consolidated statement of financial 

position, expressed in foreign currencies, are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rates 

in effect at the reporting date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in 

a foreign currency are not retranslated at the reporting date.  Depreciation is translated on the 

same basis as the related asset. The resulting exchange gains or losses are recognized in operations 

in the period in which they arise.  
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 (l)  Provisions  

 

 A provision is recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 

result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle 

the obligation, and the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated. If the effect is material, 

provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that 

reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks 

specific to the liability.  

 

 A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the expected benefits to be derived by the 

Company from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the 

contract.  

 

 (m)  Recent Accounting Pronouncements and Accounting Changes 

 

Effective October 1, 2018, the Company adopted IFRS 9, Financial Instruments which resulted in 

changes in accounting policies as described in Note 4(j). In accordance with the transitional 

provisions in the standard, the Company adopted this standard retrospectively without restating 

comparatives, with the cumulative impact adjusted in the opening balances as at October 1, 2018. 

There were no effects on opening balances at October 1, 2018 with respect to the adoption of this 

policy. 

 

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments 

IFRS 9 replaces International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition 

and Measurement. IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification, measurement and 

impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting. It establishes two primary measurement 

categories for financial assets: (i) amortized cost and (ii) FVPL or FVOCI; establishes criteria for the 

classification of financial assets within each measurement category based on business model and 

cash flow characteristics; and eliminates the existing held for trading, held to maturity, available for 

sale, loans and receivable and other financial liabilities categories. IFRS 9 also introduces a new 

expected credit loss model for the purpose of assessing the impairment of financial assets and 

requires that there be a demonstrated economic relationship between the hedged item and 

hedging instrument. 

 

The following table shows the previous classification under IAS 39 and the new classification under 

IFRS 9 for the Company’s financial instruments: 
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      Financial instrument classification 

 Under IAS 39 Under IFRS 9 

Financial assets   

Cash and cash equivalents Loans and receivables Amortized cost 

Amounts receivable Loans and receivables Amortized cost 

   

Financial liabilities   

Accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities 

Other financial 

liabilities 

Amortized cost 

 

The Company adopted IFRS 9 retrospectively without restating comparatives and therefore the 

comparative information in respect of financial instruments for the year ended September 30, 2018 

was accounted for in accordance with the Company’s previous accounting policy under IAS 39. 

 

Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been issued by 

the IASB or IFRIC that are mandatory for accounting periods beginning after October 1, 2019, or 

later periods. The following have not yet been adopted and are being evaluated to determine their 

impact on the Company.  

 

IFRIC 23 – Uncertainty Over Income Tax Treatments (“IFRIC 23”) was issued in June 2017 and 

clarifies the accounting for uncertainties in income taxes.  The interpretation committee concluded 

that an entity shall consider whether it is probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain 

tax treatment. If an entity concludes it is probable that the taxation authority will accept an 

uncertain tax treatment, then the entity shall determine taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused 

tax losses and credits or tax rates consistently with the tax treatment used or planned to be used 

in its income tax filings.  If an entity concludes it is not probable that the taxation authority will 

accept an uncertain tax treatment, the entity shall reflect the effect of uncertainty in determining 

the related taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses and credits or tax rates.  IFRIC 23 

is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019.  

 

5.  EXPLORATION PROPERTIES, EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURES  

 

 Massey Silica Project (the “Massey Project”)  

 

 On December 9, 2004, the Company entered into an option agreement with Salmay Resources Inc. 

(“Salmay”) or its successors to earn up to a 100% interest in six mining claims located in May and 

Salter Townships, Ontario. The Company earned an initial 65% undivided interest by paying a cash 

consideration of $100,000 and incurring $300,000 in exploration expenditures. To earn a further 
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15% interest, the Company must pay cash consideration of $100,000 and fund all permitting and 

licensing costs necessary to commence commercial production on the claims. The remaining 20% 

interest can be earned by paying cash consideration of $100,000 following the commencement of 

commercial production from the claims. This project is subject to a 3% net smelter return royalty 

(“NSR”), 2% of which may be purchased by the Company for $3,000,000. The Company believes the 

property continues to have merit.    

  

6.  CAPITAL STOCK  

 

 The capital stock is as follows:  

 

 (a)        Authorized  

           Unlimited number of common shares with no par value  

           Unlimited number of Class A special shares  

           Unlimited number of Class B special shares  

 

 (b)        Issued  

 

 Common Shares Amount 
 # $ 

June 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019 31,021,667 7,674,830 

 

(c)  Stock Options  

 

The Company has a 10% rolling stock option plan (“Plan”) which provides that incentive-

based stock options may be granted, at the Board’s discretion, to a quantity not to exceed 

10% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company at the time of granting.  The Plan 

requires annual shareholder approval. The Plan was renewed at the April 12, 2017 

Shareholders' Meeting. 
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A summary of changes in the stock options is as follows:  

 

 Nine months ended June 30, 2020 Nine months ended June 30, 2019 

   
Stock  

Options 

Weighted 
Average Exercise 

Price 

  
Stock  

Options 

Weighted 
Average Exercise 

Price 
 # $ # $ 

Balance, beginning of year 1,950,000 0.05 1,950,000 0.05 
Expired - - - - 

Balance, end of period 1,950,000 0.05 1,950,000 0.05 

 

No stock options were granted in the periods ended June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019.  Since 

all previous stock options had fully vested at the beginning of the year, there was no stock 

option expense in the periods ended June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019. 

 

 The following stock options to purchase common shares of the Company were outstanding 

as at June 30, 2020:  

 

Date of 
Grant 

Expiry 
Date 

Options 
Issued 

Options 
Exercisable 

Exercise 
Price 

  # # $ 

Nov. 1, 2015 Nov. 1, 2020 200,000 200,000 0.05 
Sept.12, 2016 Sept. 12, 2021 1,750,000 1,750,000 0.05 

  1,950,000 1,950,000  

     
 The weighted average remaining contractual life of issued and outstanding stock options as 

at June 30, 2020 is 1.1 years (September 30, 2019 – 1.9 years) and the weighted average 

exercise price of options exercisable was $0.05 (September 30, 2019 - $0.05).  

 

(d)  Warrants  

 

 As of June 30, 2020, and September 30, 2019 there were no outstanding warrants to 

purchase common shares of the Company.  

 

7.  CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 

 

 Environmental contingencies  

 

 The Company’s exploration activities are subject to various laws and regulations governing 

the protection of the environment. These laws and regulations are continually changing and 

generally becoming more restrictive. The Company believes its operations are in material 
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compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. The Company has made, and expects to 

make in the future, expenditures to comply with such laws and regulations.  

 

8.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

 

 Related parties include directors, officers, close family members, certain consultants and 

enterprises that are controlled by these individuals as well as certain persons performing 

similar functions.  

 

 In accordance with IAS 24, key management personnel are those persons having authority 

and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company 

directly or indirectly, including any directors (executive and non-executive) of the Company. 

Remuneration of directors and key management personnel of the Company for the nine-

month periods ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 was:  

 

 Nine Months Ended 
June 30, 

 2020 2019 
 $ $ 

Management fees 11,250 15,000 
Director fees 18,000 16,000 
Share-based payments - - 

Total 29,250 31,000 

 

 As at June 30, 2020, $30,000 (September 30, 2019 - $30,000) is held in accrued liabilities and 

accounts payable relating to a potential liability to a prior director and officer of the 

Company.   The Company originally entered into a settlement agreement with the prior 

director and officer.  However, the Company subsequently believes that the former director 

and officer may not have fulfilled the conditions of the settlement.   The Company intends to 

defend against collection of this balance, if required. 

 

 All amounts due to related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing and payable on 

demand.  

  

9.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK FACTORS  

 

 International financial reporting standards require that the Company disclose information 

about the fair value of its financial assets and liabilities. Fair value estimates are made at the 

reporting date, based on relevant market information and information about the financial 
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instrument. These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties in significant 

matters of judgment and therefore cannot be determined with precision. Changes in 

assumptions could significantly affect these estimates.  

 

 Fair value measurements are classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the 

significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. At June 30, 2020 and September 

30, 2019, the Company has no financial instruments carried at fair value to classify in the fair 

value hierarchy.  

 

 As at June 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019, carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, 

amounts receivable, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the statement of 

financial position approximate fair market value because of the limited term of these 

instruments.  

 

 The Company's risk exposures and the impact on the Company's financial instruments are 

summarized below. There have been no changes in the risks, objectives, policies and 

procedures from previous periods.  

 

 (a)   Credit Risk  

  

 The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and cash equivalents. The 

Company has no significant concentration of credit risk arising from operations. Management 

believes that the credit risk concentration with respect to cash and cash equivalents, and 

financial instruments included in amounts receivable is remote.  

 

  (b)  Liquidity Risk  

 

 The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient 

liquidity to meet its obligations when due. At June 30, 2020, the Company had cash and cash 

equivalents of $316,219 (September 30, 2019 - $398,185) available to settle current liabilities 

of $44,900 (September 30, 2019 - $50,349). Of the Company’s accounts payable $14,900 

have contractual maturities of less than 30 days and are subject to normal trade terms. The 

remaining $30,000 of the accounts payable relates to an accrued balance against a legal 

settlement with a previous officer and director (see Note 8).  

 

 (c)   Market Risk  

 

 The Company is exposed to the following market risks:  



BUCCANEER GOLD CORP. 
Notes to Interim Condensed Financial Statements 

Nine months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

(Unaudited) 

 

21 
 

  (i)  Interest Rate Risk  

 

  The Company has cash and cash equivalents balances and no variable interest-bearing 

debt. The Company’s current policy is to invest excess cash in investment-grade short-

term deposit certificates issued by banking institutions. The Company periodically 

monitors the investments it makes and is satisfied with the credit ratings of its banks.  

 

 (ii)  Foreign Exchange Risk  

 

 The Company’s functional currency is the Canadian dollar, but major purchases are 

transacted in Canadian dollars and United States dollars. As at June 30, 2020, the 

Company holds a foreign currency balance of US$7,407 ($10,507) (September 30, 2019 – 

US$48,578 ($64,333)) included in cash which is subject to foreign currency risk.  

 

 (iii)  Price Risk  

 

 The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. The Company 

closely monitors commodity prices to determine the appropriate course of action to be 

taken by the Company.  

 

 (d)   Sensitivity Analysis  

 

 The Company holds balances in United States dollars that give rise to foreign exchange risk. 

Based on management’s knowledge and experience of the financial markets, the Company 

does not believe there would be any material movements as a result of changes in interest 

rates. A 10% change in the Canadian dollar exchange rate as at June 30, 2020 compared to 

these currencies, with all other variables held constant, would impact the Company’s net loss 

by less than $4,000.  

 

10.  INCOME TAXES  

 

This note has not been updated from September 30, 2019. 

 

11.  CAPITAL MANAGEMENT  

 

 The Company considers its capital to consist of shareholders’ equity. The Company manages 

its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the 

Company, in order to support the acquisition, exploration and evaluation of mineral 
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properties. The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria 

for management, but rather relies on the expertise of the Company’s management to sustain 

future development of the business.  

 

 The property in which the Company currently has an interest is in the exploration stage; as 

such the Company is dependent on external financing to fund its activities. In order to carry 

out the planned exploration and pay administrative costs, the Company will spend its existing 

working capital and raise additional amounts as needed. The Company will continue to assess 

new properties and seek to acquire an interest in additional properties if it feels there is 

sufficient geological or economic potential and if it has adequate financial resources to do so. 

Alternatively, the Company will pursue corporate transactions to the benefit of shareholders. 

 

 Management reviews its capital management approach on an on-going basis and believes 

that this approach, given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable. There were no 

significant changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the periods 

ended June 30, 2020. The Company and its subsidiary are not currently subject to externally 

imposed capital requirements.  

 

12.  GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE  

 Nine Months Ended 
June 30, 

 2020 2019 
 $ $ 
Management fees (Note 8) 11,250 15,000 
Directors' fees (Note 8) 18,000 16,000 
Filing and transfer agent fees 10,085 28,046 
Professional fees  24,696 22,920 
Office and administration  17,958 5,340 
 81,989 87,306 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

For the Nine-Month Period Ended June 30, 2020 

  

Introduction 

 

The following interim Management Discussion & Analysis (“Interim MD&A”) of Buccaneer Gold Corp. 

(“Buccaneer” or the “Company”) for the nine months ended June 30, 2020 has been prepared to provide 

material updates to the business operations, liquidity and capital resources of the Company since its last 

management discussion & analysis, being the Management Discussion & Analysis (“Annual MD&A”) for 

the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019.  

 

This Interim MD&A has been prepared in compliance with section 2.2.1 of Form 51-102F1, in accordance 

with National Instrument 51-102 – Continuous Disclosure Obligations. This discussion should be read in 

conjunction with the Company’s Annual MD&A, audited annual consolidated financial statements for the 

years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, together with the notes thereto, and unaudited condensed 

interim financial statements for the nine months ended June 30, 2020, together with the notes thereto. 

Results are reported in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted. The Company’s financial statements and 

the financial information contained in this Interim MD&A are prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and 

interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee. The unaudited interim condensed financial 

statements have been prepared in accordance with International Standard 34, Interim Financial 

Reporting. Accordingly, information contained herein is presented as of August 18, 2020, unless otherwise 

indicated.  

 

For the purposes of preparing this Interim MD&A, management, in conjunction with the Board of 

Directors (the “Board”), considers the materiality of information. Information is considered material if: (i) 

such information results in, or would reasonably be expected to result in, a significant change in the 

market price or value of Buccaneer’s common shares; (ii) there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable 

investor would consider it important in making an investment decision; or (iii) it would significantly alter 

the total mix of information available to investors. Management, in conjunction with the Board, evaluates 

materiality with reference to all relevant circumstances, including potential market sensitivity.  
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The Company is a reporting issuer in Ontario, British Columbia and Alberta. The Company has delisted 

from the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSX-V”) and is in the process of applying for a listing on another 

Canadian stock exchange.  

 

Additional Information 

 

Additional information relating to the Company is on the System for Electronic Document Analysis and 

Retrieval (“SEDAR”) at www.sedar.com.  

 

Business Overview and Corporate Update  

 

Description of the Business  

 

The Company is a mineral exploration company engaged in the acquisition, exploration and development 

of mineral properties. The Company is incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario and during 

2018, closed its inactive wholly-owned subsidiary, Buccaneer Gold (Ghana) Limited (“Buccaneer Ghana”).  

 

On December 12, 2018, the Company announced its intention to pursue a business opportunity in the 

United States.  On March 11, 2019, the Company announced the termination of the negotiation. 

 

Corporate Update and Outlook  

 

On December 12, 2018, the Company entered a binding letter of intent with a company carrying on 

business in the cannabis market in the United States of America, with the goal to reach a definitive 

agreement and ultimately effect a business combination.  On March 11, 2019, the Company announced 

the termination of the negotiation. 

 

To accommodate the transaction the Company was to migrate the listing for its shares from the TSX 

Venture Exchange to another Canadian exchange.  The Company will continue with this process. 

 

Overview of Business  

 

The Massey Project  

 

On December 9, 2004, the Company entered into the Option Agreement with Salmay Resources Inc. or its 

successors or permitted assigns (“Salmay”), pursuant to which Salmay granted to the Company an option 

to acquire up to a 100% interest in the Property for the mining of silica. The Company earned an initial 

65% undivided interest by paying a cash consideration of $100,000 and incurring $300,000 in exploration 

expenditures. To earn a 100% interest, the Company must pay further cash consideration of $200,000 and 

place the property into production.  In the event that the Company earns a 100% undivided interest in the 

Property, Salmay shall have the right to be paid a 3% net smelter return royalty (“NSR”). The Company 
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will have the right, but not the obligation, at any time, to purchase two (2) percentage points of the NSR 

by payment of $3,000,000 to Salmay. 

 

The Massey property is comprised of 6 unpatented, contiguous mining claims containing 8 units and 

covering 128 hectares near Sudbury, Ontario approximately 7 kilometres north of Massey, Ontario. The 

mineral of economic interest in the Massey Project is quartz (SiO2 – silica) which occurs in a large 

northwest-southeast-trending deposit produced by silica-flooding and quartz veining. The deposit has 

been mapped over a strike length of approximately 1,750 metres and occurs in three zones, the Eastern 

Zone, the Central Zone and the Western Zone. The deposit dips steeply north and in the Western Zone is 

from 10 metres to 15 metres wide while in the Central and Eastern Zones the width varies from 10 metres 

to 70 metres. A drilling program by the Company in 2005 showed continuity of the deposit along strike in 

both the Eastern and Central Zones and to a depth of at least 80 metres.  

 

Caracle Creek International Consulting Inc. (“CCIC”) was retained by the Company to prepare an 

independent technical report compliant with National Instrument 43-101 (NI 43-101), Companion Policy 

NI 43-101CP and Form 43-101F1 on the Massey Project and the final report (the “Report”) was dated 

August 13, 2007. Based on the work on this Project and in particular the 2005 drilling program, CCIC 

calculated an inferred mineral resource of 5,135,000 tonnes at an average grade of 89.1% SiO2 in the 

Eastern and Central Zones combined.  

 

In the Report, CCIC recommended a two phase exploration program for the Massey Project with the Phase 

1 program comprised of diamond drilling and surface sampling with a budget of approximately $240,000. 

During the summer of 2008, the Company completed the Phase 1 program of detailed surface sampling 

on the Central Zone and 12 diamond drill holes for a total of 892.5 metres over a strike length of 300 

metres on the Western Zone.  

 

The Company continues to believe the property has merit.  

 

Financial Performance 

 

Selected Annual Financial Information  

     

The table below summarizes key operating data for the last three fiscal years.  

 Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended 
 September 30, 

2019 
September 30, 

2018 
September 

30, 2017 
 (Audited) (Audited) (Audited) 
 $ $ $ 

Total assets 403,251 507,501 600,890 
Total non-current liabilities Nil Nil Nil 
Revenue Nil Nil Nil 
Net loss (101,884) (96,905) (192,807) 
Net loss per share (0.003) (0.003) (0.006) 
Weighted average shares outstanding 31,027,667 31,027,667 31,307,381 
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Selected Quarterly Financial Information  

 

The following quarterly results for the eight most recent quarters have been prepared in accordance 

with IFRS as listed below. 

 

 
Three Months 

Ended 

 
 

Cash 

 
Current 

Liabilities 

 
          Net  

           (Loss) 

Gain 
(Loss) Per 

Share 

Weighted 
Average 
Shares 

Outstanding 
June 30, 2020  $ 316,219 $ 44,900 (48,388)  (0.002) 31,021,667 
March 31, 2020  364,414  44,149  (16,148)  (0.001) 31,021,667 
December 31, 2019 378,704 40,399   (11,955)  (0.000) 31,021,667 
September 30, 2019 398,185 50,349 (20,752) (0.001) 31,021,667 
June 30, 2019  418,099 47,651 (26,748) (0.001) 31,021,667 
March 31, 2019 443,261  43,650  (25,376) (0.001) 31,021,667 
December 31, 2018 473,658 53,650  (29,008) (0.001) 31,021,667 
September 30, 2018   507,501  52,715  (11,503)  (0.000) 31,021,667 

 

Three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2019 

 

The net loss for the three months ended June 30, 2020 was $48,388 (June 30, 2019 - loss of $26,748). For 

the three months ended June 30, 2020, exploration and evaluation expenditures totaled $nil (June 30, 

2019 - loss of $nil) as no Massey expenses were incurred. For the three months ended June 30, 2020, 

general and administration expenses were $48,388 (June 30, 2019 - $28,325). Filing fees were significantly 

lower as the Company continues to work towards changing exchanges.  Professional fees in the three 

months ended June 30, 2020 mostly relate to the change of exchanges.  Professional fees in the three 

months ended June 30, 2019 reflect legal expenses related to the abandoned corporate transaction and 

audit expense.  Increased office and administrative expenses in 2020 reflect an insurance payment. 

 

Nine months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the nine months ended June 30, 2019 

 

The net loss for the nine months ended June 30, 2020 was $76,490 (June 30, 2019 - loss of $81,132). For 

the nine months ended June 30, 2020, exploration and evaluation expenditures totaled $nil (June 30, 2019 

- $nil). For the nine months ended June 30, 2020, general and administration expenses were $81,989 (June 

30, 2019 - $87,306). Reduced filing fees in the 2020 period as compared to the 2019 period created most 

of the difference.  Filing fees reflect reduced costs as the Company migrates from the TSX Venture to 

another Canadian exchange.  Increased office and administration costs in 2020 related to increased 

insurance costs. 

 

Related Party Transactions  

 

Related parties include directors, officers, close family members, certain consultants and enterprises that 

are controlled by these individuals as well as certain persons performing similar functions.  
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In accordance with International Accounting Standard 24, key management personnel are those persons 

having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company 

directly or indirectly, including any directors (executive and non-executive) of the Company. 

Remuneration of directors and key management personnel of the Company for the nine-month periods 

ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 was: 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

As at June 30, 2020, $30,000 (September 30, 2019 - $30,000) is accrued relating to a potential liability to 

a prior director and officer of the Company.   The Company originally entered into a settlement agreement 

with the prior director and officer.  However, the Company subsequently believes that the former director 

and officer may not have fulfilled the conditions of the settlement.   The Company intends to defend 

against collection of this balance, if required.  

 

All amounts due to related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing and payable on demand.  

 

Financial Condition  
 

Cash Flow  
 

At June 30, 2020, the Company held cash of $316,219, a reduction of $81,966 during the nine-month 

period.  Cash of $83,977 was used to fund operations.  Working capital changes mostly reflect a decreased 

 Nine Months Ended 
June 30, 

 2020 2019 

 $ $ 

Management fees 11,250 15,000 
Director fees 18,000 16,000 
Share-based payments - - 

Total 29,250 31,000 

 Nine Months Ended 
June 30, 

 2020 2019 
Management and Directors' Fees $ $ 

Birks Bovaird 9,000 8,000 
Richard Smith - - 
Peter Clausi 9,000 8,000 
Barry Lee - - 
Blaine Schmidt - - 
John Ross 11,250 15,000 

 29,250 31,000 
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accrual for professional fees.  The Company realized a $2,011 gain from holding US dollars in the nine-

month period ended June 30, 2020. 

 

Critical Accounting Estimates and Changes in Accounting Policies 

 

All significant critical accounting estimates are fully disclosed in the notes of the financial statements for 

the years ended September 30, 2019, and 2018.  There was no change to the significant critical accounting 

estimates during the period ended June 30, 2020. 

 

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

 

Working capital of as of June 30, 2020 was $276,412 compared to $352,902 as of September 30, 2019. 

The Company’s principal source of liquidity as of June 30, 2020 was cash and cash equivalents of $316,219 

compared to $398,185 as of September 30, 2019.  

 

While Management believes that the Company has sufficient funds to meet its obligations and short term 

working capital requirements, and to accomplish its short term plans, the Company plans to continue to 

monitor closely its use of its available cash, while conditions in the capital markets continue to make it 

difficult for early stage exploration companies to raise additional capital. The Company may require 

substantial additional capital to fund any new project or to advance the Massey Project.  

 

Historically, the Company has used the net proceeds from issuances of its securities to provide sufficient 

funds for it to meet its near-term exploration and development plans and other contractual obligations 

when due. However, given the current market conditions affecting the junior mining sector, the current 

trading price of the Company’s common shares and other uncertainties discussed herein, there can be no 

assurance that the Company will be able to obtain sufficient additional funds on favorable terms, or at all, 

in order to carry out its objectives. As mentioned elsewhere in this MD&A, the Company is evaluating 

various strategic alternatives and, if it decides to pursue any such alternative, it may also require 

additional funds to carry out its strategic plans in amounts that cannot be determined as of the date 

hereof, which funds may also be unavailable to the Company on favorable terms or at all.  

 

Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Factors  

 

International financial reporting standards require that the Company disclose information about the fair 

value of its financial assets and liabilities. Fair value estimates are made at the statement of financial 

position date, based on relevant market information and information about the financial instrument. 

These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties in significant matters of judgment and 

therefore cannot be determined with precision. Changes in assumptions could significantly affect these 

estimates.  
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 Fair value measurements are classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the 

inputs used in making the measurements. At June 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019, the Company has 

no financial instruments carried at fair value to classify in the fair value hierarchy.  

 

 As at June 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019, carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, amounts 

receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the statement of financial position approximate 

fair market value because of the limited term of these instruments.  

 

 The Company's risk exposures and the impact on the Company's financial instruments are summarized 

below. There have been no changes in the risks, objectives, policies and procedures from previous periods.  

 

 (a)  Credit Risk  

  

 The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and cash equivalents. The Company has no 

significant concentration of credit risk arising from operations. Management believes that the credit risk 

concentration with respect to cash and cash equivalents, and financial instruments included in amounts 

receivable is remote.  

 

  (b)  Liquidity Risk  

 

 The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet 

its obligations when due. At June 30, 2020, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $316,219 

(September 30, 2019 - $398,185) available to settle current liabilities of $44,900 (September 30, 2019 - 

$50,349).  Of the Company’s accounts payable $14,900 have contractual maturities of less than 30 days 

and are subject to normal trade terms. The remaining $30,000 of the accounts payable relates to an 

accrued balance against a legal settlement with a previous officer and director.  

 

 (c)  Market Risk  

 

 The Company is exposed to the following market risks:  

 

 (i)  Interest Rate Risk  

 

 The Company has cash and cash equivalents balances and no variable interest-bearing debt. The 

Company’s current policy is to invest excess cash in investment-grade short-term deposit 

certificates issued by banking institutions. The Company periodically monitors the investments it 

makes and is satisfied with the credit ratings of its banks.  

 

 (ii)  Foreign Exchange Risk  

 

 The Company’s functional currency is the Canadian dollar, but major purchases are transacted in 

Canadian dollars and United States dollars. As at June 30, 2020, the Company holds a foreign 
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currency balance of US$7,407 ($10,507) (September 30, 2019 – US$48,578 ($64,333)) included in 

cash which is subject to foreign currency risk.  

 

 (iii)  Price Risk  

 

 The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. The Company closely 

monitors commodity prices to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by the 

Company.  

 

 (d)  Sensitivity Analysis  

 

 The Company holds balances in United States dollars that give rise to foreign exchange risk. Based 

on management’s knowledge and experience of the financial markets, the Company does not 

believe there would be any material movements as a result of changes in interest rates. A 10% 

change in the Canadian dollar exchange rate as at June 30, 2020 compared to these currencies, with 

all other variables held constant, would impact the Company’s net loss by less than $4,000 over a 

twelve-month period.   

 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  

 

At June 30, 2020, there were no off-balance sheet arrangements.  

 

Outstanding Share Data  

 

As at June 30, 2020, and at the date of this MD&A, the Company had 31,021,667 common shares issued 

and outstanding. The Company had no warrants outstanding at June 30, 2020 or at the date of this MD&A. 

 

Stock options  

 

A summary of the outstanding options of the Company as at the date of this MD&A is set out below.  

 

Expiry 
Date 

Options 
Issued 

Exercise 
Price 

 # $ 

Nov. 1, 2020 200,000 0.05 
Sept.15, 2021 1,750,000 0.05 

 1,950,000 0.05 

 

Risk Factors  

 

The Company’s risk factors are those related to mineral exploration.  The Company’s business of mineral 

exploration has an inherent high level of risk. Management of the Company is optimistic about the 
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potential of its property, but there can be no guarantee with regard to any property that any mineral 

deposits will be identified or, if identified, be economically viable for production. Management has 

updated the NI 43-101 report on the Massey Property to assess our future direction on the property.  

Further, the ability of the Company to continue operations is dependent upon favorable results from its 

exploration activities which will attract potential investors or exploration partners.  

 

The Company’s operations could be significantly adversely affected by the effects of a widespread global 

outbreak of a contagious disease, including the recent outbreak of respiratory illness caused by COVID-

19. The Company cannot accurately predict the impact COVID-19 will have on its operations and the ability 

of others to meet their obligations with the Company, including uncertainties relating to the ultimate 

geographic spread of the virus, the severity of the disease, the duration of the outbreak, and the length 

of travel and quarantine restrictions imposed by governments of affected countries. In addition, a 

significant outbreak of contagious diseases in the human population could result in a widespread health 

crisis that could adversely affect the economies and financial markets of many countries, resulting in an 

economic downturn that could further affect the Company’s operations and ability to finance its 

operations. 

 

There have been no other changes in the risks, objectives, policies and procedures from previous years 

other than disclosed elsewhere herein.   Please refer to the section entitled "Risks Factors" in the 

Company’s Annual MD&A for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019, available on SEDAR at 

www.sedar.com. 

 

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements  

 

This MD&A contains certain “forward-looking information” as defined in applicable securities laws 

(collectively referred to herein as “forward-looking statements”). These statements relate to future 

events or the Company’s future performance. All statements other than statements of historical fact are 

forward-looking statements. Often, but not always, forward-looking statements can be identified by the 

use of words such as “plans”, “expects”, “budgeted”, “scheduled”, “estimates”, “continues”, “forecasts”, 

“projects”, “predicts”, “intends”, “anticipates” or “believes”, or variations of, or the negatives of, such 

words and phrases, or statements that certain actions, events or results “may”, “could”, “would”, 

“should”, “might” or “will” be taken, occur or be achieved. The forward-looking statements in this MD&A 

speak only as of the date of this MD&A or as of the date specified in such statements.  

 

Forward-looking statements are based upon certain assumptions and other important factors regarding 

present and future business strategies and the environment in which the Company will operate in the 

future, which could prove to be significantly incorrect. Forward-looking statements are inherently subject 

to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the actual results, level of 

activity, performance or achievements of the Company and/or its subsidiary to be materially different 

from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.  
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Actual results and developments are likely to differ, and may differ materially, from those expressed or 

implied by the forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A. Forward-looking statements involve 

known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the Company’s actual results, 

performance or achievements to be materially different from any of its future results, performance or 

achievements expressed or implied by forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements herein 

are qualified by this cautionary note. Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on forward 

looking statements. The Company undertakes no obligation to update publicly or otherwise revise any 

forward-looking statements whether as a result of new information or future events or otherwise, except 

as may be required by law. If the Company does update one or more forward-looking statements, no 

inference should be drawn that it will make additional updates with respect to those or other forward-

looking statements, unless required by law. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Shareholders of Buccaneer Gold Corp. 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Buccaneer Gold Corp. and its subsidiary (the 
“Company”), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at September 30, 2019 
and 2018, and the consolidated statements of operations comprehensive loss, consolidated statements of 
changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated financial position of the Company as at September 30, 2019 and 2018, and its 
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in Canada. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 

Other information  

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated.  

We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on 
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  
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Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated financial 
statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 
the Company or cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risks of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as 
a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.  

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

The engagement partner of the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Jessica Glendinning. 

McGovern Hurley LLP 

 
Chartered Professional Accountants 
Licensed Public Accountants 
 
Toronto, Ontario 
January 20, 2020 



 

 

 

 
BUCCANEER GOLD CORP. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS) 
AS AT SEPTEMBER 30 
 

 
Notes 

2019 
$ 

2018
$ 

ASSETS  
CURRENT   
    Cash and cash equivalents 398,185 499,539
    Amounts receivable 5,066 7,962
    
TOTAL ASSETS 403,251 507,501
  

LIABILITIES  
CURRENT LIABILITIES  
    Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 8 50,349       52,715
  

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  
CAPITAL STOCK  6 (b) 7,674,830 7,674,830
SHARE-BASED PAYMENT RESERVE 6 (c) 26,621 26,621
DEFICIT (7,348,549) (7,246,665)
  
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 352,902 454,786
  
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY    403,251    507,501
  
NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN 1  
CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 5, 7  
  

APPROVED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD 
 

"Birks Bovaird"                           Director 
 

"Rick Smith"                         Director 
 
 
 
 
 
 

See the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements  
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BUCCANEER GOLD CORP. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS) 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30 

 
 Notes 2019

$ 
2018 

$ 
EXPENSES  
  
    Exploration and evaluation expenditures 5 11,037 9,997 
    General and administrative 8, 12 99,294 91,378 
    (Gain) on foreign exchange (1,631) (3,594) 
  
Loss before other income 108,700 97,781 
     Interest income 6,816 876 
  
NET LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR 101,884 96,905 
  
NET LOSS PER SHARE - Basic and diluted 0.003 0.003 
  
WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES 
OUTSTANDING  - Basic and diluted 31,021,667 

 
31,021,667 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

See the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements  
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BUCCANEER GOLD CORP. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS) 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2019 AND 2018 

 

 
 

 
 
 

See the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 

 
 

6

  
Share-based

Capital Capital Payment
Stock Stock Reserve (Deficit) Total

# $ $ $ $
 
 
BALANCE, SEPTEMBER 30, 2017 31,021,667 7,674,830 26,621 (7,149,760) 551,691
Loss and comprehensive loss - - - (96,905) (96,905)
 
BALANCE, SEPTEMBER 30, 2018 31,021,667 7,674,830 26,621 (7,246,665) 454,786
Loss and comprehensive loss - - - (101,884) (101,884)
 
BALANCE, SEPTEMBER 30, 2019 31,021,667 7,674,830 26,621 (7,348,549) 352,902



 

 

 

BUCCANEER GOLD CORP. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS) 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,   
 
 2019

$ 
2018

$ 
  
CASH FLOWS USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES  
    Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year  (101,884)  (96,905)
        Changes not involving cash:  
       Unrealized foreign exchange (gain)  (1,631) (3,594)
 (103,515) (100,499)
    Changes in non-cash components of working capital  
        Decrease (increase) in amounts receivable 2,896 (2,920)
        (Decrease) increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (2,366) 3,516
Cash flow used in operating activities (102,985) (99,903)
  
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash 1,631 3,594
  
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents for the year (101,354) (96,309)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of the year 499,539     595,848    
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of the year 398,185     499,539    
  
Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of:  
Cash 5,939 159,983
Cash equivalents 392,246 339,556
 398,185 499,539
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

See the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements  
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BUCCANEER GOLD CORP. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
Years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN  
 
 Buccaneer Gold Corp. (the “Company” or “Buccaneer”), is engaged in the acquisition, exploration 

and evaluation of a mineral property, and is actively pursuing other potential opportunities. The 
Company has operations in Canada. The Company’s head office is located at 82 Richmond Street 
East, Suite 308, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5C 1P1. The Company has delisted from the TSX Venture 
Exchange (“TSX-V”) and has applied for a listing on another Canadian stock exchange.   

 
 These consolidated financial statements of the Company were approved and authorized for issue 

by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) on January 20, 2020.  
 
 On December 12, 2018, the Company announced its intention to pursue a business opportunity in 

the United States cannabis market.  On March 11, 2019, the Company announced the termination 
of the negotiation. 

 
Before that time, the Company was in the process of conducting exploration on its property to 
identify mineral resources and had not yet determined whether the property contained 
economically recoverable reserves. The business of mining and exploring for minerals involves a 
high degree of risk and there can be no assurance that exploration programs would result in 
profitable mining operations. The Company’s continued existence as an exploration company is 
dependent upon the preservation of its interest in the underlying property, the discovery of 
economically recoverable reserves, the ability of the Company to obtain necessary financing to 
complete planned exploration programs, the achievement of profitable operations or, alternatively, 
upon the Company’s ability to dispose of its property interests on an advantageous basis.  

 
 Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to the property on which it is conducting 

exploration and in which it has an interest, in accordance with industry practice for the current 
stage of exploration of such properties, these procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title. 
Property title may be subject to unregistered prior agreements or non-compliance with regulatory 
or social licencing requirements. The Company’s assets may also be subject to increases in taxes 
and royalties, renegotiation of contracts, currency exchange fluctuations and restrictions and 
political uncertainty.  

 
 These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting principles 

applicable to a going concern, which assume that the Company will continue in operation for the 
foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal 
course of operations as they come due. The Company has no current revenues or cash flows from 
operations and has working capital of $352,902 as at September 30, 2019 (2018 - $454,786). 
Management believes it will be successful in raising the necessary funds to continue in the normal 
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course of operations or effecting a corporate transaction; however, there is no assurance that these 
funds will be available on terms acceptable to the Company or at all, or that a corporate transaction 
will be effected. These consolidated financial statements do not include the adjustments that would 
be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. Such adjustments 
could be material.  

 
2.  STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE  
 
 These consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary were prepared in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee 
(“IFRIC”). The policies set out below were consistently applied to all periods presented unless 
otherwise noted.  

 
3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION  
 
 Basis of consolidation  
 
 These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Buccaneer Gold Corp. and its 

wholly owned subsidiary Buccaneer Gold (Ghana) Limited (from September 1, 2011), which became 
inactive in 2017. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated upon 
consolidation.  

 
 Subsidiaries are those entities which Buccaneer controls. Control exists when the Company is 

exposed or has rights to the variable returns of the subsidiary and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the subsidiary. Power is defined as existing rights that give the 
Company the ability to direct the relevant activities of the subsidiary. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is obtained by the Company and are de-consolidated 
from the date that control ceases.  

 
 Basis of measurement  
 
 These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis. In 

addition, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of 
accounting, except for cash flow information.  
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
 Outlined below are those policies considered particularly significant:  
 
 (a)  Cash and cash equivalents  
 
 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and money market funds, with original maturities 

of less than 90 days. The money market funds are held with a Canadian chartered bank or a 
Canadian financial institution.  

 
 (b)  Property and equipment  
 
 Property and equipment are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses. The cost of an item of property or equipment consists of the purchase price, any 
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for its 
intended use and an initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring 
the site on which it is located.  

 
 Depreciation is recognized based on the cost of an item of equipment, less its estimated residual 

value, over its estimated useful life over the following periods:  
 
  Buildings  Straight-line over 25 years  
  Equipment  Straight-line over 5 years  
 
 An asset's residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if 

appropriate, on an annual basis.  
 
 (c)  Exploration and evaluation expenditures  
 
 The Company expenses exploration and evaluation expenditures as incurred. Exploration and 

evaluation expenditures include acquisition costs of mineral properties, property option payments 
and evaluation activity.  

 
 Once a project has been established as commercially viable and technically feasible, related 

development expenditures are capitalized. This includes costs incurred in preparing the site for 
mining operations. Capitalization ceases when the mine is capable of commercial production, with 
the exception of development costs that give rise to a future benefit.  
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 (d)  Restoration, rehabilitation and environmental obligations  
 
 A legal or constructive obligation to incur restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs may 

arise when environmental disturbance is caused by the exploration, development or ongoing 
production of a mineral property interest. Such costs are discounted to their net present value using 
a risk-free rate and are provided for and charged to operations, as soon as the obligation to incur 
such costs arises. Discount rates using a pre-tax rate that reflects the time value of money are used 
to calculate the net present value. The related liability is adjusted for each period for the unwinding 
of the discount rate and for changes to the current market-based discount rate, amount or timing 
of the underlying cash flows needed to settle the obligation.  

 
 The Company had no material restoration, rehabilitation and environmental obligations at 

September 30, 2019 or September 30, 2018.  
 
 (e)  Income taxes  
 
 Income tax on the profit or loss for the years presented comprises current and deferred tax. Income 

tax is recognized in the statement of operations except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognized directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in equity.  

 
 Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 

enacted or substantively enacted at period end, adjusted for amendments to tax payable with 
regards to previous years.  

 
 In general, deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences arising between the tax 

bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements unless such 
differences arise from goodwill or the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of 
other assets or liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting 
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined on a non-discounted basis using tax rates and laws 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date and are 
expected to apply when the deferred tax asset or liability is settled. Deferred tax assets are 
recognized to the extent that it is probable that the assets can be recovered.  

 
 Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries 

and associates, except, in the case of subsidiaries, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
difference is controlled by the Company and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.  
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 Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are presented as non-current. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority 
and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.  

 
 (f)  Share-based payment transactions  
 
 Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are 

measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date. The fair value is measured 
at grant date and each tranche is recognized on a graded-vesting basis over the period in which the 
options vest. The offset to the recorded cost is to share-based payment reserve. Consideration 
received on the exercise of stock options is recorded as share capital and the related share-based 
payment reserve is transferred to share capital. Upon expiry, the recorded value is transferred to 
deficit.  

 
 At the end of each reporting period, the Company revises its estimate of the number of equity 

instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is 
recognized in the statement of operations such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised 
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based payment reserve. Where the terms 
and conditions of options are modified, the increase in the fair value of the options, measured 
immediately before and after the modification, is also charged to the statement of operations.  

 
 Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured 

at the fair value of the goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated 
reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, 
measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service.  

 
 (g)  Flow-through financing  
 
 The Company finances a portion of its exploration activities through the issue of flow-through 

shares, which transfers the tax deductibility of exploration expenditures to the investor. The 
Company has adopted a policy whereby flow-through proceeds are allocated between the offering 
of the common shares and the sale of tax benefits when the common shares are offered. The 
allocation is made based on the difference between the quoted price of the common shares and 
the amount the investor pays for the flow-through shares. A liability is recognized for the premium 
paid by the investors and is then derecognized in the period of renunciation. The recognition of a 
deferred income tax liability upon renunciation of the flow through expenditures is recorded as 
income tax expense in the period of renunciation. Any difference between the amount of the 
liability component derecognized and deferred income tax liability recognized is recorded in the 
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consolidated statement of operations. As at September 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company has no 
outstanding flow-through obligations.  

 
 (h)  Loss per common share  
 
 Basic loss per share is calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding. The 

diluted loss per share assumes that any proceeds from the exercise of dilutive stock options and 
warrants would be used to repurchase common shares at the average market price during the 
period, with the incremental number of shares being included in the denominator of the diluted 
loss per share calculation. The diluted loss per share calculation excludes any potential conversion 
of options and warrants that would decrease loss per share. See Notes 6(c), and (d) for details on 
the Company’s potentially dilutive securities. All of the Company’s outstanding stock options were 
anti-dilutive for the years ended September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018.  

 
  (i)  Use of estimates  
 
 The preparation of these consolidated financial statements under IFRS requires management to 

make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions about future events that affect the amounts 
reported in the financial statements and related notes to the financial statements. Although these 
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the amount, event or actions, actual 
results may differ from those estimates and these differences could be material.  

 
 The areas which require management to make significant judgements, estimates and assumptions 

in determining carrying values include, but are not limited to:  
 

• Estimation of restoration, rehabilitation and environmental obligations  
Restoration, rehabilitation and environmental liabilities are estimated based on the 
Company’s interpretation of current regulatory requirements and constructive obligations 
and are measured at fair value. Fair value is determined based on the net present value of 
estimated future cash expenditures for the settlement of restoration, rehabilitation and 
environmental liabilities that may occur upon ceasing exploration and evaluation activities. 
Such estimates are subject to change based on changes in laws and regulations and 
negotiations with regulatory authorities.  
 

• Income, value added, withholding and other taxes   
The Company is subject to income, value added, withholding and other taxes. Significant 
judgment is required in determining the Company’s provisions for taxes. There are many 
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during 
the ordinary course of business. The Company recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit 
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issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. The determination of the 
Company’s income, value added, withholding and other tax liabilities requires 
interpretation of complex laws and regulations. The Company’s interpretation of taxation 
law as applied to transactions and activities may not coincide with the interpretation of the 
tax authorities. All tax related filings are subject to government audit and potential 
reassessment subsequent to the financial statement reporting period. Where the final tax 
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such 
differences will impact the tax related accruals and deferred income tax provisions in the 
period in which such determination is made. 
 

• Share-based payments  
Management determines costs for share-based payments using market-based valuation 
techniques. The fair value of the market-based and performance-based share awards is 
determined at the date of grant using generally accepted valuation techniques. 
Assumptions are made and judgment used in applying valuation techniques. These 
assumptions and judgments include estimating the future volatility of the stock price, 
expected dividend yield, future employee turnover rates and future employee stock option 
exercise behaviours and Company performance. Such judgments and assumptions are 
inherently uncertain. Changes in these assumptions affect the fair value estimates.  
 

• Environmental  
Management believes its operations are in material compliance with all applicable laws and 
regulations. The Company has made, and expects to make in the future, expenditures to 
comply with such laws and regulations. Management is required to estimate the cost of 
compliance when laws change. 
 

(j)  Financial assets and liabilities  
 

Accounting policy under IFRS 9 applicable from October 1, 2018  
 
Financial assets 
 
Initial recognition and measurement 
Non-derivative financial assets within the scope of IFRS 9 are classified and measured as “financial 
assets at fair value”, as either fair value through profit and loss (“FVPL”) or fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), and “financial assets at amortized costs”, as appropriate. The 
Company determines the classification of financial assets at the time of initial recognition based on 
the Company’s business model and the contractual terms of the cash flows. 
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All financial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not at 
FVPL, directly attributable transaction costs on the trade date at which the Company becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining their 
classification at FVPL or at amortized cost. Other amounts receivable held for collection of 
contractual cash flows are measured at amortized cost. 
 
Subsequent measurement – financial assets at amortized cost 
After initial recognition, financial assets measured at amortized cost are subsequently measured at 
the end of each reporting period at amortized cost using the Effective Interest Rate (“EIR”) method. 
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and any 
fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included in interest income 
in the consolidated statements of operations. 
 
Subsequent measurement – financial assets at FVPL 
Financial assets measured at FVPL include financial assets management intends to sell in the short 
term and any derivative financial instrument that is not designated as a hedging instrument in a 
hedge relationship. Financial assets measured at FVPL are carried at fair value in the consolidated 
statements of financial position with changes in fair value recognized in other income or expense 
in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company does not measure any financial assets 
at FVPL. 
 
Subsequent measurement – financial assets at FVOCI 
Financial assets measured at FVOCI are non-derivative financial assets that are not held for trading 
and the Company has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to measure the 
assets at FVOCI. The Company does not measure any financial assets at FVOCI. 
 
After initial measurement, investments measured at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value 
with unrealized gains or losses recognized in other comprehensive income or loss in the 
consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss). When the investment is sold, the 
cumulative gain or loss remains in accumulated other comprehensive income or loss and is not 
reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
Dividends from such investments are recognized in other income in the consolidated statements of 
earnings (loss) when the right to receive payments is established. 
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Derecognition 
A financial asset is derecognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, 
or the Company no longer retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
The Company’s only financial assets subject to impairment are amounts receivable, which are 
measured at amortized cost. The Company has elected to apply the simplified approach to 
impairment as permitted by IFRS 9, which requires the expected lifetime loss to be recognized at 
the time of initial recognition of the receivable. To measure estimated credit losses, accounts 
receivable have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics, including the number of 
days past due. An impairment loss is reversed in subsequent periods if the amount of the expected 
loss decreases and the decrease can be objectively related to an event occurring after the initial 
impairment was recognized. 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
Initial recognition and measurement 
Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost, unless they are required to be measured at 
FVPL as is the case for held for trading or derivative instruments, or the Company has opted to 
measure the financial liability at FVPL. The Company’s financial liabilities include accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities, which are measured at amortized cost.  All financial liabilities are recognized 
initially at fair value and in the case of long-term debt, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 
 
Subsequent measurement – financial liabilities at amortized cost 
After initial recognition, financial liabilities measured at amortized cost are subsequently measured 
at the end of each reporting period at amortized cost using the EIR method. Amortized cost is 
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and any fees or costs that 
are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included in finance cost in the consolidated 
statements of operations. 
 
Derecognition 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled 
or expires with any associated gain or loss recognized in other income or expense in the 
consolidated statements of loss. 

 
Accounting policy under IAS 39 applicable prior to October 1, 2018 

 
Financial assets and financial liabilities that are purchased and incurred with the intention of 
generating profits in the near term are classified as held-for-trading.  
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 Financial assets that have a fixed maturity date and fixed or determinable payments, where the 

Company intends and has the ability to hold the financial asset to maturity, are classified as held-
to-maturity and are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Any gains 
and losses arising from the sale of held-to-maturity financial assets are included in operations. As 
at September 30, 2018, the Company had no held-to-maturity financial assets.  

 
 Items classified as loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 

method. Any gains or losses on the realization of loans and receivables are included in operations. 
The Company’s cash and cash equivalents, and amounts receivable, are classified as loans and 
receivables.  

 
 Available-for-sale assets are those financial assets that are not classified as held-for-trading, held-

to-maturity or loans or receivables, and are carried at fair value. Any gains or losses arising from 
the change in fair value are recorded as other comprehensive loss. Available-for-sale securities are 
written down to fair value through operations whenever it is necessary to reflect a change other 
than temporary impairment. Cumulative gains and losses arising upon the sale of the instrument 
are included in operations. The Company did not have any available-for-sale assets as at September 
30, 2018.  

 
 Financial liabilities that are not classified as held-for-trading are classified as other financial 

liabilities, and are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Any gains or losses 
arising from the realization of other financial liabilities are included in operations. The Company has 
classified accounts payable and accrued liabilities as other financial liabilities, which are carried at 
amortized cost.  

 
 Impairment of financial assets:  
 Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. 

Financial assets are impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more 
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial assets, the estimated future cash 
flows of the financial assets have been negatively impacted.  

 
 Financial instruments recorded at fair value:  
 Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the consolidated statements of financial position 

are classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making 
the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:  

 
 Level 1 - valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities;  
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 Level 2 - valuation techniques based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from 
prices); and  

 Level 3 - valuation techniques using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable 
market data (unobservable inputs).  

  
 (k)  Translation of foreign currencies and foreign subsidiary  
 
 The functional and reporting currency of the Company and its subsidiary is the Canadian dollar. 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the currency of measurement at the exchange 
rates in effect on the transaction date. Monetary items on the consolidated statement of financial 
position, expressed in foreign currencies, are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rates 
in effect at the reporting date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in 
a foreign currency are not retranslated at the reporting date.  Depreciation is translated on the 
same basis as the related asset. The resulting exchange gains or losses are recognized in operations 
in the period in which they arise.  

 
 (l)  Provisions  
 
 A provision is recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 

result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation, and the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated. If the effect is material, 
provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks 
specific to the liability.  

 
 A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the expected benefits to be derived by the 

Company from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the 
contract.  

 
 (m)  Recent Accounting Pronouncements and Accounting Changes 
 

Effective October 1, 2018, the Company adopted IFRS 9, Financial Instruments which resulted in 
changes in accounting policies as described in Note 4(j). In accordance with the transitional 
provisions in the standard, the Company adopted this standard retrospectively without restating 
comparatives, with the cumulative impact adjusted in the opening balances as at October 1, 2018. 
There were no effects on opening balances at October 1, 2018 with respect to the adoption of this 
policy. 
 



BUCCANEER GOLD CORP. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
Years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

19 
 

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments 
IFRS 9 replaces International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement. IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification, measurement and 
impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting. It establishes two primary measurement 
categories for financial assets: (i) amortized cost and (ii) FVPL or FVOCI; establishes criteria for the 
classification of financial assets within each measurement category based on business model and 
cash flow characteristics; and eliminates the existing held for trading, held to maturity, available for 
sale, loans and receivable and other financial liabilities categories. IFRS 9 also introduces a new 
expected credit loss model for the purpose of assessing the impairment of financial assets and 
requires that there be a demonstrated economic relationship between the hedged item and 
hedging instrument. 
 
The following table shows the previous classification under IAS 39 and the new classification under 
IFRS 9 for the Company’s financial instruments: 
 

 Financial instrument classification 
 Under IAS 39 Under IFRS 9 
Financial assets   
Cash and cash equivalents Loans and receivables Amortized cost 
Amounts receivable Loans and receivables Amortized cost 
   
Financial liabilities   
Accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities 

Other financial 
liabilities 

Amortized cost 

 
The Company adopted IFRS 9 retrospectively without restating comparatives and therefore the 
comparative information in respect of financial instruments for the year ended September 30, 2018 
was accounted for in accordance with the Company’s previous accounting policy under IAS 39. 
 
Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been issued by 
the IASB or IFRIC that are mandatory for accounting periods beginning after October 1, 2019, or 
later periods. The following have not yet been adopted and are being evaluated to determine their 
impact on the Company.  

 
IFRIC 23 – Uncertainty Over Income Tax Treatments (“IFRIC 23”) was issued in June 2017 and 
clarifies the accounting for uncertainties in income taxes.  The interpretation committee concluded 
that an entity shall consider whether it is probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain 
tax treatment. If an entity concludes it is probable that the taxation authority will accept an 
uncertain tax treatment, then the entity shall determine taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused 
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tax losses and credits or tax rates consistently with the tax treatment used or planned to be used 
in its income tax filings.  If an entity concludes it is not probable that the taxation authority will 
accept an uncertain tax treatment, the entity shall reflect the effect of uncertainty in determining 
the related taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses and credits or tax rates.  IFRIC 23 
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019.  

 
5.  EXPLORATION PROPERTIES, EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURES  
 
 Massey Silica Project (the “Massey Project”)  
 
 On December 9, 2004, the Company entered into an option agreement with Salmay Resources Inc. 

(“Salmay”) to earn up to a 100% interest in six mining claims located in May and Salter Townships, 
Ontario. The Company earned an initial 65% undivided interest by paying a cash consideration of 
$100,000 and incurring $300,000 in exploration expenditures. To earn a further 15% interest, the 
Company must pay cash consideration of $100,000 and fund all permitting and licensing costs 
necessary to commence commercial production on the claims. The remaining 20% interest can be 
earned by paying cash consideration of $100,000 following the commencement of commercial 
production from the claims. This project is subject to a 3% net smelter return royalty (“NSR”), 2% 
of which may be purchased by the Company for $3,000,000. The Company believes the property 
continues to have merit.    

  
6.  CAPITAL STOCK  
 
 The capital stock is as follows:  
 
 (a)        Authorized  
           Unlimited number of common shares with no par value  
           Unlimited number of Class A special shares  
           Unlimited number of Class B special shares  
 
 (b)        Issued  
 

 Common Shares Amount 
 # $ 

September 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017 31,021,667 7,674,830
 

(c)  Stock Options  
 

The Company has a 10% rolling stock option plan (“Plan”) which provides that incentive-
based stock options may be granted, at the Board’s discretion, to a quantity not to exceed 
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10% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company at the time of granting.  The Plan 
requires annual shareholder approval. The Plan was renewed at the April 12, 2017 
Shareholders' Meeting. 

 
A summary of changes in the stock options is as follows:  

 
 2019 2018 
   

Stock  
Options 

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price 

  
Stock  

Options 

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price 
 # $ # $ 
Balance, beginning of year 1,950,000 0.05 1,950,000 0.05
Expired - - - -
Balance, end of year 1,950,000 0.05 1,950,000 0.05

 
No stock options were granted in the years ended September 30, 2019 and September 30, 
2018.  Since all previous stock options had fully vested at the beginning of the year, there 
was no stock option expense in the years ended September 30, 2019 and September 30, 
2018. 

 
 The following stock options to purchase common shares of the Company were outstanding 

as at September 30, 2019:  
 

Date of 
Grant 

Expiry 
Date 

Options 
Issued 

Options 
Exercisable 

Exercise 
Price 

  # # $ 
Nov. 1, 2015 Nov. 1, 2020 200,000 200,000 0.05
Sept.12, 2016 Sept.12, 2021 1,750,000 1,750,000 0.05
  1,950,000 1,950,000 
     

 The weighted average remaining contractual life of issued and outstanding stock options as 
at September 30, 2019 is 1.9 years (2018 – 2.9 years) and the weighted average exercise price 
of options exercisable was $0.05 (2018 - $0.05).  

 
(d)  Warrants  
 
 As of September 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017 there were no outstanding warrants to purchase 

common shares of the Company.  
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7.  CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 
 
 Environmental contingencies  
 
 The Company’s exploration activities are subject to various laws and regulations governing 

the protection of the environment. These laws and regulations are continually changing and 
generally becoming more restrictive. The Company believes its operations are in material 
compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. The Company has made, and expects to 
make in the future, expenditures to comply with such laws and regulations.  

 
8.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  
 
 Related parties include directors, officers, close family members, certain consultants and 

enterprises that are controlled by these individuals as well as certain persons performing 
similar functions.  

 
 In accordance with IAS 24, key management personnel are those persons having authority 

and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company 
directly or indirectly, including any directors (executive and non-executive) of the Company. 
Remuneration of directors and key management personnel of the Company for the years 
ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 was:  

 
 2019 2018 
 $ $ 
Management fees 17,500 22,540
Director fees 22,000 12,105
Share-based payments - -
Total 39,500 34,645

 
 As at September 30, 2019, $30,000 (2018 - $30,000) is held in accrued liabilities and accounts 

payable relating to a potential liability to a prior director and officer of the Company.   The 
Company originally entered in to a settlement agreement with the prior director and officer.  
However, the Company subsequently believes that the former director and officer may not 
have fulfilled the conditions of the settlement.   The Company intends to defend against 
collection of this balance, if required. 

 All amounts due to related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing and payable on 
demand.  
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9.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK FACTORS  
 
 International financial reporting standards require that the Company disclose information 

about the fair value of its financial assets and liabilities. Fair value estimates are made at the 
reporting date, based on relevant market information and information about the financial 
instrument. These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties in significant 
matters of judgment and therefore cannot be determined with precision. Changes in 
assumptions could significantly affect these estimates.  

 
 Fair value measurements are classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the 

significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. At September 30, 2019 and 
2018, the Company has no financial instruments carried at fair value to classify in the fair 
value hierarchy.  

 
 As at September 30, 2019 and 2018, carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, amounts 

receivable, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the statement of financial position 
approximate fair market value because of the limited term of these instruments.  

 
 The Company's risk exposures and the impact on the Company's financial instruments are 

summarized below. There have been no changes in the risks, objectives, policies and 
procedures from previous periods.  

 
 (a)   Credit Risk  
  
 The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and cash equivalents. The 

Company has no significant concentration of credit risk arising from operations. Management 
believes that the credit risk concentration with respect to cash and cash equivalents, and 
financial instruments included in amounts receivable is remote.  

 
  (b)  Liquidity Risk  
 

 The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient 
liquidity to meet its obligations when due. At September 30, 2019, the Company had cash 
and cash equivalents of $398,185 (September 30, 2018 - $499,539) available to settle current 
liabilities of $50,349 (September 30, 2018 - $52,715). Of the Company’s accounts payable 
$20,349 have contractual maturities of less than 30 days and are subject to normal trade 
terms. The remaining $30,000 of the accounts payable relates to an accrued balance against 
a legal settlement with a previous officer and director (see Note 8).  
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 (c)   Market Risk  
 
 The Company is exposed to the following market risks:  
 
  (i)  Interest Rate Risk  
 

  The Company has cash and cash equivalents balances and no variable interest-bearing 
debt. The Company’s current policy is to invest excess cash in investment-grade short-
term deposit certificates issued by banking institutions. The Company periodically 
monitors the investments it makes and is satisfied with the credit ratings of its banks.  

 
 (ii)  Foreign Exchange Risk  
 
 The Company’s functional currency is the Canadian dollar but major purchases are 

transacted in Canadian dollars and United States dollars. As at September 30, 2019, the 
Company holds a foreign currency balance of US$48,578 ($64,333) (September 30, 2018 
– US$50,805 ($65,768)) included in cash which is subject to foreign currency risk.  

 
 (iii)  Price Risk  
 
 The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. The Company 

closely monitors commodity prices to determine the appropriate course of action to be 
taken by the Company.  

 
 (d)   Sensitivity Analysis  
 
 The Company holds balances in United States dollars that give rise to foreign exchange risk. 

Based on management’s knowledge and experience of the financial markets, the Company 
does not believe there would be any material movements as a result of changes in interest 
rates. A 10% change in the Canadian dollar exchange rate as at September 30, 2019 
compared to these currencies, with all other variables held constant, would impact the 
Company’s net loss by less than $7,000.  

 
10.  INCOME TAXES  
 

(a) The items causing the Company’s effective income tax rate to differ from the combined 
Canadian federal and provincial statutory rate of 26.5% (2018 – 26.5%) are as follows:  
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 2019 2018 
 $ $ 
Loss before income taxes (102,000) (97,000)
Expected income tax recovery (27,000) (26,000)
Adjustments to benefit resulting from:  
  Benefit of tax losses not recognized 27,000 26,000 
  
Deferred income tax recovery - -

 
 (b) Tax benefits from non-capital loss carry-forwards have not been recorded in the 

consolidated financial statements. These losses, which may reduce taxable income in future 
years, amount to approximately $3,043,000 and expires as follows:  

 
Year Amount ($) 

2026 8,000
2027 22,000
2028 91,000
2029 101,000
2030 100,000
2031 383,000
2032 370,000
2033 261,000
2034 332,000
2035 301,000
2036 447,000
2037 438,000
2038 87,000
2039 102,000
 3,043,000

 
(c) The Company has Canadian and foreign development and exploration expenditure pools 

for tax purposes of approximately $5,090,000 at September 30, 2019 that may, in certain 
situations be applied to reduce taxable income in subsequent years.  
 

 (d) Unrecognized deferred tax assets  
 
 Deferred income tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following deductible 

temporary differences:  
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 2019 2018 
 $ $ 
Non-capital loss carry-forwards 3,043,000 2,941,000
Mineral exploration property costs 5,090,000 5,090,000
Total 8,133,000 8,031,000

 
 Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of these items because it is not 

probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the Company can use the 
benefits.  

 
11.  CAPITAL MANAGEMENT  
 
 The Company considers its capital to consist of shareholders’ equity. The Company manages 

its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the 
Company, in order to support the acquisition, exploration and evaluation of mineral 
properties. The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria 
for management, but rather relies on the expertise of the Company’s management to sustain 
future development of the business.  

 
 The property in which the Company currently has an interest is in the exploration stage; as 

such the Company is dependent on external financing to fund its activities. In order to carry 
out the planned exploration and pay administrative costs, the Company will spend its existing 
working capital and raise additional amounts as needed. The Company will continue to assess 
new properties and seek to acquire an interest in additional properties if it feels there is 
sufficient geological or economic potential and if it has adequate financial resources to do so. 
Alternatively, the Company will pursue corporate transactions to the benefit of shareholders. 

 
 Management reviews its capital management approach on an on-going basis and believes 

that this approach, given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable. There were no 
significant changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the years 
ended September 30, 2019 and 2018. The Company and its subsidiary are not currently 
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.  
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12.  GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE  
 2019 2018 
 $ $ 
Management fees (Note 8) 17,500 22,540
Directors' fees (Note 8) 22,000 12,105
Filing and transfer agent fees 6,192 11,808
Professional fees  32,046 23,205
Office and administration 13,825 14,949
Insurance 6,300 5,250
Bank charges 1,431 1,521
 99,294 91,378
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2019 

  

Introduction 

 

The following is Management’s Discussion and Analysis (the “MD&A”) of the consolidated financial 

position and results from operations of Buccaneer Gold Corp. (the “Company” or “Buccaneer”), for the 

year ended September 30, 2019. This MD&A should be read in conjunction with the Company’s 

consolidated financial statements for its fiscal years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 along with 

accompanying notes to the statements for the years then ended.  

 

The Company’s reporting currency is the Canadian dollar and all amounts in this MD&A are expressed in 

Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated. The Company’s consolidated financial statements for its 

fiscal years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 were prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  

 

For the purposes of preparing this MD&A, management, in conjunction with the Board of Directors (the 

“Board”), considers the materiality of information. Information is considered material if: (i) such 

information results in, or would reasonably be expected to result in, a significant change in the market 

price or value of Buccaneer’s common shares; (ii) there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable 

investor would consider it important in making an investment decision; or (iii) it would significantly alter 

the total mix of information available to investors. Management, in conjunction with the Board, evaluates 

materiality with reference to all relevant circumstances, including potential market sensitivity.  

 

The Company is a reporting issuer in Ontario, British Columbia and Alberta. The Company has delisted 

from the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSX-V”) and is in the process of applying for a listing on another 

Canadian stock exchange.  This MD&A is dated as of January 20, 2020. 

 

Additional Information 

 

Additional information relating to the Company is on the System for Electronic Document Analysis and 

Retrieval (“SEDAR”) at www.sedar.com.  
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Business Overview and Corporate Update  

 

Description of the Business  

 

The Company is a mineral exploration company engaged in the acquisition, exploration and development 

of mineral properties. The Company is incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario and during 

2018, closed its inactive wholly-owned subsidiary, Buccaneer Gold (Ghana) Limited (“Buccaneer Ghana”).  

 

Corporate Update and Outlook  

 

On December 12, 2018, the Company entered a binding letter of intent with a company carrying on 

business in the cannabis market in the United States of America, with the goal to reach a definitive 

agreement and ultimately effect a business combination.  On March 11, 2019, the Company announced 

the termination of the negotiation. 

 

To accommodate the transaction the Company was to migrate the listing for its shares from the TSX 

Venture Exchange to another Canadian exchange.  The Company will continue with this process. 

 

The Company is continuing its previously announced process of evaluating potential opportunities for 

possible investment or acquisition with a view to enhancing shareholder wealth. As part of this ongoing 

process, the Company has considered and will consider various alternatives for the Company, including a 

revised business plan, a merger, a purchase of or participation in other assets (either in one transaction 

or in a combination of transactions), joint ventures, and other transactions. 

 

Overview of Business  

 

The Massey Project  

 

On December 9, 2004, the Company entered into an option agreement with Salmay Resources Inc. 

(“Salmay”) to earn up to a 100% interest in six mining claims located in May and Salter Townships, Ontario. 

The Company earned an initial 65% undivided interest by paying cash consideration of $100,000 and 

incurring $300,000 in exploration expenditures. To earn a further 15% interest, the Company must pay 

cash consideration of $100,000 and fund all permitting and licensing costs necessary to commence 

commercial production on the claims. The remaining 20% interest can be earned by paying cash 

consideration of $100,000 following the commencement of commercial production from the claims. This 

project is subject to a 3% net smelter return royalty, 2% of which may be purchased by the Company for 

$3,000,000.  

 

The Massey property is comprised of 6 unpatented, contiguous mining claims containing 8 units and 

covering 128 hectares near Sudbury, Ontario approximately 7 kilometres north of Massey, Ontario. The 

mineral of economic interest in the Massey Project is quartz (SiO2 – silica) which occurs in a large 

northwest-southeast-trending deposit produced by silica-flooding and quartz veining. The deposit has 
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been mapped over a strike length of approximately 1,750 metres and occurs in three zones, the Eastern 

Zone, the Central Zone and the Western Zone. The deposit dips steeply north and in the Western Zone is 

from 10 metres to 15 metres wide while in the Central and Eastern Zones the width varies from 10 metres 

to 70 metres. A drilling program by the Company in 2005 showed continuity of the deposit along strike in 

both the Eastern and Central Zones and to a depth of at least 80 metres.  

 

Caracle Creek International Consulting Inc. (“CCIC”) was retained by the Company to prepare an 

independent technical report compliant with National Instrument 43-101, Companion Policy NI 43-101CP 

and Form 43-101F1 on the Massey Project and the final report (the “Report”) was dated August 13, 2007. 

Based on the work on this Project and in particular the 2005 drilling program, CCIC calculated an inferred 

mineral resource of 5,135,000 tonnes at an average grade of 89.1% SiO2 in the Eastern and Central Zones 

combined.  

 

In the Report, CCIC recommended a two phase exploration program for the Massey Project with the Phase 

1 program comprised of diamond drilling and surface sampling with a budget of approximately $240,000. 

During the summer of 2008, the Company completed the Phase 1 program of detailed surface sampling 

on the Central Zone and 12 diamond drill holes for a total of 892.5 metres over a strike length of 300 

metres on the Western Zone.  

 

The Company continues to believe the property has merit.  

 

Financial Performance 

 

Selected Annual Financial Information  

     

The table below summarizes key operating data for the last three fiscal years.  

 

 Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended 
 September 

30, 2019 
September 30, 

2018 
September 30, 

2017 
 (Audited) (Audited) (Audited) 
 $ $ $ 

Total assets 403,251 507,501 600,890 
Total non-current liabilities Nil Nil Nil 
Revenue Nil Nil Nil 
Net loss (101,884) (96,905) (192,807) 
Net loss per share (0.003) (0.003) (0.006) 
Weighted average shares outstanding 31,027,667 31,027,667 31,307,381 
    

 

Selected Quarterly Financial Information  

 

The following quarterly results for the eight most recent quarters have been prepared in accordance 

with IFRS as listed below. 
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Three Months 
Ended 

 
 
 

Cash 

 
 

Current 
Liabilities 

 
 

          Net  
           (Loss) 

 
 

(Loss) Per 
Share 

Weighted 
Average 
Shares 

Outstanding 
September 30, 2019 $ 398,185 $ 50,350 $ (20,752) $ (0.001) 31,021,667 
June 30, 2019   418,099  47,651  (26,748)  (0.001) 31,021,667 
March 31, 2019 443,261  43,650  (25,376) (0.001) 31,021,667 
December 31, 2018 473,658 53,650  (29,008) (0.001) 31,021,667 
September 30, 2018   507,501  52,715  (11,503)  (0.000) 31,021,667 
June 30, 2018  505,589  47,649 (13,816)  (0.000) 31,021,667 
March 31, 2018  522,602  49,525  (38,219)  (0.001) 31,021,667 
December 31, 2017   552,868   38,149    (33,367)  (0.001) 31,021,667 

 

Three months ended September 30, 2019 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2018 

 

The net loss for the three months ended September 30, 2019 was $20,752 (2018 - $11,503). For the three 

months ended September 30, 2019, exploration and evaluation expenditures, mostly to relocate drill core, 

totaled an expense of $11,037 (2018 - $312). For the three months ended September 30, 2019, general 

and administration expenses were $11,988 (2018 - $9,962). In the quarter, management fees for 

administration and director fees related to the special committee to pursue a corporate transaction, 

amounted to $8,500 (September 2018 - $1,750).  Most of the other expense is comprised of audit and 

office fees.   

 

Year ended September 30, 2019 compared to the year ended September 30, 2018 

 

The net loss for the year ended September 30, 2019 was $101,884 (2018 - $96,905). For the year ended 

September 30, 2019, exploration costs were $11,037 (2018 - $9,997), and general and administrative costs 

were $99,294 (2018 - $91,378).  Management and Director fees of $39,500 in the year ended September 

30, 2019 were higher than the $34,645 recorded in the year ended September 30, 2018 due to work on a 

Special Committee to pursue a corporate transaction.  Interest income in 2019 increased to $6,816 (2018 

- $876) as cash was better invested into interest bearing instruments. 

 

Professional fees increased with work on a corporate opportunity in 2019.  Filing and transfer agent fees 

were reduced as the Company delisted in consideration of pursuing a listing on another exchange. Other 

administration expenses in 2019 were similar to those in 2018 and relate to office fees, bank fees, and 

insurance.  

 

Related Party Transactions  

 

Related parties include directors, officers, close family members, certain consultants and enterprises that 

are controlled by these individuals as well as certain persons performing similar functions.  
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In accordance with IAS 24, key management personnel are those persons having authority and 

responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company directly or indirectly, 

including any directors (executive and non-executive) of the Company. Remuneration of directors and key 

management personnel of the Company for the years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 was:  

 

 2019 2018 
 $ $ 

Management fees 17,500 22,540 
Director fees 22,000 12,105 
Share-based payments - - 

Total 39,500 34,645 

  
 

 2019 2018 
Management and Directors' Fees $ $ 

Birks Bovaird 11,000 3,000 
Richard Smith - 9,639 
Peter Clausi 11,000 3,000 
Barry Lee - 3,000 
Blaine Schmidt - 3,105 
John Ross 17,500 12,901 

 39,500 34,645 

 

As at September 30, 2019, $30,000 (2018 - $30,000) is accrued relating to a potential liability to a prior 

director and officer of the Company.   The Company originally entered into a settlement agreement with 

the prior director and officer.  However, the Company subsequently believes that the former director and 

officer may not have fulfilled the conditions of the settlement.   The Company intends to defend against 

collection of this balance, if required. 

 

All amounts due to related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing and payable on demand.  

  

Financial Condition  
 

Cash Flow  
 

At September 30, 2019, the Company held cash of $398,185, a reduction of $101,354 during the year.  

Cash of $102,985 was used to fund operations.  Working capital changes from increased sales taxes 

receivable were mostly offset by the increased accruals for auditor and tax preparation work. 

 

As of January 1, 2018, the CEO and the Board waived their monthly fees to preserve cash.  In November 

2018, two Board members were granted monthly fees related to their work on a Special Committee to 

pursue a corporate transaction. 
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Critical Accounting Estimates and Changes in Accounting Policies 

 

All significant critical accounting estimates are fully disclosed in Note 4 of the consolidated financial 

statements for the years ended September 30, 2019, and 2018. 

 

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

 

Working capital of as of September 30, 2019 was $352,902 compared to $454,786 as of September 30, 

2018. The Company’s principal source of liquidity as of September 30, 2019 was cash and cash equivalents 

of $398,185 compared to $499,539 as of September 30, 2018.  

 

While Management believes that the Company has sufficient funds to meet its obligations and short term 

working capital requirements, and to accomplish its short term plans, the Company plans to continue to 

monitor closely its use of its available cash, while conditions in the capital markets continue to make it 

difficult for early stage exploration companies to raise additional capital. The Company may require 

substantial additional capital to fund any new project or to advance the Massey Project.  

 

Historically, the Company has used the net proceeds from issuances of its securities to provide sufficient 

funds for it to meet its near-term exploration and development plans and other contractual obligations 

when due. However, given the current market conditions affecting the junior mining sector, the current 

trading price of the Company’s common shares and other uncertainties discussed herein, there can be no 

assurance that the Company will be able to obtain sufficient additional funds on favorable terms, or at all, 

in order to carry out its objectives. As mentioned elsewhere in this MD&A, the Company is evaluating 

various strategic alternatives and, if it decides to pursue any such alternative, it may also require 

additional funds to carry out its strategic plans in amounts that cannot be determined as of the date 

hereof, which funds may also be unavailable to the Company on favorable terms or at all.  

 

Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Factors  

 

International financial reporting standards require that the Company disclose information about the fair 

value of its financial assets and liabilities. Fair value estimates are made at the statement of financial 

position date, based on relevant market information and information about the financial instrument. 

These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties in significant matters of judgment and 

therefore cannot be determined with precision. Changes in assumptions could significantly affect these 

estimates.  

 

 Fair value measurements are classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the 

inputs used in making the measurements. At September 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company has no financial 

instruments carried at fair value to classify in the fair value hierarchy.  
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 As at September 30, 2019 and 2018, carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, amounts receivable, 

and accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the statement of financial position approximate fair 

market value because of the limited term of these instruments.  

 

 The Company's risk exposures and the impact on the Company's financial instruments are summarized 

below. There have been no changes in the risks, objectives, policies and procedures from previous periods.  

 

 (a)  Credit Risk  

  

 The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and cash equivalents. The Company has no 

significant concentration of credit risk arising from operations. Management believes that the credit risk 

concentration with respect to cash and cash equivalents, and financial instruments included in amounts 

receivable is remote.  

 

  (b)  Liquidity Risk  

 

 The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet 

its obligations when due. At September 30, 2019, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $398,185 

(September 30, 2018 - $499,539) available to settle current liabilities of $50,350 (September 30, 2018 - 

$52,715). Of the Company’s accounts payable $20,350 have contractual maturities of less than 30 days 

and are subject to normal trade terms. The remaining $30,000 of the accounts payable relates to an 

accrued balance against a legal settlement with a previous officer and director.  

 

 (c)  Market Risk  

 

 The Company is exposed to the following market risks:  

 

 (i)  Interest Rate Risk  

 

 The Company has cash and cash equivalents balances and no variable interest-bearing debt. The 

Company’s current policy is to invest excess cash in investment-grade short-term deposit 

certificates issued by banking institutions. The Company periodically monitors the investments it 

makes and is satisfied with the credit ratings of its banks.  

 

 (ii)  Foreign Exchange Risk  

 

 The Company’s functional currency is the Canadian dollar but major purchases are transacted in 

Canadian dollars and United States dollars. As at September 30, 2019, the Company holds a foreign 

currency balance of US$48,578 ($64,333) (September 30, 2018 – US$50,805 ($65,768)) included in 

cash which is subject to foreign currency risk.  
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 (iii)  Price Risk  

 

 The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. The Company closely 

monitors commodity prices to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by the 

Company.  

 

 (d)  Sensitivity Analysis  

 

 The Company holds balances in United States dollars that give rise to foreign exchange risk. Based on 

management’s knowledge and experience of the financial markets, the Company does not believe there 

would be any material movements as a result of changes in interest rates. A 10% change in the Canadian 

dollar exchange rate as at September 30, 2019 compared to these currencies, with all other variables held 

constant, would impact the Company’s net loss by less than $7,000.  

 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  

 

At September 30, 2019, there were no off-balance sheet arrangements.  

 

Outstanding Share Data  

 

As at September 30, 2019, and at the date of this MD&A, the Company had 31,021,667 common shares 

issued and outstanding. The Company had no warrants outstanding at September 30, 2019 or at the date 

of this MD&A. 

 

Stock options  

 

A summary of the outstanding options of the Company as at the date of this MD&A is set out below.  

 

Expiry 
Date 

Options 
Issued 

Exercise 
Price 

 # $ 

Nov. 1, 2020 200,000 0.05 
Sept.15, 2021 1,750,000 0.05 

 1,950,000 0.05 

   

Risk Factors  

 

Until the proposed business combination is completed, the Company’s risk factors are those related to 

mineral exploration.  The Company’s business of mineral exploration has an inherent high level of risk. 

Management of the Company is optimistic about the potential of its property, but there can be no 

guarantee with regard to any property that any mineral deposits will be identified or, if identified, be 

economically viable for production. Management is currently updating the NI 43-101 report on the 
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Massey Property to assess our future direction on the property.  Further, the ability of the Company to 

continue operations is dependent upon favorable results from its exploration activities which will attract 

potential investors or exploration partners. Other risk exposures and the impact on the Company's 

financial instruments are summarized below.  

 

There have been no changes in the risks, objectives, policies and procedures from previous years other 

than disclosed elsewhere herein.  

 

Current Global Financial Conditions and Trends  

 

Securities of mining and mineral exploration companies have experienced substantial volatility in the past, 

often based on factors unrelated to the financial performance or prospects of the companies involved. 

These factors include macroeconomic developments globally, and market perceptions of the 

attractiveness of particular industries. The price of the securities of companies is also significantly affected 

by short-term changes in commodity prices, base and precious metal prices or other mineral prices, 

currency exchange fluctuation and the political environment in the countries in which the Company does 

business. As of September 30, 2019, the global economy continues to be in a period of significant 

economic volatility, in large part due to US, European, and Middle East economic and political concerns 

which have impacted global economic growth.  

 

Dependence on Key Individuals  

 

The Company’s business and operations are dependent on retaining the services of a small number of key 

individuals. The success of the Company is, and will continue to be, to a significant extent, dependent on 

the expertise and experience of these individuals. The loss of one or more of these individuals could have 

a materially adverse effect on the Company. The Company does not maintain insurance on any of its key 

individuals.  

 

Capital Management  

 

The Company considers its capital to consist of shareholders’ equity. The Company manages its capital 

structure and makes adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the Company, in order to support 

the acquisition, exploration and development of mineral properties. The Board does not establish 

quantitative return on capital criteria for Management, but rather relies on the expertise of the 

Company’s Management to sustain future development of the business.  

 

The property in which the Company currently has an interest is in the exploration stage and the Company 

is dependent on external financing to fund its activities. In order to carry out future exploration and pay 

on-going administrative costs, the Company will spend its existing working capital and raise additional 

amounts as needed. The Company will continue to assess new properties and seek to acquire an interest 

in additional properties if it determines there is sufficient geological or economic potential and if it has 

adequate financial resources to do so.  
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Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this 

approach, given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable. There were no significant changes in the 

Company’s approach to capital management in the year ended September 30, 2019. The Company and 

its subsidiary are not currently subject to externally imposed capital requirements.  

 

Corporate Transactions 

 

The Company has pursued corporate transactions, with the ultimate goal to effect a business 

combination.  There is no assurance that a business combination which is accretive to shareholders will 

be found and can be consummated. 

 

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements  

 

This MD&A contains certain “forward-looking information” as defined in applicable securities laws 

(collectively referred to herein as “forward-looking statements”). These statements relate to future 

events or the Company’s future performance. All statements other than statements of historical fact are 

forward-looking statements. Often, but not always, forward-looking statements can be identified by the 

use of words such as “plans”, “expects”, “budgeted”, “scheduled”, “estimates”, “continues”, “forecasts”, 

“projects”, “predicts”, “intends”, “anticipates” or “believes”, or variations of, or the negatives of, such 

words and phrases, or statements that certain actions, events or results “may”, “could”, “would”, 

“should”, “might” or “will” be taken, occur or be achieved. The forward-looking statements in this MD&A 

speak only as of the date of this MD&A or as of the date specified in such statements.  

 

Forward-looking statements are based upon certain assumptions and other important factors regarding 

present and future business strategies and the environment in which the Company will operate in the 

future, which could prove to be significantly incorrect. Forward-looking statements are inherently subject 

to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the actual results, level of 

activity, performance or achievements of the Company and/or its subsidiary to be materially different 

from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.  

 

Actual results and developments are likely to differ, and may differ materially, from those expressed or 

implied by the forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A. Forward-looking statements involve 

known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the Company’s actual results, 

performance or achievements to be materially different from any of its future results, performance or 

achievements expressed or implied by forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements herein 

are qualified by this cautionary note. Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on forward 

looking statements. The Company undertakes no obligation to update publicly or otherwise revise any 

forward-looking statements whether as a result of new information or future events or otherwise, except 

as may be required by law. If the Company does update one or more forward-looking statements, no 

inference should be drawn that it will make additional updates with respect to those or other forward-

looking statements, unless required by law. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 
To the Shareholders of Buccaneer Gold Corp. 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Buccaneer Gold Corp. and its 
subsidiary, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at September 30, 2018 and 2017, 
and the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, consolidated statements of changes in 
equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation 
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity's internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.  
 
Opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Buccaneer Gold Corp. and its subsidiary as at September 30, 2018 and 2017, and their financial performance and 
cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
 
 UHY McGovern Hurley LLP 

  
 Chartered Professional Accountants 
 Licensed Public Accountants 
Toronto, Canada 
December 21, 2018 



 

 

 

BUCCANEER GOLD CORP. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS) 
AS AT SEPTEMBER 30 
 

 
Notes 

2018 
$ 

2017
$ 

ASSETS  
CURRENT   
    Cash and cash equivalents 499,539 595,848
    Amounts receivable 7,962 5,042
    
TOTAL ASSETS 507,501 600,890
  

LIABILITIES  
CURRENT LIABILITIES  
    Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 8       52,715       49,199
  

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  
CAPITAL STOCK  6 (b) 7,674,830 7,674,830
SHARE-BASED PAYMENT RESERVE 6 (c) 26,621 26,621
DEFICIT (7,246,665) (7,149,760)
  
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 454,786 551,691
  
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY    507,501    600,890
  
NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN 1  
CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 5, 7  
  

APPROVED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD 
 

"Birks Bovaird"                           Director 
 

"Rick Smith"                         Director 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

See the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements  
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BUCCANEER GOLD CORP. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS) 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30 

 
 Notes 2018

$ 
2017 

$ 
EXPENSES  
  
    Exploration and evaluation expenditures 5, 7 9,997 1,014 
    General and administrative 8, 12 91,378 190,521 
    (Gain) loss on foreign exchange (3,594) 2,457 
  
Loss before other income 97,781 193,992 
     Interest income 876 1,185 
  
NET LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR 96,905 192,807 
  
NET LOSS PER SHARE - Basic and diluted 0.003 0.006 
  
WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES 
OUTSTANDING  - Basic and diluted 31,021,667 

 
31,307,381 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

See the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements  
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BUCCANEER GOLD CORP. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS) 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2018 AND 2017 

 

 
 

 
 
 

See the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 
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Share-based

Capital Capital Payment
Stock Stock Reserve (Deficit) Total

# $ $ $ $
 
 
BALANCE, SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 32,021,667 7,704,830 124,884 (7,055,216) 774,498
Return of shares  (1,000,000) (30,000) - - (30,000)
Options expired      - - (98,263) 98,263 -
Loss and comprehensive loss - - - (192,807) (192,807)
 
BALANCE, SEPTEMBER 30, 2017 31,021,667 7,674,830 26,621 (7,149,760) 551,691
Loss and comprehensive loss - - - (96,905) (96,905)

BALANCE, SEPTEMBER 30, 2018 31,021,667 7,674,830 26,621 (7,246,665) 454,786



 

 

 

BUCCANEER GOLD CORP. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS) 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,   
 
 2018

$ 
2017

$ 
  
CASH FLOWS USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES  
    Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year  (96,905)  (192,807)
        Changes not involving cash:  
       Return of shares (Note 6) - (30,000)
       Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss (3,594) 2,457
 (100,499)  (220,350)
    Changes in non-cash components of working capital  
        (Increase) decrease in amounts receivable (2,920) 10,749
        Decrease in prepaids - 19,786
        Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3,516 (3,701)
Cash flow used in operating activities (99,903) (193,516)
  
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash 3,594 (2,457)
  
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents for the year (96,309) (195,973)
CASH, beginning of the year 595,848   791,821   
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of the year 499,539   595,848   
  
Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of:  
Cash 159,983 595,848
Cash equivalents 339,556 -
 499,539 595,848
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

See the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements  
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BUCCANEER GOLD CORP. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
Years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN  
 
 Buccaneer Gold Corp. (the “Company” or “Buccaneer”), is engaged in the acquisition, exploration 

and evaluation of a mineral property, and is actively pursuing other potential opportunities. The 
Company has operations in Canada. The Company’s head office is located at 82 Richmond Street 
East, Suite 308, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5C 1P1. The Company’s shares are listed on the TSX 
Venture Exchange (“TSX-V”) under the symbol “BGG”.  

 
 These consolidated financial statements of the Company were approved and authorized for issue 

by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) on December 21, 2018.  
 
 Subsequent to September 30, 2018, the Company announced its intention to pursue a business 

opportunity in the United States cannabis market (see Note 13). Before that time, the Company 
was in the process of conducting exploration on its property to identify mineral resources and had 
not yet determined whether the property contained economically recoverable reserves. The 
business of mining and exploring for minerals involves a high degree of risk and there can be no 
assurance that exploration programs would result in profitable mining operations. The Company’s 
continued existence as an exploration company was dependent upon the preservation of its 
interest in the underlying property, the discovery of economically recoverable reserves, the ability 
of the Company to obtain necessary financing to complete planned exploration programs, the 
achievement of profitable operations or, alternatively, upon the Company’s ability to dispose of its 
property interests on an advantageous basis.  

 
 Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to the property on which it was conducting 

exploration and in which it has an interest, in accordance with industry practice for the current 
stage of exploration of such properties, these procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title. 
Property title may be subject to unregistered prior agreements or non-compliance with regulatory 
or social licencing requirements. The Company’s assets may also be subject to increases in taxes 
and royalties, renegotiation of contracts, currency exchange fluctuations and restrictions and 
political uncertainty.  

 
 These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting principles 

applicable to a going concern, which assume that the Company will continue in operation for the 
foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal 
course of operations as they come due. The Company has no current revenues or cash flows from 
operations and has working capital of $454,786 as at September 30, 2018 (2017 - $551,691). 
Management believes it will be successful in raising the necessary funds to continue in the normal 
course of operations or effecting a corporate transaction; however, there is no assurance that these 
funds will be available on terms acceptable to the Company or at all, or that a corporate transaction 
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will be effected. These consolidated financial statements do not include the adjustments that would 
be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. Such adjustments 
could be material.  

 
2.  STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE  
 
 These consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary were prepared in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee 
(“IFRIC”). The policies set out below were consistently applied to all periods presented unless 
otherwise noted.  

 
3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION  
 
 Basis of consolidation  
 
 These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Buccaneer Gold Corp. and its 

wholly owned subsidiary Buccaneer Gold (Ghana) Limited (from September 1, 2011), which became 
inactive in 2017. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated upon 
consolidation.  

 
 Subsidiaries are those entities which Buccaneer controls. Control exists when the Company is 

exposed or has rights to the variable returns of the subsidiary and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the subsidiary. Power is defined as existing rights that give the 
Company the ability to direct the relevant activities of the subsidiary. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is obtained by the Company and are de-consolidated 
from the date that control ceases.  

 
 Basis of measurement  
 
 These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis. In 

addition, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of 
accounting, except for cash flow information.  
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
 Outlined below are those policies considered particularly significant:  
 
 (a)  Cash and cash equivalents  
 
 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and money market funds, with original maturities 

of less than 90 days. The money market funds are held with a Canadian chartered bank or a 
Canadian financial institution.  

 
 (b)  Property and equipment  
 
 Property and equipment are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses. The cost of an item of property or equipment consists of the purchase price, any 
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for its 
intended use and an initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring 
the site on which it is located.  

 
 Depreciation is recognized based on the cost of an item of equipment, less its estimated residual 

value, over its estimated useful life over the following periods:  
 
  Buildings  Straight-line over 25 years  
  Equipment  Straight-line over 5 years  
 
 An asset's residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if 

appropriate, on an annual basis.  
 
 (c)  Exploration and evaluation expenditures  
 
 The Company expenses exploration and evaluation expenditures as incurred. Exploration and 

evaluation expenditures include acquisition costs of mineral properties, property option payments 
and evaluation activity.  

 
 Once a project has been established as commercially viable and technically feasible, related 

development expenditures are capitalized. This includes costs incurred in preparing the site for 
mining operations. Capitalization ceases when the mine is capable of commercial production, with 
the exception of development costs that give rise to a future benefit.  
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 (d)  Restoration, rehabilitation and environmental obligations  
 
 A legal or constructive obligation to incur restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs may 

arise when environmental disturbance is caused by the exploration, development or ongoing 
production of a mineral property interest. Such costs are discounted to their net present value using 
a risk-free rate and are provided for and charged to operations, as soon as the obligation to incur 
such costs arises. Discount rates using a pre-tax rate that reflects the time value of money are used 
to calculate the net present value. The related liability is adjusted for each period for the unwinding 
of the discount rate and for changes to the current market-based discount rate, amount or timing 
of the underlying cash flows needed to settle the obligation.  

 
 The Company had no material restoration, rehabilitation and environmental obligations at 

September 30, 2018 or September 30, 2017.  
 
 (e)  Income taxes  
 
 Income tax on the profit or loss for the years presented comprises current and deferred tax. Income 

tax is recognized in the statement of operations except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognized directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in equity.  

 
 Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 

enacted or substantively enacted at period end, adjusted for amendments to tax payable with 
regards to previous years.  

 
 In general, deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences arising between the tax 

bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements unless such 
differences arise from goodwill or the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of 
other assets or liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting 
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined on a non-discounted basis using tax rates and laws 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date and are 
expected to apply when the deferred tax asset or liability is settled. Deferred tax assets are 
recognized to the extent that it is probable that the assets can be recovered.  

 
 Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries 

and associates, except, in the case of subsidiaries, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
difference is controlled by the Company and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.  
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 Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are presented as non-current. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority 
and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.  

 
 (f)  Share-based payment transactions  
 
 Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are 

measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date. The fair value is measured 
at grant date and each tranche is recognized on a graded-vesting basis over the period in which the 
options vest. The offset to the recorded cost is to share-based payment reserve. Consideration 
received on the exercise of stock options is recorded as share capital and the related share-based 
payment reserve is transferred to share capital. Upon expiry, the recorded value is transferred to 
deficit.  

 
 At the end of each reporting period, the Company revises its estimate of the number of equity 

instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is 
recognized in the statement of operations such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised 
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based payment reserve. Where the terms 
and conditions of options are modified, the increase in the fair value of the options, measured 
immediately before and after the modification, is also charged to the statement of operations.  

 
 Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured 

at the fair value of the goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated 
reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, 
measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service.  

 
 (g)  Flow-through financing  
 
 The Company finances a portion of its exploration activities through the issue of flow-through 

shares, which transfers the tax deductibility of exploration expenditures to the investor. The 
Company has adopted a policy whereby flow-through proceeds are allocated between the offering 
of the common shares and the sale of tax benefits when the common shares are offered. The 
allocation is made based on the difference between the quoted price of the common shares and 
the amount the investor pays for the flow-through shares. A liability is recognized for the premium 
paid by the investors and is then derecognized in the period of renunciation. The recognition of a 
deferred income tax liability upon renunciation of the flow through expenditures is recorded as 
income tax expense in the period of renunciation. Any difference between the amount of the 
liability component derecognized and deferred income tax liability recognized is recorded in the 
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consolidated statement of operations. As at September 30, 2018 and 2017, the Company has no 
outstanding flow-through obligations.  

 
 (h)  Loss per common share  
 
 Basic loss per share is calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding. The 

diluted loss per share assumes that any proceeds from the exercise of dilutive stock options and 
warrants would be used to repurchase common shares at the average market price during the 
period, with the incremental number of shares being included in the denominator of the diluted 
loss per share calculation. The diluted loss per share calculation excludes any potential conversion 
of options and warrants that would decrease loss per share. See Notes 6(c), and (d) for details on 
the Company’s potentially dilutive securities. All of the Company’s outstanding stock options were 
anti-dilutive for the years ended September 30, 2018 and September 30, 2017.  

 
  (i)  Use of estimates  
 
 The preparation of these consolidated financial statements under IFRS requires management to 

make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions about future events that affect the amounts 
reported in the financial statements and related notes to the financial statements. Although these 
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the amount, event or actions, actual 
results may differ from those estimates and these differences could be material.  

 
 The areas which require management to make significant judgements, estimates and assumptions 

in determining carrying values include, but are not limited to:  
 

• Estimation of restoration, rehabilitation and environmental obligations  
Restoration, rehabilitation and environmental liabilities are estimated based on the 
Company’s interpretation of current regulatory requirements and constructive obligations 
and are measured at fair value. Fair value is determined based on the net present value of 
estimated future cash expenditures for the settlement of restoration, rehabilitation and 
environmental liabilities that may occur upon ceasing exploration and evaluation activities. 
Such estimates are subject to change based on changes in laws and regulations and 
negotiations with regulatory authorities.  
 

• Income, value added, withholding and other taxes   
The Company is subject to income, value added, withholding and other taxes. Significant 
judgment is required in determining the Company’s provisions for taxes. There are many 
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during 
the ordinary course of business. The Company recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit 
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issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. The determination of the 
Company’s income, value added, withholding and other tax liabilities requires 
interpretation of complex laws and regulations. The Company’s interpretation of taxation 
law as applied to transactions and activities may not coincide with the interpretation of the 
tax authorities. All tax related filings are subject to government audit and potential 
reassessment subsequent to the financial statement reporting period. Where the final tax 
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such 
differences will impact the tax related accruals and deferred income tax provisions in the 
period in which such determination is made. 
 

• Share-based payments  
Management determines costs for share-based payments using market-based valuation 
techniques. The fair value of the market-based and performance-based share awards is 
determined at the date of grant using generally accepted valuation techniques. 
Assumptions are made and judgment used in applying valuation techniques. These 
assumptions and judgments include estimating the future volatility of the stock price, 
expected dividend yield, future employee turnover rates and future employee stock option 
exercise behaviours and Company performance. Such judgments and assumptions are 
inherently uncertain. Changes in these assumptions affect the fair value estimates.  
 

• Environmental  
Management believes its operations are in material compliance with all applicable laws and 
regulations. The Company has made, and expects to make in the future, expenditures to 
comply with such laws and regulations. Management is required to estimate the cost of 
compliance when laws change. 
 

(j)  Financial instruments  
 
 Financial assets and financial liabilities that are purchased and incurred with the intention of 

generating profits in the near term are classified as held-for-trading.  
 
 Financial assets that have a fixed maturity date and fixed or determinable payments, where the 

Company intends and has the ability to hold the financial asset to maturity, are classified as held-
to-maturity and are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Any gains 
and losses arising from the sale of held-to-maturity financial assets are included in operations. As 
at September 30, 2018 and September 30, 2017, the Company had no held-to-maturity financial 
assets.  
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Items classified as loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method. Any gains or losses on the realization of loans and receivables are included in operations. 
The Company’s cash and cash equivalents, and amounts receivable, are classified as loans and 
receivables.  

 
 Available-for-sale assets are those financial assets that are not classified as held-for-trading, held-

to-maturity or loans or receivables, and are carried at fair value. Any gains or losses arising from 
the change in fair value are recorded as other comprehensive loss. Available-for-sale securities are 
written down to fair value through operations whenever it is necessary to reflect a change other 
than temporary impairment. Cumulative gains and losses arising upon the sale of the instrument 
are included in operations. The Company did not have any available-for-sale assets as at September 
30, 2018 or September 30, 2017.  

 
 Financial liabilities that are not classified as held-for-trading are classified as other financial 

liabilities, and are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Any gains or losses 
arising from the realization of other financial liabilities are included in operations. The Company has 
classified accounts payable and accrued liabilities as other financial liabilities, which are carried at 
amortized cost.  

 
 Impairment of financial assets:  
 Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. 

Financial assets are impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more 
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial assets, the estimated future cash 
flows of the financial assets have been negatively impacted.  

 
 Financial instruments recorded at fair value:  
 Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the consolidated statements of financial position 

are classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making 
the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:  

 
 Level 1 - valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities;  
 Level 2 - valuation techniques based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are 

observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from 
prices); and  

 Level 3 - valuation techniques using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable 
market data (unobservable inputs).  
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 (k)  Translation of foreign currencies and foreign subsidiary  
 
 The functional and reporting currency of the Company and its subsidiary is the Canadian dollar. 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the currency of measurement at the exchange 
rates in effect on the transaction date. Monetary items on the consolidated statement of financial 
position, expressed in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rates 
in effect at the reporting date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in 
a foreign currency are not retranslated at the reporting date.  Depreciation is translated on the 
same basis as the related asset. The resulting exchange gains or losses are recognized in operations 
in the period in which they arise.  

 
 (l)  Provisions  
 
 A provision is recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 

result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation, and the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated. If the effect is material, 
provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks 
specific to the liability.  

 
 A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the expected benefits to be derived by the 

Company from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the 
contract.  

 
 (m)  Recent Accounting Pronouncements and Accounting Changes 
 
 Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been issued by 

the IASB or IFRIC that are mandatory for accounting periods beginning after October 1, 2018, or 
later periods. The following have not yet been adopted and are being evaluated to determine their 
impact on the Company.  

 
 IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) was issued by the IASB in November 2009 with additions 

in October 2010, May 2013 and July 2014 and will replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement (“IAS 39”). IFRS 9 uses a single approach to determine whether a financial asset 
is measured at amortized cost or fair value, replacing the multiple rules in IAS 39. The approach in 
IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments in the context of its business 
model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. Most of the 
requirements in IAS 39 for classification and measurement of financial liabilities were carried 
forward unchanged to IFRS 9, except that an entity choosing to measure a financial liability at fair 
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value will present the portion of any change in its fair value due to changes in the entity’s own credit 
risk in other comprehensive income, rather than within profit or loss. The new standard also 
requires a single impairment method to be used, replacing the multiple impairment methods in IAS 
39. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.  

 
 IFRIC 22 – Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration (“IFRIC 22”) was issued in 

December 2016 and addresses foreign currency transactions or parts of transactions where there 
is consideration that is denominated in a foreign currency; a prepaid asset or deferred income 
liability is recognised in respect of that consideration, in advance of the recognition of the related 
asset, expense or income; and the prepaid asset or deferred income liability is non-monetary.  The 
interpretation committee concluded that the date of the transaction, for purposes of determining 
the exchange rate, is the date of initial recognition of the non-monetary prepaid asset or deferred 
income liability. IFRIC 22 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.  
 
IFRIC 23 – Uncertainty Over Income Tax Treatments (“IFRIC 23”) was issued in June 2017 and 
clarifies the accounting for uncertainties in income taxes.  The interpretation committee concluded 
that an entity shall consider whether it is probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain 
tax treatment. If an entity concludes it is probable that the taxation authority will accept an 
uncertain tax treatment, then the entity shall determine taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused 
tax losses and credits or tax rates consistently with the tax treatment used or planned to be used 
in its income tax filings.  If an entity concludes it is not probable that the taxation authority will 
accept an uncertain tax treatment, the entity shall reflect the effect of uncertainty in determining 
the related taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses and credits or tax rates.  IFRIC 23 
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Earlier adoption is permitted. 

 
5.  EXPLORATION PROPERTIES, EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURES  
 
 Massey Silica Project (the “Massey Project”)  
 
 On December 9, 2004, the Company entered into an option agreement with Salmay Resources Inc. 

(“Salmay”) to earn up to a 100% interest in six mining claims located in May and Salter Townships, 
Ontario. The Company earned an initial 65% undivided interest by paying a cash consideration of 
$100,000 and incurring $300,000 in exploration expenditures. To earn a further 15% interest, the 
Company must pay cash consideration of $100,000 and fund all permitting and licensing costs 
necessary to commence commercial production on the claims. The remaining 20% interest can be 
earned by paying cash consideration of $100,000 following the commencement of commercial 
production from the claims. This project is subject to a 3% net smelter return royalty (“NSR”), 2% 
of which may be purchased by the Company for $3,000,000. The Company believes the property 
continues to have merit.     
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6.  CAPITAL STOCK  
 
 The capital stock is as follows:  
 
 (a)        Authorized  
           Unlimited number of common shares with no par value  
           Unlimited number of Class A special shares  
           Unlimited number of Class B special shares  
 
 (b)        Issued  
 

 Common Shares Amount 
 # $ 

Balance, September 30, 2016 32,021,667 7,704,830
Return of shares (1,000,000) (30,000)
September 30, 2017 and September 30, 2018 31,021,667 7,674,830

 
In 2017, the Company received 1,000,000 common shares of the Company pursuant to a 
settlement agreement with Xtra-Gold Resources Corp., relating to the Company’s previous 
interest in the Banso and Muoso concessions in Ghana.  These shares were measured at 
$0.03 per share, being the quoted market price of the shares on the date of the settlement 
agreement.  The Company cancelled these shares during 2017. 

 
(c)  Stock Options  
 

The Company has a 10% rolling stock option plan (“Plan”) which provides that incentive-
based stock options may be granted, at the Board’s discretion, to a quantity not to exceed 
10% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company at the time of granting.  Pursuant 
to TSX-V policies, the Plan requires annual shareholder approval. The Plan was renewed at 
the April 12, 2017 Shareholders' Meeting. 

 
A summary of changes in the stock options is as follows:  
 

 2018 2017 
   

Stock  
Options 

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price 

  
Stock  

Options 

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price 
 # $ # $ 
Balance, beginning of year 1,950,000 0.05 2,750,000 0.07
Expired - - (800,000) 0.08
Balance, end of year 1,950,000 0.05 1,950,000 0.05
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No stock options were granted in the years ended September 30, 2018 and September 30, 
2017.  Since all previous stock options had fully vested at the beginning of the year, there 
was no stock option expense in the years ended September 30, 2018 and September 30, 
2017. 

 
 The following stock options to purchase common shares of the Company were outstanding 

as at September 30, 2018:  
 

Date of 
Grant 

Expiry 
Date 

Options 
Issued 

Options 
Exercisable 

Exercise 
Price 

  # # $ 
Nov. 1, 2015 Nov. 1, 2020 200,000 200,000 0.05
Sept.12, 2016 Sept.12, 2021 1,750,000 1,750,000 0.05
  1,950,000 1,950,000 
     

 The weighted average remaining contractual life of issued and outstanding stock options as 
at September 30, 2018 is 2.9 years (2017 – 3.9 years) and the weighted average exercise price 
of options exercisable was $0.05 (2017 - $0.05).  

 
(d)  Warrants  
 
 As of September 30, 2018, and 2017 there were no outstanding warrants to purchase 

common shares of the Company.  
 
7.  CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 
 
 Environmental contingencies  
 
 The Company’s exploration activities are subject to various laws and regulations governing 

the protection of the environment. These laws and regulations are continually changing and 
generally becoming more restrictive. The Company believes its operations are in material 
compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. The Company has made, and expects to 
make in the future, expenditures to comply with such laws and regulations.  

 
8.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  
 
 Related parties include directors, officers, close family members, certain consultants and 

enterprises that are controlled by these individuals as well as certain persons performing 
similar functions.  
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 In accordance with IAS 24, key management personnel are those persons having authority 
and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company 
directly or indirectly, including any directors (executive and non-executive) of the Company. 
Remuneration of directors and key management personnel of the Company for the years 
ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was:  

 
 2018 2017 
 $ $ 
Management fees 22,540 54,407
Director fees 12,105 49,126
Share-based payments - -
Total 34,645 103,533

 
 As at September 30, 2018, $30,000 (2017 - $30,000) is accrued relating to a potential liability 

to a prior director and officer of the Company.   The Company originally entered in to a 
settlement agreement with the prior director and officer.  However, the Company 
subsequently believes that the former director and officer may not have fulfilled the 
conditions of the settlement.   The Company intends to defend against collection of this 
balance, if required. 

 
 All amounts due to related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing and payable on 

demand.  
  
9.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK FACTORS  
 
 International financial reporting standards require that the Company disclose information 

about the fair value of its financial assets and liabilities. Fair value estimates are made at the 
statement of financial position date, based on relevant market information and information 
about the financial instrument. These estimates are subjective in nature and involve 
uncertainties in significant matters of judgment and therefore cannot be determined with 
precision. Changes in assumptions could significantly affect these estimates.  

 
 Fair value measurements are classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the 

significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. At September 30, 2018 and 
2017, the Company has no financial instruments carried at fair value to classify in the fair 
value hierarchy.  

 
 As at September 30, 2018 and 2017, carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, amounts 

receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the statement of financial position 
approximate fair market value because of the limited term of these instruments.  
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 The Company's risk exposures and the impact on the Company's financial instruments are 
summarized below. There have been no changes in the risks, objectives, policies and 
procedures from previous periods.  

 
 (a)   Credit Risk  
  
 The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and cash equivalents. The 

Company has no significant concentration of credit risk arising from operations. Management 
believes that the credit risk concentration with respect to cash and cash equivalents, and 
financial instruments included in amounts receivable is remote.  

 
  (b)  Liquidity Risk  
 

 The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient 
liquidity to meet its obligations when due. At September 30, 2018, the Company had cash 
and cash equivalents of $499,539 (September 30, 2017 - $595,848) available to settle current 
liabilities of $52,715 (September 30, 2017 - $49,199). Of the Company’s accounts payable 
$22,715 have contractual maturities of less than 30 days and are subject to normal trade 
terms. The remaining $30,000 of the accounts payable relates to an accrued balance against 
a legal settlement with a previous officer and director (see Note 8).  

 
 (c)   Market Risk  
 
 The Company is exposed to the following market risks:  
 
  (i)  Interest Rate Risk  
 

  The Company has cash and cash equivalents balances and no variable interest-bearing 
debt. The Company’s current policy is to invest excess cash in investment-grade short-
term deposit certificates issued by banking institutions. The Company periodically 
monitors the investments it makes and is satisfied with the credit ratings of its banks.  

 
 (ii)  Foreign Exchange Risk  
 
 The Company’s functional currency is the Canadian dollar but major purchases are 

transacted in Canadian dollars and United States dollars. As at September 30, 2018, the 
Company holds a foreign currency balance of US$50,805 ($65,768) (September 30, 2017 
– US$51,034 ($63,818)) included in cash which is subject to foreign currency risk.  
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 (iii)  Price Risk  
 
 The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. The Company 

closely monitors commodity prices to determine the appropriate course of action to be 
taken by the Company.  

 
 (d)   Sensitivity Analysis  
 
 The Company holds balances in United States dollars that give rise to foreign exchange risk. 

Based on management’s knowledge and experience of the financial markets, the Company 
does not believe there would be any material movements as a result of changes in interest 
rates. A 10% change in the Canadian dollar exchange rate as at September 30, 2018 
compared to these currencies, with all other variables held constant, would impact the 
Company’s net loss by less than $7,000.  

 
10.  INCOME TAXES  
 
 (a)  The items causing the Company’s effective income tax rate to differ from the combined 

Canadian federal and provincial statutory rate of 26.5% (2017 – 26.5%) are as follows:  
 

 2018 2017 
 $ $ 
Loss before income taxes (97,000) (193,000)
Expected income tax recovery (26,000) (50,000)
Adjustments to benefit resulting from:  
  Benefit of tax losses not recognized 26,000 50,000
  
Deferred income tax recovery - -
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(b) Tax benefits from non-capital loss carry-forwards have not been recorded in the 
consolidated financial statements. These losses, which may reduce taxable income in future 
years, amount to approximately $2,933,000 and expires as follows:  

 
Year Amount ($) 

2026 8,000
2027 22,000
2028 91,000
2029 101,000
2030 100,000
2031 383,000
2032 370,000
2033 261,000
2034 332,000
2035 301,000
2036 447,000
2037 438,000
2038 87,000
 2,941,000

 
 (c) The Company has Canadian and foreign development and exploration expenditure pools 

for tax purposes of approximately $5,090,000 at September 30, 2018 that may, in certain 
situations be applied to reduce taxable income in subsequent years.  

 
 (d) Unrecognized deferred tax assets  
 
 Deferred income tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following deductible 

temporary differences:  
 

 2018 2017 
 $ $ 
Non-capital loss carry-forwards 2,941,000 2,851,000
Mineral exploration property costs 5,090,000 5,080,000
Total 8,031,000 7,931,000

 
 Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of these items because it is not 

probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the Company can use the 
benefits.  
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11.  CAPITAL MANAGEMENT  
 
 The Company considers its capital to consist of shareholders’ equity. The Company manages 

its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the 
Company, in order to support the acquisition, exploration and evaluation of mineral 
properties. The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria 
for management, but rather relies on the expertise of the Company’s management to sustain 
future development of the business.  

 
 The properties in which the Company currently has an interest are in the exploration stage; 

as such the Company is dependent on external financing to fund its activities. In order to 
carry out the planned exploration and pay administrative costs, the Company will spend its 
existing working capital and raise additional amounts as needed. The Company will continue 
to assess new properties and seek to acquire an interest in additional properties if it feels 
there is sufficient geological or economic potential and if it has adequate financial resources 
to do so. Alternatively, the Company will pursue corporate transactions to the benefit of 
shareholders. 

 
 Management reviews its capital management approach on an on-going basis and believes 

that this approach, given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable. There were no 
significant changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the years 
ended September 30, 2018 and 2017. The Company and its subsidiary are not currently 
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.  

 
12.  GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE  

 2018 2017 
 $ $ 
Management fees (Note 8) 22,540 54,407
Directors' fees (Note 8) 12,105 49,126
Filing and transfer agent fees 11,808 14,224
Professional fees  23,205 33,492
Office and administration 14,949 22,987
Insurance 5,250 14,599
Bank charges 1,521 1,686
 91,378 190,521
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13. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

On December 21, 2018, the Company entered a binding letter of intent with a company 
carrying on business in the cannabis market in the United States of America, with the goal to 
effect a business combination.  To accommodate the transaction it is expected that the 
Company will migrate the listing for its shares from the TSX Venture Exchange to the 
Canadian Securities Exchange. 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2018 

  

Introduction 

 

The following is Management’s Discussion and Analysis (the “MD&A”) of the consolidated financial 

position and results from operations of Buccaneer Gold Corp. (the “Company” or “Buccaneer”), for the 

year ended September 30, 2018. This MD&A should be read in conjunction with the Company’s 

consolidated financial statements for its fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 along with 

accompanying notes to the statements for the years then ended.  

 

The Company’s reporting currency is the Canadian dollar and all amounts in this MD&A are expressed in 

Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated. The Company’s consolidated financial statements for its 

fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 were prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  

 

For the purposes of preparing this MD&A, management, in conjunction with the Board of Directors (the 

“Board”), considers the materiality of information. Information is considered material if: (i) such 

information results in, or would reasonably be expected to result in, a significant change in the market 

price or value of Buccaneer’s common shares; (ii) there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable 

investor would consider it important in making an investment decision; or (iii) it would significantly alter 

the total mix of information available to investors. Management, in conjunction with the Board, evaluates 

materiality with reference to all relevant circumstances, including potential market sensitivity.  

 

The Company is a reporting issuer in Ontario, British Columbia and Alberta. The common shares of the 

Company are listed for trading on the TSX-Venture Exchange (the “TSX-V”) under the trading symbol 

“BGG”. This MD&A is dated as of December 21, 2018. 

 

Additional Information 

 

Additional information relating to the Company is on the System for Electronic Document Analysis and 

Retrieval (“SEDAR”) at www.sedar.com.  
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Business Overview and Corporate Update  

 

Description of the Business  

 

The Company is a mineral exploration company engaged in the acquisition, exploration and development 

of mineral properties. The Company is incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario and has 

one inactive wholly-owned subsidiary, Buccaneer Gold (Ghana) Limited (“Buccaneer Ghana”). Subsequent 

to September 30, 2018, the Company announced its intent to enter the cannabis market in the United 

States through a business combination. 

 

Corporate Update and Outlook  

 

On December 12, 2018, the Company entered a binding letter of intent with a company carrying on 

business in the cannabis market in the United States of America, with the goal to reach a definitive 

agreement and ultimately effect a business combination.  To accommodate the transaction it is expected 

that the Company will migrate the listing for its shares from the TSX Venture Exchange to the Canadian 

Securities Exchange. 

 

The binding letter of intent contains confidentiality provisions and expires on May 31, 2019.  The binding 

letter of intent includes conditions and requirements for both parties to the agreement.  There is no 

guarantee that these conditions and requirements will be met or a business combination will be effected.  

 

On January 21, 2011, the Company entered into a binding option agreement (the “Option Agreement”) 

for the Banso and Muoso Concessions in Ghana (the "Concessions").   On November 18, 2016, the 

Company settled its litigation with Xtra-Gold Resources Corp. (“Xtra”) related to the Option Agreement 

for the Concessions.  Under the terms of the settlement, the Company terminated its earn-in option 

interest in the Concessions.  The Company abandoned its claim to alluvial gold from the Concessions.  The 

Company paid Xtra $20,000 as reimbursement of legal fees incurred.  Xtra returned 1,000,000 Buccaneer 

shares to the Company for $nil cost.  The Company has received the shares from Xtra and cancelled the 

shares. 

 

The Company is continuing its previously announced process of evaluating potential opportunities for 

possible investment or acquisition with a view to enhancing shareholder wealth. This process was initiated 

as a result of unfavorable market and uncertainties regarding its previous investment in Ghana. As part of 

this ongoing process, the Company has considered and will consider various alternatives for the Company, 

including a revised business plan, a merger, a purchase of or participation in other assets (either in one 

transaction or in a combination of transactions), joint ventures, and other transactions 
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Overview of Business  

 

The Massey Project  

 

On December 9, 2004, the Company entered into an option agreement with Salmay Resources Inc. 

(“Salmay”) to earn up to a 100% interest in six mining claims located in May and Salter Townships, Ontario. 

The Company earned an initial 65% undivided interest by paying cash consideration of $100,000 and 

incurring $300,000 in exploration expenditures. To earn a further 15% interest, the Company must pay 

cash consideration of $100,000 and fund all permitting and licensing costs necessary to commence 

commercial production on the claims. The remaining 20% interest can be earned by paying cash 

consideration of $100,000 following the commencement of commercial production from the claims. This 

project is subject to a 3% net smelter return royalty, 2% of which may be purchased by the Company for 

$3,000,000.  

 

The Massey property is comprised of 6 unpatented, contiguous mining claims containing 8 units and 

covering 128 hectares near Sudbury, Ontario approximately 7 kilometres north of Massey, Ontario. The 

mineral of economic interest in the Massey Project is quartz (SiO2 – silica) which occurs in a large 

northwest-southeast-trending deposit produced by silica-flooding and quartz veining. The deposit has 

been mapped over a strike length of approximately 1,750 metres and occurs in three zones, the Eastern 

Zone, the Central Zone and the Western Zone. The deposit dips steeply north and in the Western Zone is 

from 10 metres to 15 metres wide while in the Central and Eastern Zones the width varies from 10 metres 

to 70 metres. A drilling program by the Company in 2005 showed continuity of the deposit along strike in 

both the Eastern and Central Zones and to a depth of at least 80 metres.  

 

Caracle Creek International Consulting Inc. (“CCIC”) was retained by the Company to prepare an  

independent technical report compliant with National Instrument 43-101, Companion Policy NI 43-101CP 

and Form 43-101F1 on the Massey Project and the final report (the “Report”) was dated August 13, 2007. 

Based on the work on this Project and in particular the 2005 drilling program, CCIC calculated an inferred 

mineral resource of 5,135,000 tonnes at an average grade of 89.1% SiO2 in the Eastern and Central Zones 

combined.  

 

In the Report, CCIC recommended a two phase exploration program for the Massey Project with the Phase 

1 program comprised of diamond drilling and surface sampling with a budget of approximately $240,000. 

During the summer of 2008, the Company completed the Phase 1 program of detailed surface sampling 

on the Central Zone and 12 diamond drill holes for a total of 892.5 metres over a strike length of 300 

metres on the Western Zone.  

 

The Company continues to believe the property has merit.  
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United States Cannabis Company Letter of Intent 

 

On December 12, 2018, the Company entered a binding letter of intent with a company carrying on 

business in the cannabis market in the United States of America, with the goal to effect a business 

combination.  To accommodate the transaction it is expected that the Company will migrate the listing 

for its shares from the TSX Venture Exchange to the Canadian Securities Exchange. 

 

The binding letter of intent contains confidentiality provisions and expires on May 31, 2019.  The binding 

letter of intent includes conditions and requirements for both parties to the agreement.  There is no 

guarantee that these conditions and requirements will be met, or a business combination will be effected. 

The binding letter of intent will allow both parties to perform due diligence and is expected to lead to a 

definitive agreement for a business combination.  The terms of a definitive agreement will depend upon 

advice from legal, tax, securities, finance and accounting professionals in multiple jurisdictions, among 

other requirements.  The Company expects that its market valuation would be established at $1.5 million, 

being a 48% premium to the last closing price for its shares. 

 

There is no assurance that a definitive agreement will be reached or, even if a definitive agreement is 

entered into, the Transaction will close on the disclosed terms or at all. 

 

Financial Performance 

 

Selected Annual Financial Information  

     

The table below summarizes key operating data for the last three fiscal years.  

 

 Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended 
 September 30, 

2018 
September 30, 

2017 
September 30, 

2016 
 (Audited) (Audited) (Audited) 
 $ $ $ 

Total assets 507,501 600,890 827,398 
Total non-current liabilities Nil Nil Nil 
Revenue Nil Nil Nil 
Net loss (96,905) (192,807) (375,483) 
Net loss per share (0.003) (0.006) (0.012) 
Weighted average shares outstanding 31,027,667 31,307,381 32,021,667 
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Selected Quarterly Financial Information  

 

The following quarterly results for the eight most recent quarters have been prepared in accordance 

with IFRS as listed below. 

 

 
Three Months 

Ended 

 
 

Cash 

 
Current 

Liabilities 

 
          Net  

           (Loss) 

Gain 
(Loss) Per 

Share 

Weighted 
Average 
Shares 

Outstanding 
September 30, 2018  $ 507,501 $ 52,715 $ (11,503) $ (0.000) 31,021,667 
June 30, 2018  505,589  47,649 (13,816)  (0.000) 31,021,667 
March 31, 2018  522,602  49,525  (38,219)  (0.001) 31,021,667 
December 31, 2017   552,868   38,149    (33,367)  (0.001) 31,021,667 
September 30, 2017 595,848 49,199 (43,786) (0.002) 31,021,667 
June 30, 2017   640,610   47,404   (43,595)  (0.001) 31,021,667 
March 31, 2017   684,410   51,298 (69,549) (0.002) 31,156,498 
December 31, 2016   747,070   55,104   (35,877) (0.001) 32,021,667 

 

Three months ended September 30, 2018 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2017 

 

The net loss for the three months ended September 30, 2018 was $11,503 (2017 - $43,786). For the three 

months ended September 30, 2018, exploration and evaluation expenditures totaled an expense of $312 

(2017 - $468). For the three months ended September 30, 2018, general and administration expenses 

were $9,962 (2017 - $39,306). In the 2018 quarter, management and director fees amounted to $1,750 

(September 2017 - $20,540).  Most of the other expense is comprised of audit and office fees.   

 

Year ended September 30, 2018 compared to the year ended September 30, 2017 

 

The net loss for the year ended September 30, 2018 was $96,905 (2017 - $192,807). For the year ended 

September 30, 2018, general and administrative costs were $91,377 (2017 - $190,521).  Management and 

Director fees of $34,645 in the year ended September 30, 2018 were significantly lower than the $103,533 

recorded in the year ended September 30, 2017.  Significant savings were realised commencing January 

1, 2018, as the Board elected to waive their fees and the CEO elected to waive his management fees. 

 

Other administration expenses in 2018 were reduced as compared to 2017 with lower legal fees, office 

fees, regulatory fees, and insurance.  

 

Related Party Transactions  

 

Related parties include directors, officers, close family members, certain consultants and enterprises that 

are controlled by these individuals as well as certain persons performing similar functions.  

 

In accordance with IAS 24, key management personnel are those persons having authority and 

responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company directly or indirectly, 
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including any directors (executive and non-executive) of the Company. Remuneration of directors and key 

management personnel of the Company for the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was:  

 

 2018 2017 
 $ $ 

Management fees 22,540 54,407 
Director fees 12,105 49,126 
Share-based payments - - 

Total 34,645 103,533 

  
 

 2018 2017 
Management and Directors' Fees $ $ 

Birks Bovaird 3,000 12,000 
Richard Smith 9,639 37,862 
Peter Clausi 3,000 12,000 
Barry Lee 3,000 12,000 
Blaine Schmidt 3,105 13,126 
John Ross 12,901 16,545 

 34,645 103,533 

 

As at September 30, 2018, $30,000 (2017 - $30,000) is accrued relating to a potential liability to a prior 

director and officer of the Company.   The Company originally entered in to a settlement agreement with 

the prior director and officer.  However, the Company subsequently believes that the former director and 

officer may not have fulfilled the conditions of the settlement.   The Company intends to defend against 

collection of this balance, if required. 

 

All amounts due to related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing and payable on demand.  

  

Financial Condition  
 

Cash Flow  
 

At September 30, 2018, the Company held cash of $499,539, a reduction of $96,309 during the year.  Cash 

of $99,903 was used to fund operations.  Working capital changes from increased sales taxes receivable 

were mostly offset by the increased accruals for auditor and tax preparation work. 

 

As of January 1, 2018, the CEO and the Board waived their monthly fees to preserve cash. 

 

Critical Accounting Estimates and Changes in Accounting Policies 

 

All significant critical accounting estimates are fully disclosed in Note 4 of the consolidated financial 

statements for the years ended September 30, 2018, and 2017. 
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Liquidity and Capital Resources  

 

Working capital of as of September 30, 2018 was $454,786 compared to $551,691 as of September 30, 

2017. The Company’s principal source of liquidity as of September 30, 2018 was cash and cash equivalents 

of $499,539 compared to $595,848 as of September 30, 2017.  

 

While Management believes that the Company has sufficient funds to meet its obligations and short term 

working capital requirements, and to accomplish its short term plans, the Company plans to continue to 

monitor closely its use of its available cash, while conditions in the capital markets continue to make it 

difficult for early stage exploration companies to raise additional capital. The Company may require 

substantial additional capital to fund any new project or to advance the Massey Project.  

 

Historically, the Company has used the net proceeds from issuances of its securities to provide sufficient 

funds for it to meet its near-term exploration and development plans and other contractual obligations 

when due. However, given the current market conditions affecting the junior mining sector, the current 

trading price of the Company’s common shares and other uncertainties discussed herein, there can be no 

assurance that the Company will be able to obtain sufficient additional funds on favorable terms, or at all, 

in order to carry out its objectives. As mentioned elsewhere in this MD&A, the Company is evaluating 

various strategic alternatives and, if it decides to pursue any such alternative, it may also require 

additional funds to carry out its strategic plans in amounts that cannot be determined as of the date 

hereof, which funds may also be unavailable to the Company on favorable terms or at all.  

 

Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Factors  

 

International financial reporting standards require that the Company disclose information about the fair 

value of its financial assets and liabilities. Fair value estimates are made at the statement of financial 

position date, based on relevant market information and information about the financial instrument. 

These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties in significant matters of judgment and 

therefore cannot be determined with precision. Changes in assumptions could significantly affect these 

estimates.  

 

 Fair value measurements are classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the 

inputs used in making the measurements. At September 30, 2018 and 2017, the Company has no financial 

instruments carried at fair value to classify in the fair value hierarchy.  

 

 As at September 30, 2018 and 2017, carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, amounts receivable, 

accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the statement of financial position approximate fair market 

value because of the limited term of these instruments.  

 

 The Company's risk exposures and the impact on the Company's financial instruments are summarized 

below. There have been no changes in the risks, objectives, policies and procedures from previous periods.  
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 (a)  Credit Risk  

  

 The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and cash equivalents. The Company has no 

significant concentration of credit risk arising from operations. Management believes that the credit risk 

concentration with respect to cash and cash equivalents, and financial instruments included in amounts 

receivable is remote.  

 

  (b)  Liquidity Risk  

 

 The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet 

its obligations when due. At September 30, 2018, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $499,539 

(September 30, 2017 - $595,848) available to settle current liabilities of $52,715 (September 30, 2017 - 

$49,199). Of the Company’s accounts payable $22,715 have contractual maturities of less than 30 days 

and are subject to normal trade terms. The remaining $30,000 of the accounts payable relates to an 

accrued balance against a legal settlement with a previous officer and director.  

 

 (c)  Market Risk  

 

 The Company is exposed to the following market risks:  

 

 (i)  Interest Rate Risk  

 

 The Company has cash and cash equivalents balances and no variable interest-bearing debt. The 

Company’s current policy is to invest excess cash in investment-grade short-term deposit 

certificates issued by banking institutions. The Company periodically monitors the investments it 

makes and is satisfied with the credit ratings of its banks.  

 

 (ii)  Foreign Exchange Risk  

 

 The Company’s functional currency is the Canadian dollar but major purchases are transacted in 

Canadian dollars and United States dollars. As at September 30, 2018, the Company holds a foreign 

currency balance of US$50,805 ($65,768) (September 30, 2017 – US$51,034 ($63,818)) included in 

cash which is subject to foreign currency risk.  

 

 (iii)  Price Risk  

 

 The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. The Company closely 

monitors commodity prices to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by the 

Company.  
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 (d)  Sensitivity Analysis  

 

 The Company holds balances in United States dollars that give rise to foreign exchange risk. Based on 

management’s knowledge and experience of the financial markets, the Company does not believe there 

would be any material movements as a result of changes in interest rates. A 10% change in the Canadian 

dollar exchange rate as at September 30, 2018 compared to these currencies, with all other variables held 

constant, would impact the Company’s net loss by less than $7,000.  

 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  

 

At September 30, 2018, there were no off-balance sheet arrangements.  

 

Outstanding Share Data  

 

As at September 30, 2018, and at the date of this MD&A, the Company had 31,021,667 common shares 

issued and outstanding. The Company had no warrants outstanding at September 30, 2018 or at the date 

of this MD&A. 

 

Stock options  

 

A summary of the outstanding options of the Company as at the date of this MD&A is set out below.  

 

Expiry 
Date 

Options 
Issued 

Exercise 
Price 

 # $ 

Nov. 1, 2020 200,000 0.05 
Sept.15, 2021 1,750,000 0.05 

 1,950,000 0.05 

   

Risk Factors  

 

Until the proposed business combination is completed, the Company’s risk factors are those related to 

mineral exploration.  The Company’s business of mineral exploration has an inherent high level of risk. 

Management of the Company is optimistic about the potential of its property, but there can be no 

guarantee with regard to any property that any mineral deposits will be identified or, if identified, be 

economically viable for production. Management is currently updating the NI 43-101 report on the 

Massey Property to assess our future direction on the property.  Further, the ability of the Company to 

continue operations is dependent upon favorable results from its exploration activities which will attract 

potential investors or exploration partners. Other risk exposures and the impact on the Company's 

financial instruments are summarized below.  
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There have been no changes in the risks, objectives, policies and procedures from previous years other 

than disclosed elsewhere herein.  

 

Current Global Financial Conditions and Trends  

 

Securities of mining and mineral exploration companies have experienced substantial volatility in the past, 

often based on factors unrelated to the financial performance or prospects of the companies involved. 

These factors include macroeconomic developments globally, and market perceptions of the 

attractiveness of particular industries. The price of the securities of companies is also significantly affected 

by short-term changes in commodity prices, base and precious metal prices or other mineral prices, 

currency exchange fluctuation and the political environment in the countries in which the Company does 

business. As of September 30, 2018, the global economy continues to be in a period of significant 

economic volatility, in large part due to US, European, and Middle East economic and political concerns 

which have impacted global economic growth.  

 

Dependence on Key Employees  

 

The Company’s business and operations are dependent on retaining the services of a small number of key 

employees. The success of the Company is, and will continue to be, to a significant extent, dependent on 

the expertise and experience of these employees. The loss of one or more of these employees could have 

a materially adverse effect on the Company. The Company does not maintain insurance on any of its key 

employees.  

 

Capital Management  

 

The Company considers its capital to consist of shareholders’ equity. The Company manages its capital 

structure and makes adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the Company, in order to support 

the acquisition, exploration and development of mineral properties. The Board does not establish 

quantitative return on capital criteria for Management, but rather relies on the expertise of the 

Company’s Management to sustain future development of the business.  

 

The properties in which the Company currently has an interest are in the exploration stage and the 

Company is dependent on external financing to fund its activities. In order to carry out future exploration 

and pay on-going administrative costs, the Company will spend its existing working capital and raise 

additional amounts as needed. The Company will continue to assess new properties and seek to acquire 

an interest in additional properties if it determines there is sufficient geological or economic potential and 

if it has adequate financial resources to do so.  

 

Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this 

approach, given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable. There were no significant changes in the 

Company’s approach to capital management in the year ended September 30, 2018. The Company and 

its subsidiary are not currently subject to externally imposed capital requirements.  
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Corporate Transactions 

 

The Company has pursued corporate transactions and has currently entered in to a letter of intent which 

is expected to lead to a definitive agreement, with the ultimate goal to effect a business combination.  

There is no assurance that a definitive agreement will be reached or, even if a definitive agreement is 

entered into, the Transaction will close on the disclosed terms or at all. 

 

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements  

 

This MD&A contains certain “forward-looking information” as defined in applicable securities laws 

(collectively referred to herein as “forward-looking statements”). These statements relate to future 

events or the Company’s future performance. All statements other than statements of historical fact are 

forward-looking statements. Often, but not always, forward-looking statements can be identified by the 

use of words such as “plans”, “expects”, “budgeted”, “scheduled”, “estimates”, “continues”, “forecasts”, 

“projects”, “predicts”, “intends”, “anticipates” or “believes”, or variations of, or the negatives of, such 

words and phrases, or statements that certain actions, events or results “may”, “could”, “would”, 

“should”, “might” or “will” be taken, occur or be achieved. The forward-looking statements in this MD&A 

speak only as of the date of this MD&A or as of the date specified in such statements.  

 

Forward-looking statements are based upon certain assumptions and other important factors regarding 

present and future business strategies and the environment in which the Company will operate in the 

future, which could prove to be significantly incorrect. Forward-looking statements are inherently subject 

to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the actual results, level of 

activity, performance or achievements of the Company and/or its subsidiary to be materially different 

from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.  

 

Actual results and developments are likely to differ, and may differ materially, from those expressed or 

implied by the forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A. Forward-looking statements involve 

known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the Company’s actual results, 

performance or achievements to be materially different from any of its future results, performance or 

achievements expressed or implied by forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements herein 

are qualified by this cautionary note. Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on forward 

looking statements. The Company undertakes no obligation to update publicly or otherwise revise any 

forward-looking statements whether as a result of new information or future events or otherwise, except 

as may be required by law. If the Company does update one or more forward-looking statements, no 

inference should be drawn that it will make additional updates with respect to those or other forward-

looking statements, unless required by law. 
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The attached annual consolidated financial statements of Buccaneer Gold Corp. as at and for the years ended 
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(signed) “John C. Ross” 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 
To the Shareholders of Buccaneer Gold Corp. 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Buccaneer Gold Corp. and its 
subsidiary, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at September 30, 2017 and 2016, 
and the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, consolidated statements of changes in 
equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation 
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity's internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.  
 
Opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Buccaneer Gold Corp. and its subsidiary as at September 30, 2017 and 2016, and their financial performance and 
cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
 UHY McGovern Hurley LLP 

  
 Chartered Professional Accountants 
 Licensed Public Accountants 
Toronto, Canada 
January 24, 2018 
 



 

 

 

BUCCANEER GOLD CORP. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS) 
AS AT SEPTEMBER 30 
 

 
Notes 

2017 
            $ 

2016
$ 

ASSETS  
CURRENT   
    Cash  595,848     791,821
    Amounts receivable 5,042 15,791
    Prepaid expenses - 19,786
  
    Total current assets 600,890 827,398
  
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 6 - -
    
TOTAL ASSETS 600,890  827,398
  

LIABILITIES  
CURRENT LIABILITIES  
    Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 9       49,199       52,900
  

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  
CAPITAL STOCK  7 (b) 7,674,830 7,704,830
SHARE-BASED PAYMENT RESERVE 7 (c) 26,621 124,884
DEFICIT (7,149,760) (7,055,216)
  
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 551,691 774,498
  
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY    600,890    827,398
  
NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN 1  
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 5, 8  
  

APPROVED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD 
 

"Birks Bovaird"                           Director 
 

"Rick Smith"                         Director 
 
 

See the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements  
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BUCCANEER GOLD CORP. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS) 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30 

 
 Notes 2017

$ 
2016 

$ 
EXPENSES  
  
    Exploration and evaluation expenditures 5, 8, 9 1,014    (123,422) 
    General and administrative 9, 13 190,521 453,493 
    Share-based payments 7(c) - 45,392 
    Loss on foreign exchange 2,457 20 
  
Loss before other income 193,992 375,483 
     Interest income 1,185 - 
  
NET LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR 192,807 375,483 
  
NET LOSS PER SHARE - Basic and diluted 0.006 0.012 
  
WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES 
OUTSTANDING  - Basic and diluted 31,307,381 

 
32,021,667 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

See the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements  
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BUCCANEER GOLD CORP. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS) 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2017 AND 2016 

 

 
 

 
 
 

See the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 
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Share-based

Capital Capital Payment
Stock Stock Reserve (Deficit) Total

# $ $ $ $
 
 
BALANCE, SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 32,021,667 7,704,830 249,361 (6,849,602) 1,104,589
Share-based payments - - 45,392 - 45,392
Options expired  - - (169,869) 169,869 -
Loss and comprehensive loss - - - (375,483) (375,483)
 
BALANCE, SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 32,021,667 7,704,830 124,884 (7,055,216) 774,498
Return of shares  (1,000,000) (30,000) - - (30,000)
Options expired      - - (98,263) 98,263 -
Loss and comprehensive loss - - - (192,807) (192,807)
 
BALANCE, SEPTEMBER 30, 2017 31,021,667 7,674,830 26,621 (7,149,760) 551,691



 

 

 

BUCCANEER GOLD CORP. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS) 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,   
 
 2017

$ 
2016

$ 
  
CASH FLOWS USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES  
    Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year  (192,807)  (375,483)
        Changes not involving cash:  
        Share-based payments - 45,392
       Return of shares (Note 7) (30,000) -
       Unrealized foreign exchange loss  2,457 20
 (220,350)  (330,071)
    Changes in non-cash components of working capital  
        Decrease (increase) in amounts receivable 10,749 (9,811)
        Decrease (increase) in prepaids 19,786 (15,466)
        (Decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (3,701) (126,103)
Cash flow used in operating activities (193,516) (481,451)
  
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash (2,457) (20)
  
Decrease in cash for the year (195,973) (481,471)
CASH, beginning of the year 791,821   1,273,292   
CASH, end of the year 595,848    791,821   
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

See the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements  
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BUCCANEER GOLD CORP. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
Years ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN  
 
 Buccaneer Gold Corp. (the “Company” or “Buccaneer”), is engaged in the acquisition, exploration 

and evaluation of a mineral property, and is evaluating other potential opportunities. The Company 
has operations in Canada. The Company’s head office is located at 82 Richmond Street East, Suite 
308, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5C 1P1. The Company’s shares are listed on the TSX Venture 
Exchange (“TSX-V”) under the symbol “BGG”.  

 
 These consolidated financial statements of the Company were approved and authorized for issue 

by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) on January 24, 2018.  
 
 The Company is in the process of conducting exploration on its property to identify mineral 

resources and has not yet determined whether the property contain economically recoverable 
reserves. The business of mining and exploring for minerals involves a high degree of risk and there 
can be no assurance that current exploration programs will result in profitable mining operations. 
The Company’s continued existence is dependent upon the preservation of its interest in the 
underlying property, the discovery of economically recoverable reserves, the ability of the Company 
to obtain necessary financing to complete planned exploration programs, the achievement of 
profitable operations or, alternatively, upon the Company’s ability to dispose of its property 
interests on an advantageous basis. The Company is also in the process of evaluating other potential 
business opportunities both inside, and outside the mining industry.  

 
 Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to the properties on which it is conducting 

exploration and in which it has an interest, in accordance with industry practice for the current 
stage of exploration of such properties, these procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title. 
Property title may be subject to unregistered prior agreements or non-compliance with regulatory 
or social licencing requirements. The Company’s assets may also be subject to increases in taxes 
and royalties, renegotiation of contracts, currency exchange fluctuations and restrictions and 
political uncertainty.  

 
 These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting principles 

applicable to a going concern, which assume that the Company will continue in operation for the 
foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal 
course of operations as they come due. The Company has no current revenues or cash flows from 
operations and has working capital of $555,703 as at September 30, 2017 (2016 - $774,498). 
Management believes it will be successful in raising the necessary funds to continue in the normal 
course of operations; however, there is no assurance that these funds will be available on terms 
acceptable to the Company or at all. These consolidated financial statements do not include the 



BUCCANEER GOLD CORP. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
Years ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

7 
 

adjustments that would be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going 
concern. Such adjustments could be material.  

 
2.  STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE  
 
 These consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary were prepared in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards Board (“IFRS”) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations 
Committee (“IFRIC”). The policies set out below were consistently applied to all periods presented 
unless otherwise noted.  

 
3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION  
 
 Basis of consolidation  
 
 These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Buccaneer Gold Corp. and its 

wholly owned subsidiary Buccaneer Gold (Ghana) Limited (from September 1, 2011), which became 
inactive in 2017. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated upon 
consolidation.  

 
 Subsidiaries are those entities which Buccaneer controls. Control exists when the Company is 

exposed or has rights to the variable returns of the subsidiary and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the subsidiary. Power is defined as existing rights that give the 
Company the ability to direct the relevant activities of the subsidiary. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is obtained by the Company and are de-consolidated 
from the date that control ceases.  

 
 Basis of measurement  
 
 These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis. In 

addition, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of 
accounting, except for cash flow information.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



BUCCANEER GOLD CORP. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
Years ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
 Outlined below are those policies considered particularly significant:  
 
 (a)  Cash and cash equivalents  
 
 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and money market funds, with original maturities 

of less than 90 days. The money market funds are held with a Canadian chartered bank or a 
Canadian financial institution.  

 
 (b)  Property and equipment  
 
 Property and equipment are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses. The cost of an item of property or equipment consists of the purchase price, any 
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for its 
intended use and an initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring 
the site on which it is located.  

 
 Depreciation is recognized based on the cost of an item of equipment, less its estimated residual 

value, over its estimated useful life over the following periods:  
 
  Buildings  Straight-line over 25 years  
  Equipment  Straight-line over 5 years  
 
 An asset's residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if 

appropriate, on an annual basis.  
 
 (c)  Exploration and evaluation expenditures  
 
 The Company expenses exploration and evaluation expenditures as incurred. Exploration and 

evaluation expenditures include acquisition costs of mineral properties, property option payments 
and evaluation activity.  

 
 Once a project has been established as commercially viable and technically feasible, related 

development expenditures are capitalized. This includes costs incurred in preparing the site for 
mining operations. Capitalization ceases when the mine is capable of commercial production, with 
the exception of development costs that give rise to a future benefit.  
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
Years ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
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 (d)  Restoration, rehabilitation and environmental obligations  
 
 A legal or constructive obligation to incur restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs may 

arise when environmental disturbance is caused by the exploration, development or ongoing 
production of a mineral property interest. Such costs are discounted to their net present value using 
a risk-free rate and are provided for and charged to operations, as soon as the obligation to incur 
such costs arises. Discount rates using a pre-tax rate that reflects the time value of money are used 
to calculate the net present value. The related liability is adjusted for each period for the unwinding 
of the discount rate and for changes to the current market-based discount rate, amount or timing 
of the underlying cash flows needed to settle the obligation.  

 
 The Company had no material restoration, rehabilitation and environmental obligations at 

September 30, 2017 or September 30, 2016.  
 
 (e)  Income taxes  
 
 Income tax on the profit or loss for the years presented comprises current and deferred tax. Income 

tax is recognized in the statement of operations except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognized directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in equity.  

 
 Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 

enacted or substantively enacted at period end, adjusted for amendments to tax payable with 
regards to previous years.  

 
 In general, deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences arising between the tax 

bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements unless such 
differences arise from goodwill or the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of 
other assets or liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting 
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined on a non-discounted basis using tax rates and laws 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date and are 
expected to apply when the deferred tax asset or liability is settled. Deferred tax assets are 
recognized to the extent that it is probable that the assets can be recovered.  

 
 Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries 

and associates, except, in the case of subsidiaries, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
difference is controlled by the Company and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.  
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
Years ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 
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 Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are presented as non-current. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority 
and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.  

 
 (f)  Share-based payment transactions  
 
 Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are 

measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date. The fair value is measured 
at grant date and each tranche is recognized on a graded-vesting basis over the period in which the 
options vest. The offset to the recorded cost is to share-based payment reserve. Consideration 
received on the exercise of stock options is recorded as share capital and the related share-based 
payment reserve is transferred to share capital. Upon expiry, the recorded value is transferred to 
deficit.  

 
 At the end of each reporting period, the Company revises its estimate of the number of equity 

instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is 
recognized in the statement of operations such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised 
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based payment reserve. Where the terms 
and conditions of options are modified, the increase in the fair value of the options, measured 
immediately before and after the modification, is also charged to the statement of operations.  

 
 Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured 

at the fair value of the goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated 
reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, 
measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service.  

 
 (g)  Flow-through financing  
 
 The Company finances a portion of its exploration activities through the issue of flow-through 

shares, which transfers the tax deductibility of exploration expenditures to the investor. The 
Company has adopted a policy whereby flow-through proceeds are allocated between the offering 
of the common shares and the sale of tax benefits when the common shares are offered. The 
allocation is made based on the difference between the quoted price of the common shares and 
the amount the investor pays for the flow-through shares. A liability is recognized for the premium 
paid by the investors and is then derecognized in the period of renunciation. The recognition of a 
deferred income tax liability upon renunciation of the flow through expenditures is recorded as 
income tax expense in the period of renunciation. Any difference between the amount of the 
liability component derecognized and deferred income tax liability recognized is recorded in the 
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consolidated statement of operations. As at September 30, 2017 and 2016, the Company has no 
outstanding flow-through obligations.  

 
 (h)  Loss per common share  
 
 Basic loss per share is calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding. The 

diluted loss per share assumes that any proceeds from the exercise of dilutive stock options and 
warrants would be used to repurchase common shares at the average market price during the 
period, with the incremental number of shares being included in the denominator of the diluted 
loss per share calculation. The diluted loss per share calculation excludes any potential conversion 
of options and warrants that would decrease loss per share. See Notes 7(c), and (d) for details on 
the Company’s potentially dilutive securities. All of the Company’s outstanding stock options were 
anti-dilutive for the years ended September 30, 2017 and September 30, 2016.  

 
  (i)  Use of estimates  
 
 The preparation of these consolidated financial statements under IFRS requires management to 

make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions about future events that affect the amounts 
reported in the financial statements and related notes to the financial statements. Although these 
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the amount, event or actions, actual 
results may differ from those estimates and these differences could be material.  

 
 The areas which require management to make significant judgements, estimates and assumptions 

in determining carrying values include, but are not limited to:  
 

• Estimation of restoration, rehabilitation and environmental obligations  
Restoration, rehabilitation and environmental liabilities are estimated based on the 
Company’s interpretation of current regulatory requirements and constructive obligations 
and are measured at fair value. Fair value is determined based on the net present value of 
estimated future cash expenditures for the settlement of restoration, rehabilitation and 
environmental liabilities that may occur upon ceasing exploration and evaluation activities. 
Such estimates are subject to change based on changes in laws and regulations and 
negotiations with regulatory authorities.  
 

• Income, value added, withholding and other taxes   
The Company is subject to income, value added, withholding and other taxes. Significant 
judgment is required in determining the Company’s provisions for taxes. There are many 
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during 
the ordinary course of business. The Company recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit 
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issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. The determination of the 
Company’s income, value added, withholding and other tax liabilities requires 
interpretation of complex laws and regulations. The Company’s interpretation of taxation 
law as applied to transactions and activities may not coincide with the interpretation of the 
tax authorities. All tax related filings are subject to government audit and potential 
reassessment subsequent to the financial statement reporting period. Where the final tax 
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such 
differences will impact the tax related accruals and deferred income tax provisions in the 
period in which such determination is made. 
 

• Share-based payments  
Management determines costs for share-based payments using market-based valuation 
techniques. The fair value of the market-based and performance-based share awards is 
determined at the date of grant using generally accepted valuation techniques. 
Assumptions are made and judgment used in applying valuation techniques. These 
assumptions and judgments include estimating the future volatility of the stock price, 
expected dividend yield, future employee turnover rates and future employee stock option 
exercise behaviours and Company performance. Such judgments and assumptions are 
inherently uncertain. Changes in these assumptions affect the fair value estimates.  
 

• Environmental  
Management believes its operations are in material compliance with all applicable laws and 
regulations. The Company has made, and expects to make in the future, expenditures to 
comply with such laws and regulations. Management is required to estimate the cost of 
compliance when laws change. 
 

(j)  Financial instruments  
 
 Financial assets and financial liabilities that are purchased and incurred with the intention of 

generating profits in the near term are classified as held-for-trading.  
 
 Financial assets that have a fixed maturity date and fixed or determinable payments, where the 

Company intends and has the ability to hold the financial asset to maturity, are classified as held-
to-maturity and are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Any gains 
and losses arising from the sale of held-to-maturity financial assets are included in operations. As 
at September 30, 2017 and September 30, 2016, the Company had no held-to-maturity financial 
assets.  
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 Items classified as loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method. Any gains or losses on the realization of loans and receivables are included in operations. 
The Company’s cash and amounts receivable are classified as loans and receivables.  

 
 Available-for-sale assets are those financial assets that are not classified as held-for-trading, held-

to-maturity or loans or receivables, and are carried at fair value. Any gains or losses arising from 
the change in fair value are recorded as other comprehensive loss. Available-for-sale securities are 
written down to fair value through operations whenever it is necessary to reflect a change other 
than temporary impairment. Cumulative gains and losses arising upon the sale of the instrument 
are included in operations. The Company did not have any available-for-sale assets as at September 
30, 2017 or September 30, 2016.  

 
 Financial liabilities that are not classified as held-for-trading are classified as other financial 

liabilities, and are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Any gains or losses 
arising from the realization of other financial liabilities are included in operations. The Company has 
classified accounts payable and accrued liabilities as other financial liabilities, which are carried at 
amortized cost.  

 
 Impairment of financial assets:  
 Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. 

Financial assets are impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more 
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial assets, the estimated future cash 
flows of the financial assets have been negatively impacted.  

 
 Financial instruments recorded at fair value:  
 Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the consolidated statements of financial position 

are classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making 
the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:  

 
 Level 1 - valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities;  
 Level 2 - valuation techniques based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are 

observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from 
prices); and  

 Level 3 - valuation techniques using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable 
market data (unobservable inputs).  
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 (k)  Translation of foreign currencies and foreign subsidiary  
 
 The functional and reporting currency of the Company and its subsidiary is the Canadian dollar. 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the currency of measurement at the exchange 
rates in effect on the transaction date. Monetary items on the consolidated statement of financial 
position, expressed in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rates 
in effect at the reporting date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in 
a foreign currency are not retranslated at the reporting date.  Depreciation is translated on the 
same basis as the related asset. The resulting exchange gains or losses are recognized in operations 
in the period in which they arise.  

 
 (l)  Provisions  
 
 A provision is recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 

result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation, and the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated. If the effect is material, 
provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks 
specific to the liability.  

 
 A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the expected benefits to be derived by the 

Company from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the 
contract.  

 
 (m)  Impairment of non-financial assets  
 
 At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial 

assets with finite lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets are impaired. 
Where such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated. For the purpose 
of measuring recoverable amounts, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units, or CGUs). The recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use (being the present value of the 
expected future cash flows of the relevant CGU). An impairment loss is recognized for the amount 
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The Company evaluates 
impairment losses for potential reversals when events or circumstances warrant such 
consideration.  
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 (n)  Joint Ventures  
 
 A joint operating venture exists when the parties have the rights to the assets and obligations for 

the liabilities of the joint arrangement. Assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses are accounted for 
in accordance with the operating arrangement. A joint venture, where parties have the rights to 
the net assets of a joint arrangement, are accounted for using the equity method.  

 
 (o)  Recent Accounting Pronouncements and Accounting Changes 
 
 Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been issued by 

the IASB or IFRIC that are mandatory for accounting periods beginning after October 1, 2017, or 
later periods. The following have not yet been adopted and are being evaluated to determine their 
impact on the Company.  

 
During 2017, the Company adopted a number of new IFRS standards, interpretations, amendments 
and improvements of existing standards including IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements. 
These new changes did not have any material impact on the Company’s financial statements. 

 
 IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) was issued by the IASB in November 2009 with additions 

in October 2010, May 2013 and July 2014 and will replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement (“IAS 39”). IFRS 9 uses a single approach to determine whether a financial asset 
is measured at amortized cost or fair value, replacing the multiple rules in IAS 39. The approach in 
IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments in the context of its business 
model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. Most of the 
requirements in IAS 39 for classification and measurement of financial liabilities were carried 
forward unchanged to IFRS 9, except that an entity choosing to measure a financial liability at fair 
value will present the portion of any change in its fair value due to changes in the entity’s own credit 
risk in other comprehensive income, rather than within profit or loss. The new standard also 
requires a single impairment method to be used, replacing the multiple impairment methods in IAS 
39. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. Earlier adoption is 
permitted.  

 
 IFRIC 22 – Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration (“IFRIC 22”) was issued in 

December 2016 and addresses foreign currency transactions or parts of transactions where there 
is consideration that is denominated in a foreign currency; a prepaid asset or deferred income 
liability is recognised in respect of that consideration, in advance of the recognition of the related 
asset, expense or income; and the prepaid asset or deferred income liability is non-monetary.  The 
interpretation committee concluded that the date of the transaction, for purposes of determining 
the exchange rate, is the date of initial recognition of the non-monetary prepaid asset or deferred 
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income liability. IFRIC 22 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. Earlier 
adoption is permitted. 

 
5.  EXPLORATION PROPERTIES, EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURES  
 
 Banso and Muoso Concessions (the “Concessions”)  
 

During November 2016, the Company entered into a settlement (the “Settlement”) of its litigation 
against Xtra-Gold Resources Corp. (“Xtra”) related to the Option Agreement for the Concessions. 
Pursuant to the Settlement, the Company has quit-claim any and all interest in the Option 
Agreement and the Concessions.  The Company paid Xtra $20,000 as reimbursement of legal fees 
incurred.  Xtra returned one million Company shares to the Company’s treasury for cancellation for 
no additional consideration, and Xtra has confirmed that the Company owes it no amount pursuant 
to the Option Agreement.  As a result of this settlement the Company has no ongoing interest in 
the Concessions, and the Company has reversed an accrual of US$97,493 ($125,932) in the year 
ended September 30, 2016. 
  
The background of the Option Agreement leading to the Settlement is as below. In July 2010, as 
amended January 21, 2011 and approved by the TSX-V on February 16, 2011 (the “Effective Date”), 
the Company entered into a non-binding letter of intent (“LOI”) with Xtra, whereby, the Company 
may earn a 55% interest in Xtra’s 90% interest in certain concessions in Ghana, West Africa. The 
Government of Ghana holds the remaining 10% interest in the mining leases. Certain officers and 
directors of the Company were also directors and officers of Xtra.  
 
In order for the Company to acquire a 55% interest, the Company was required to make cash 
payments to Xtra in the aggregate of US$425,000 within 90 days of regulatory acceptance (paid), 
issue 1,000,000 common shares of the Company upon the effective date (issued and valued at 
$350,000 based on the market price of the shares on the date of issuance) and incur a total of 
US$4,425,000 in exploration expenditures within five years of the regulatory acceptance date as 
follows: a minimum US$500,000 (incurred) within the first year from the effective date, 
US$1,000,000 in each of years 2 (incurred), 3, and 4, and US$925,000 in year 5. Once the Company 
had earned a 55% interest, a joint venture would be formed. Revenues from the Concessions are 
subject to 5% mineral royalties imposed by the Government of Ghana.  
 
During 2013, the Company requested an extension of the Company’s option with Xtra. The 
Company believed Xtra’s board of directors may have approved a two-year extension to the 
Company’s earn-in interest under the Option Agreement. The Company understood that this 
approval was granted.  During the year ended September 30, 2016, the Company accrued $nil (2015 
- $119,172) of exploration and evaluation expenses on the Concessions.  
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Xtra alleged that, among other things, it has determined that no extension agreement to the Option 
Agreement exists, or ever existed, and that if the extension was granted, it had expired for non-
fulfillment of its conditions. 
  
On July 22, 2015, the Company commenced an action in the Ontario Supreme Court of Justice 
against Xtra. In the action, the Company claimed damages against the defendant for breach of 
contract, breach of fiduciary duty and for an accounting of any profits from the sale of all alluvial 
gold recovered from the Concessions. The Settlement referred to above terminated this litigation. 

 
 Massey Silica Project (the “Massey Project”)  
 
 On December 9, 2004, the Company entered into an option agreement with Salmay Resources Inc. 

(“Salmay”) to earn up to a 100% interest in six mining claims located in May and Salter Townships, 
Ontario. The Company earned an initial 65% undivided interest by paying a cash consideration of 
$100,000 and incurring $300,000 in exploration expenditures. To earn a further 15% interest, the 
Company must pay cash consideration of $100,000 and fund all permitting and licensing costs 
necessary to commence commercial production on the claims. The remaining 20% interest can be 
earned by paying cash consideration of $100,000 following the commencement of commercial 
production from the claims. This project is subject to a 3% net smelter return royalty (“NSR”), 2% 
of which may be purchased by the Company for $3,000,000. Although the Company has no 
immediate plans for the property, the Company believes the property continues to have merit.  

   
6.  PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT  

 
 As a result of the dispute with Xtra, the Company recorded an impairment of $89,063 in the year 

ended September 30, 2015 against its property and equipment, all of which are located in Ghana.  
 
 
 
 

 Buildings Equipment Total 
 $ $ $ 
Net book value as at September 30, 2014 34,362 98,841 133,203 
Depreciation (2,000) (42,140) (44,140) 
Impairment (32,362) (56,701) (89,063) 
Net book value as at September 30, 2015 - - - 
Depreciation - - - 
Net book value as at September 30, 2016 and 
September 30, 2017 -

 
- - 
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7.  CAPITAL STOCK  
 
 The capital stock is as follows:  
 
 (a)        Authorized  
           Unlimited number of common shares with no par value  
           Unlimited number of Class A special shares  
           Unlimited number of Class B special shares  
 
 (b)        Issued  
 

 Common Shares Amount 
 # $ 

Balance, September 30, 2015, and September 30, 2016 32,021,667 7,704,830
Return of shares (Note 5) (1,000,000) (30,000)
September 30, 2017 31,021,667 7,674,830

 
The 1,000,000 shares received from Xtra were measured at $0.03 per share, being the 
quoted market price of the shares on the date of the Settlement.  Professional fees were 
reduced by $30,000 as a result of the receipt of these shares. 

 
(c)  Stock Options  
 

The Company had a 10% rolling stock option plan (“Plan”) which provides that incentive-
based stock options may be granted, at the Board’s discretion, to a quantity not to exceed 
10% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company at the time of granting.  Pursuant 
to TSX-V policies, the Plan requires annual shareholder approval. The Plan was renewed at 
the April 12, 2017 Shareholders' Meeting. 

 
 A summary of changes in the stock options is as follows:  
 

 2017 2016 
   

Stock  
Options 

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price 

  
Stock  

Options 

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price 
 # $ # $ 
Balance, beginning of year 2,750,000 0.07 1,200,000 0.10
Issued - - 2,800,000 0.05
Expired (800,000) 0.08 (1,250,000) 0.08
Balance, end of year 1,950,000 0.05 2,750,000 0.07
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On November 1, 2015, the Company granted 1,050,000 stock options to directors and 
officers of the Company exercisable at $0.05 per share until November 1, 2020. The fair 
value of the stock options was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option 
pricing model with the following assumptions: expected dividend yield of 0%; expected 
volatility of 109%; risk-free interest rate of 0.88% and expected life of 5 years.  The stock 
options were assigned a value of $23,100 or $0.022 per option and vested immediately on 
the date of the grant. 
 
On September 12, 2016, the Company granted 1,750,000 stock options to directors, officers 
and consultants of the Company exercisable at $0.05 per share until September 12, 2021. 
The fair value of the stock options was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model with the following assumptions: expected dividend yield of 0%; 
expected volatility of 117%; risk-free interest rate of 0.52% and expected life of 4 years.  The 
stock options were assigned a value of $22,292 or $0.0127 per option and vested 
immediately on the date of the grant.  An expense of $22,292 was recorded in the year 
ended September 30, 2016. 
 
No stock options were granted in the year ended September 30, 2017.  Since all previous 
stock options had fully vested at the beginning of the year, there was no stock option 
expense in the year ended September 30, 2017. 

 
 The following stock options to purchase common shares of the Company were outstanding 

as at September 30, 2017:  
 

Date of 
Grant 

Expiry 
Date 

Options 
Issued 

Options 
Exercisable 

Exercise 
Price 

  # # $ 
Nov. 1, 2015 Nov. 1, 2020 200,000 200,000 0.05
Sept.12, 2016 Sept.12, 2021 1,750,000 1,750,000 0.05
  1,950,000 1,950,000 
     

 The weighted average remaining contractual life of issued and outstanding stock options as 
at September 30, 2017 is 3.9 years (2016 – 4.7 years) and the weighted average exercise price 
of options exercisable was $0.05 (2016 - $0.07).  

 
(d)  Warrants  
 
 As of September 30, 2017, and 2016 there were no outstanding warrants to purchase 

common shares of the Company.  
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8.  CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENT  
 
 Environmental contingencies  
 
 The Company’s exploration activities are subject to various laws and regulations governing 

the protection of the environment. These laws and regulations are continually changing and 
generally becoming more restrictive. The Company believes its operations are in material 
compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. The Company has made, and expects to 
make in the future, expenditures to comply with such laws and regulations.  

 
9.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  
 
 Related parties include directors, officers, close family members, certain consultants and 

enterprises that are controlled by these individuals as well as certain persons performing 
similar functions.  

 
 During the years ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, the Company:  
 

(a)  incurred $nil (2016 - recovered $122,932) for exploration and evaluation expenditures, 
to a corporation which former officers and directors of the Company were formerly 
officers and directors. Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities at 
September 30, 2017 is $nil (2016 - $nil) owing to this corporation.  

 
(b)  paid $nil (2016 - $10,600) for administrative services to an officer and former officer 

and former director of the Company. Included in accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities at September 30, 2017 is $nil (2016 - $2,384) owing to this individual.  

 
(c)  incurred legal fees totaling $nil (2016 - $51,428) to a law firm of which a former 

director of the Company is a partner. Included in accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities at September 30, 2017 is $nil (2016 - $4,070) owing to this law firm.  

 
 In accordance with IAS 24, key management personnel are those persons having authority 

and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company 
directly or indirectly, including any directors (executive and non-executive) of the Company. 
Remuneration of directors and key management personnel of the Company for the years 
ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 was:  
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 2017 2016 
 $ $ 
Management fees 54,407 112,368
Director fees 49,126 51,577
Share-based payments - 45,392
Total 103,533 209,337

 
 As at September 30, 2017, $30,000 (2016 - $30,000) is accrued relating to a potential liability 

to a prior director and officer of the Company.   The Company originally entered in to a 
settlement agreement with the prior director and officer.  However, the Company 
subsequently believes that the former director and officer may not have fulfilled the 
conditions of the settlement.   The Company intends to defend against collection of this 
balance, if required. 

 
 All amounts due to related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing and payable on 

demand.  
 
 See also Note 5.  
 
10.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK FACTORS  
 
 International financial reporting standards require that the Company disclose information 

about the fair value of its financial assets and liabilities. Fair value estimates are made at the 
statement of financial position date, based on relevant market information and information 
about the financial instrument. These estimates are subjective in nature and involve 
uncertainties in significant matters of judgment and therefore cannot be determined with 
precision. Changes in assumptions could significantly affect these estimates.  

 
 Fair value measurements are classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the 

significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. At September 30, 2017 and 
2016, the Company has no financial instruments carried at fair value to classify in the fair 
value hierarchy.  

 
 As at September 30, 2017 and 2016, carrying amounts of cash, amounts receivable, accounts 

payable and accrued liabilities on the statement of financial position approximate fair market 
value because of the limited term of these instruments.  

 
 The Company's risk exposures and the impact on the Company's financial instruments are 

summarized below. There have been no changes in the risks, objectives, policies and 
procedures from previous periods.  
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 (a)   Credit Risk  
  
 The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash. The Company has no significant 

concentration of credit risk arising from operations. Management believes that the credit risk 
concentration with respect to cash and financial instruments included in amounts receivable 
is remote.  

 
  (b)  Liquidity Risk  
 

 The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient 
liquidity to meet its obligations when due. At September 30, 2017, the Company had cash of 
$599,680 (September 30, 2016 - $791,821) available to settle current liabilities of $49,199 
(September 30, 2016 - $52,900). Of the Company’s accounts payable $19,199 have 
contractual maturities of less than 30 days and are subject to normal trade terms. The 
remaining $30,000 of the accounts payable relates to an accrued balance against a legal 
settlement with a previous officer and director (see Note 9).  

 
 (c)   Market Risk  
 
 The Company is exposed to the following market risks:  
 
  (i)  Interest Rate Risk  
 

  The Company has cash balances and no variable interest-bearing debt. The Company’s 
current policy is to invest excess cash in investment-grade short-term deposit certificates 
issued by banking institutions. The Company periodically monitors the investments it 
makes and is satisfied with the credit ratings of its banks.  

 
 (ii)  Foreign Exchange Risk  
 
 The Company’s functional currency is the Canadian dollar but major purchases are 

transacted in Canadian dollars and United States dollars. As at September 30, 2017, the 
Company holds a foreign currency balance of US$51,034 ($63,818) (September 30, 2016 
– US$53,443 ($69,076)) included in cash which is subject to foreign currency risk.  

 
 
 
 
 



BUCCANEER GOLD CORP. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
Years ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

23 
 

 (iii)  Price Risk  
 
 The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. The Company 

closely monitors commodity prices to determine the appropriate course of action to be 
taken by the Company.  

 
 (d)   Sensitivity Analysis  
 
 The Company holds balances in United States dollars that give rise to foreign exchange risk. 

Based on management’s knowledge and experience of the financial markets, the Company 
does not believe there would be any material movements as a result of changes in interest 
rates. A 10% change in the Canadian dollar exchange rate as at September 30, 2017 
compared to these currencies, with all other variables held constant, would impact the 
Company’s net loss by less than $5,000.  

 
11.  INCOME TAXES  
 
 (a)  The items causing the Company’s effective income tax rate to differ from the combined 

Canadian federal and provincial statutory rate of 26.5% (2016 – 26.5%) are as follows:  
 

 2017 2016 
 $ $ 
Loss before income taxes (193,000) (375,000)
Expected income tax recovery (50,000) (100,000)
Adjustments to benefit resulting from:  
  Share-based payments - 12,000
  Benefit of tax losses not recognized 50,000 88,000
  
Deferred income tax recovery - -

 
 (b) Tax benefits from non-capital loss carry-forwards have not been recorded in the 

consolidated financial statements. These losses, which may reduce taxable income in future 
years, amount to approximately $2,851,000 and expires as follows:  
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Year Amount ($) 
2026 8,000
2027 22,000
2028 91,000
2029 101,000
2030 100,000
2031 383,000
2032 370,000
2033 261,000
2034 322,000
2035 301,000
2036 453,000
2037 439,000
 2,851,000

 
 (c) The Company has Canadian and foreign development and exploration expenditure pools 

for tax purposes of approximately $5,080,000 at September 30, 2017 that may, in certain 
situations be applied to reduce taxable income in subsequent years.  

 
 (d) Unrecognized deferred tax assets  
 
 Deferred income tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following deductible 

temporary differences:  
 

 2017 2016 
 $ $ 
Non-capital loss carry-forwards 2,851,000 2,412,000
Mineral exploration property costs 5,080,000 5,080,000
Equipment - 251,000
Total 7,931,000 7,743,000

 
 Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of these items because it is not 

probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the Company can use the 
benefits.  

 
12.  CAPITAL MANAGEMENT  
 
 The Company considers its capital to consist of shareholders’ equity. The Company manages 

its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the 
Company, in order to support the acquisition, exploration and evaluation of mineral 
properties. The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria 
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for management, but rather relies on the expertise of the Company’s management to sustain 
future development of the business.  

 
 The properties in which the Company currently has an interest are in the exploration stage; 

as such the Company is dependent on external financing to fund its activities. In order to 
carry out the planned exploration and pay administrative costs, the Company will spend its 
existing working capital and raise additional amounts as needed. The Company will continue 
to assess new properties and seek to acquire an interest in additional properties if it feels 
there is sufficient geological or economic potential and if it has adequate financial resources 
to do so.  

 
 Management reviews its capital management approach on an on-going basis and believes 

that this approach, given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable. There were no 
significant changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the years 
ended September 30, 2017 and 2016. The Company and its subsidiary are not currently 
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.  

 
13.  GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE  

 2017 2016 
 $ $ 
Management fees (Note 9) 54,407 112,368 
Directors' fees (Note 9) 49,126 51,577 
Filing and transfer agent fees 14,224 19,471 
Professional fees (Note 7) 33,492 216,740 
Office and administration (Note 9) 22,987 31,252 
Travel and promotion  -  12,868 
Insurance 14,599 9,198 
Bank charges 1,686 19 
 190,521 453,493 

 
14. TRANSACTION WITH MEDCANNACCESS  
 
 On July 21, 2014, the Company announced that it entered into a binding letter of intent (the 

“MedCann LOI”) with 8437726 Canada Inc. doing business as MedcannAccess 
(“MedcannAccess”) which outlined the general terms and conditions of an arm’s length 
proposed transaction pursuant to which the Company would have acquired all of the issued 
and outstanding common shares of MedcannAccess Holdco through a plan of arrangement 
or other form of business combination (the “Transaction”) thereby acquiring and operating 
the Medcann business. Upon completion of the Transaction, the Resulting Issuer would 
continue to carry on the business of MedcannAccess as currently constituted.  
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 MedcannAccess, based in Toronto, Ontario and governed by the federal laws of Canada, was 
established with the goal of providing medical cannabis products in accordance with the 
Marihuana for Medical Purposes Regulations promulgated by the Government of Canada.  

 
 The MedCann transaction was subject to regulatory approval of the TSX-V, and standard 

closing conditions, including the completion of due diligence by each of the parties and 
approval of the Transaction by the directors of the Company, MedcannAccess and Medcann 
Access Holdco.  

 
 In June 2015, MedcannAccess advised the Company that it would not proceed with the 

transaction. An agreement to release both MedcannAccess and the Company from the 
Medcann LOI was reached. The agreement stipulates that MedcannAccess reimburse the 
Company up to $100,000 of verifiable transaction related costs. Reimbursement was to be 
made with an up-front cash payment of $50,000 (received) and a conditional non-interest 
bearing promissory note for up to an additional $50,000 for related transaction costs incurred 
up to March 31, 2015. Payment of the promissory note is contingent on MedcannAccess 
receiving a non-appealable award for damages from a third party for the failure of the third 
party to proceed with a transaction with MedcannAccess. If after five years from the date of 
the promissory note the claim remains unsettled, the promissory note expires. As at 
September 30, 2017 and 2016, the value of the conditional promissory note has been fully 
allowed for.  
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2017 

  
Introduction 
 
The following is Management’s Discussion and Analysis (the “MD&A”) of the consolidated financial 
position and results from operations of Buccaneer Gold Corp. (the “Company” or “Buccaneer”), for the 
year ended September 30, 2017. This MD&A should be read in conjunction with the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements for its fiscal years ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 along with 
accompanying notes to the statements for the years then ended.  
 
The Company’s reporting currency is the Canadian dollar and all amounts in this MD&A are expressed in 
Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated. The Company’s consolidated financial statements for its 
fiscal years ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 were prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  
 
For the purposes of preparing this MD&A, management, in conjunction with the Board of Directors (the 
“Board”), considers the materiality of information. Information is considered material if: (i) such 
information results in, or would reasonably be expected to result in, a significant change in the market 
price or value of Buccaneer’s common shares; (ii) there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable 
investor would consider it important in making an investment decision; or (iii) it would significantly alter 
the total mix of information available to investors. Management, in conjunction with the Board, evaluates 
materiality with reference to all relevant circumstances, including potential market sensitivity.  
 
The Company is a reporting issuer in Ontario, British Columbia and Alberta. The common shares of the 
Company are listed for trading on the TSX-Venture Exchange (the “TSX-V”) under the trading symbol 
“BGG”. This MD&A is dated as of January 24, 2018. 
 
Additional Information 
 
Additional information relating to the Company is on the System for Electronic Document Analysis and 
Retrieval (“SEDAR”) at www.sedar.com.  
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Business Overview and Corporate Update  
 
Description of the Business  
 
The Company is a mineral exploration company engaged in the acquisition, exploration and development 
of mineral properties. The Company is incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario and has 
one inactive wholly-owned subsidiary, Buccaneer Gold (Ghana) Limited (“Buccaneer Ghana”).  
 
Corporate Update and Outlook  
 
On January 21, 2011, the Company entered into a binding option agreement (the “Option Agreement”) 
for the Banso and Muoso Concessions in Ghana (the "Concessions").   On November 18, 2016, the 
Company settled its litigation with Xtra-Gold Resources Corp. (“Xtra”) related to the Option Agreement 
for the Concessions.  Under the terms of the settlement, the Company terminated its earn-in option 
interest in the Concessions.  The Company abandoned its claim to alluvial gold from the Concessions.  The 
Company paid Xtra $20,000 as reimbursement of legal fees incurred.  Xtra returned 1,000,000 Buccaneer 
shares to the Company for $nil cost.  The Company has received the shares from Xtra and cancelled the 
shares. 
 
The Company is continuing its previously announced process of evaluating potential opportunities for 
possible investment or acquisition with a view to enhancing shareholder wealth. This process was initiated 
as a result of unfavorable market and uncertainties regarding its previous investment in Ghana. As part of 
this ongoing process, the Company has considered and will consider various alternatives for the Company, 
including a revised business plan, a merger, a purchase of or participation in other assets (either in one 
transaction or in a combination of transactions), joint ventures, and other transactions 
 
No decision has been made to move forward with any strategic alternative or enter into any transaction 
at this time, and there can be no assurance that the consideration of strategic alternatives will result in 
any transaction.  There is no set timetable with respect to the Company’s strategic review, or for making 
any further decisions or taking any action with respect to the Option Agreement, except to the extent 
agreed to by the parties or as otherwise determined through appropriate proceedings. The Company 
intends to provide further disclosure regarding these matters as required.  
 
Overview of Business  
 
The Massey Project  
 
On December 9, 2004, the Company entered into an option agreement with Salmay Resources Inc. 
(“Salmay”) to earn up to a 100% interest in six mining claims located in May and Salter Townships, Ontario. 
The Company earned an initial 65% undivided interest by paying cash consideration of $100,000 and 
incurring $300,000 in exploration expenditures. To earn a further 15% interest, the Company must pay 
cash consideration of $100,000 and fund all permitting and licensing costs necessary to commence 
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commercial production on the claims. The remaining 20% interest can be earned by paying cash 
consideration of $100,000 following the commencement of commercial production from the claims. This 
project is subject to a 3% net smelter return royalty, 2% of which may be purchased by the Company for 
$3,000,000.  
 
A corporation controlled by a former officer of the Company purchased a 17% interest in Salmay from a 
corporation controlled by a former officer and director of the Company. The transaction was based on the 
value of expenditures of approximately $300,000 dedicated to the Massey Project. Payment for the 
transaction was completed through a combination of cash and Buccaneer shares held by the corporation 
controlled by a former officer of the Company.  
 
The Massey property is comprised of 6 unpatented, contiguous mining claims containing 8 units and 
covering 128 hectares near Sudbury, Ontario approximately 7 kilometres north of Massey, Ontario. The 
mineral of economic interest in the Massey Project is quartz (SiO2 – silica) which occurs in a large 
northwest-southeast-trending deposit produced by silica-flooding and quartz veining. The deposit has 
been mapped over a strike length of approximately 1,750 metres and occurs in three zones, the Eastern 
Zone, the Central Zone and the Western Zone. The deposit dips steeply north and in the Western Zone is 
from 10 metres to 15 metres wide while in the Central and Eastern Zones the width varies from 10 metres 
to 70 metres. A drilling program by the Company in 2005 showed continuity of the deposit along strike in 
both the Eastern and Central Zones and to a depth of at least 80 metres.  
 
Caracle Creek International Consulting Inc. (“CCIC”) was retained by the Company to prepare an 
independent technical report compliant with National Instrument 43-101, Companion Policy NI 43-101CP 
and Form 43-101F1 on the Massey Project and the final report (the “Report”) was dated August 13, 2007. 
Based on the work on this Project and in particular the 2005 drilling program, CCIC calculated an inferred 
mineral resource of 5,135,000 tonnes at an average grade of 89.1% SiO2 in the Eastern and Central Zones 
combined.  
 
In the Report, CCIC recommended a two phase exploration program for the Massey Project with the Phase 
1 program comprised of diamond drilling and surface sampling with a budget of approximately $240,000. 
During the summer of 2008, the Company completed the Phase 1 program of detailed surface sampling 
on the Central Zone and 12 diamond drill holes for a total of 892.5 metres over a strike length of 300 
metres on the Western Zone.  
 
While the Company continues to believe the property has merit, it has no immediate plans for the 
property.  
 
Banso and Muoso Concessions – Ghana, West Africa  
 
On November 18, 2016, the Company settled its litigation with Xtra-Gold Resources Corp.  These 
properties have been dropped and the Company is not pursuing any further interest in the properties. 
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The Company and Xtra entered into a letter of intent (the “Original Option Agreement”) dated July 21, 
2010, which formed a binding option agreement and whereby the Company acquired an option to acquire 
an undivided 55% interest in the mineral rights in two concessions located in an area historically referred 
to as the “Kibi Gold District” or the “Kibi District” in Ghana, West Africa (the “Banso and Muoso 
Concessions” or the “Concessions”), which were to be acquired by Xtra’s 90% owned subsidiary, XtraGold 
Mining (“Xtra-Gold Mining”).  
 
In connection with the Original Option Agreement, Xtra applied to the Ghana Minerals Commission 
(“Mincom”) to convert a single prospecting license (which was then held by its wholly-owned subsidiary, 
Xtra-Gold Exploration Limited (formerly, Canadiana Gold Resources Limited)), to a mining lease covering 
the lease area of each of these Concessions. Subsequently, the Government of Ghana granted separate 
mining leases to Xtra-Gold Mining with respect to each of the Banso and Muoso Concessions, in each case, 
dated January 6, 2011. Under the terms of these mining leases, Xtra-Gold Mining obtained the mining 
rights to the Concessions, including the right to produce gold in the respective leased areas of the 
Concessions until January 5, 2025 with respect to the Banso Concession, and January 5, 2024 with respect 
to the Muoso Concession. Among other things, the mining leases require that Xtra-Gold Mining (i) pay the 
Government of Ghana a fee of $30,000 in consideration of granting of each lease; (ii) pay annual ground 
rent of GH¢260.00 for the Banso Concession and GH¢280.00 for the Muoso Concession; (iii) commence 
commercial production of gold within two years from the date of the mining leases; and (iv) pay a 
production royalty to the Government of Ghana.  
 
On January 21, 2011, the Company entered into a binding option agreement (the “Option Agreement”) 
pursuant to the terms of a further letter of intent, which amended and superseded the terms of the 
Original Option Agreement. Pursuant to the Option Agreement, the Company acquired an option to 
acquire a 55% legal and beneficial interest in Xtra-Gold Mining’s interest in the mineral rights of the 
Concessions in accordance with the terms of the Option Agreement, which included, among other things, 
the following key terms:  
 

• The Company had until February 28, 2011 to provide notice to Xtra of its satisfactory completion 
of its due diligence of the Concessions (provided on January 21, 2011), and receipt of regulatory 
approvals (notice of acceptance by the TSX Venture Exchange was received on February 16, 2011, 
the “Effective Date”).  

• In order to acquire a 55% legal and beneficial interest in Xtra-Gold Mining’s interest in the 
Concessions, the Company must complete the following:  

• make a cash payment to Xtra of U.S. $425,000 consisting of U.S. $100,000 upon the Effective 
Date and U.S. $325,000 within 90 days of the Effective Date (paid);  

• issue 1,000,000 common shares of the Company to Xtra upon the Effective Date (issued on 
February 16, 2011 and valued at U.S. $350,000, based on the market price of the common 
shares on the date of issue); and  

• incur a total of U.S. $4,425,000 in exploration expenditures on the Concessions within five 
(5) years of the Effective Date, as follows: U.S. $500,000 in the first year from the Effective 
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Date, U.S. $1,000,000 in each of years two, three and four thereafter, and U.S. $925,000 in 
the fifth year following the Effective Date.  

• The Company also agreed to pay Xtra the cost (estimated to be $300,000) in connection with a 
versatile time-domain electromagnetic (“VTEM”) magnetic and radiometric survey to be flown 
over the Concessions by Xtra, which payment shall be credited toward the $500,000 in exploration 
expenditures required to be incurred in the first year following the Effective Date as referred to 
above.  

• As operator the Company may charge up to 15% for management fees which shall be applied as 
part of the exploration expenditures.  

• The Company would act as operator of the exploration activities carried out on the Concessions 
during the option period and would have the right to access the Concessions and to all information 
and data with respect to the Concessions.  

• In the event that the Company exercised the option described above pursuant to the terms of the 
Option Agreement, a joint venture between Xtra-Gold Mining and the Company would be formed 
for further exploration and development of the Concessions.  
 

A report of the results of a VTEM survey was provided to the Company in August 2011 and, in January 
2012, the Company began a diamond drilling program (the “2012 Drill Program”) at the Concessions. A 
total of 5,123 metres were drilled in 30 holes from January through May 2012. The 2012 drill program was 
designed to test the presence of gold mineralization indicated by anomalous samples in soil and trenches 
in several of the Muoso East, Banso North and Banso South zones on the Concessions.  
 
This first phase of exploration drilling demonstrated the presence of multi-style mineralization in the 
Concessions including the structurally controlled lode gold deposit, typical for the Kibi Gold Belt.  
 
Also in 2012, gold soil geochemical surveys were undertaken. A total of 2,746 soil samples were taken 
(1,866 from Muoso and 880 from Banso). The spacing between the samples was 25 metres, along the 
sampling lines. The interval between lines was 100 metres, in order to cover larger zones. A total of 46 
kilometres of lines were cut and marked on the sampling grids.  
 
Trenches were dug at four different areas in Muoso East and Banso South to confirm soil anomalies and 
the orientation of the veins before drilling commenced. Chip samples were taken at the wall bottom of 
the trench. Sample length was 2 metres or adjusted to the thickness of the specific vein. A total of 330 
metres of trenches were made and 169 samples taken.  
 
Additional information regarding the results of the drilling and soil testing are contained in the press 
release issued by the Company dated September 4, 2012, which can be viewed on SEDAR at 
www.sedar.com.  
 
In the fiscal years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, evaluation and exploration expenditures on the 
Concessions totaled $292,453 and $1,833,968, respectively.  
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During 2013, the Company requested an extension of the Company’s option with Xtra. The Company 
believed Xtra’s board of directors may have approved a two-year extension to the Company’s earn-in 
interest under the Option Agreement. The Company understood that this approval was granted, which 
would allow the Company until February 16, 2018 to incur the remaining portion of the U.S. $4,425,000 
of exploration expenditures that it had not yet incurred and that was required to be incurred for the 
Company to acquire a 55% interest in Xtra-Gold Mining’s interest in the Concessions.  
 
On April 9, 2013, the Company announced that, due to then current market conditions, the Company’s 
board of directors had determined that it would be in the best interests of the Company and its 
shareholders to suspend further exploration activities on the Concessions in order to preserve the 
Company’s working capital.  
 
Consistent with this objective, in its fiscal years ended September 30, 2014 and September 30, 2015, the 
Company incurred nil and $119,172 of exploration and evaluation expense on the Concessions, 
respectively. The expenditures in its 2015 fiscal year related to the application process (performed by 
Xtra) for obtaining environmental and mining permits and annual ground rentals for the Concessions. The 
permits were issued and remain valid for a period of two years.  
 
To date, the Company has incurred (or is otherwise entitled to be credited for) an amount equal to 
approximately U.S. $3,170,000 of the total amount of U.S. $4,425,000 in exploration expenditures that 
are required to be incurred by the Company on the Concessions in order for it to exercise its option under 
the Option Agreement.  
 
MedcannAccess  
 
In July 2014, the Company entered into a binding letter of intent (the “MedCann LOI”) with 8437726 
Canada Inc. doing business as MedcannAccess (“MedcannAccess”) which outlined the general terms and 
conditions of a proposed arm’s length transaction pursuant to which Buccaneer would acquire all of the 
issued and outstanding common shares of MedcannAccess Holdco through a plan of arrangement or other 
form of business combination (the “Transaction”) thereby acquiring and operating the MedcannAccess 
business. Upon completion of the Transaction, the resulting issuer would continue to carry on the business 
of MedcannAccess as currently constituted.  
 
MedcannAccess, based in Toronto, Ontario and governed by the federal laws of Canada, was established 
with the goal of providing medical cannabis products in accordance with the Marihuana for Medical 
Purposes Regulations promulgated by the Government of Canada.  
 
The MedCann transaction was subject to regulatory approval of the TSX-V, and standard closing 
conditions, including the completion of due diligence by each of the parties and approval of the 
Transaction by the directors of the Company, MedcannAccess and Medcann Access Holdco.  
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In June 2015, MedcannAccess advised the Company that it would not proceed with the transaction. An 
agreement to release both MedcannAccess and the Company from the Medcann LOI was reached. The 
agreement stipulates that MedcannAccess reimburse the Company up to $100,000 of verifiable 
transaction related costs. Reimbursement was to be made with an up-front cash payment of $50,000 
(received) and a conditional non-interest bearing promissory note for up to an additional $50,000 for 
related transaction costs incurred up to March 31, 2015. Payment of the promissory note is contingent 
on MedcannAccess receiving a non-appealable award for damages from a third party for the failure of the 
third party to proceed with a transaction with MedcannAccess. If after five years from the date of the 
promissory note the claim remains unsettled, the promissory note expires. As at September 30, 2017, the 
value of the conditional promissory note has been fully allowed for.  
 
Financial Performance 
 
Selected Annual Financial Information  

  
The table below summarizes key operating data for the last three fiscal years.  
 

 Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
 September 30, 

2017 
September 30, 

2016 
September 30, 

2015 
 (Audited) (Audited) (Audited)
 $ $ $
Total assets 600,890 827,398 1,283,592
Total non-current liabilities Nil Nil Nil
Revenue Nil Nil Nil
Net loss (192,807) (375,483) (466,400)
Net loss per share (0.006) (0.012) (0.015)
Weighted average shares outstanding 31,307,381 32,021,667 32,021,667
  

Selected Quarterly Financial Information  
 
The following quarterly results for the eight most recent quarters have been prepared in accordance 
with IFRS as listed below. 

 
Three Months 

Ended 

 
 

Cash 

 
Current 

Liabilities 

 
          Net Gain 

           (Loss) 

Gain 
(Loss) Per 

Share 

Weighted 
Average 
Shares 

Outstanding 
September 30, 2017 $  595,848 $  49,199 (43,786) $ (0.002) 31,021,667
June 30, 2017   640,610  47,404  (43,595)  (0.001) 31,021,667
March 31, 2017   684,410  51,298 (69,549) (0.002) 31,156,498
December 31, 2016   747,070  55,104 (35,877) (0.001) 32,021,667
September 30, 2016 791,821 52,900 54,748        0.002 32,021,667
June 30, 2016 923,696 263,884 (115,855) (0.004) 32,021,667
March 31, 2016 998,180 207,571 (200,690) (0.006) 32,021,667
December 31, 2015 1,186,318 184,750 (113,686) (0.004) 32,021,667
September 30, 2015 1,273,292 179,003 (197,640) (0.006) 32,021,667
June 30, 2015 1,338,804 144,017 (42,739) (0.001) 32,021,667
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Three months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2016 
 
The net loss for the three months ended September 30, 2017 was $39,784 (2016 - gain of $54,478). For 
the three months ended September 30, 2017, exploration and evaluation expenditures totaled an 
expense of $468 (2016 - recovery of $123,422). For the three months ended September 30, 2017, general 
and administration expenses were $39,306 (2016 - $47,836). In the 2017 quarter, management and 
director fees amounted to $20,540.  Most of the other expense is comprised of legal and audit fees.   
 
Year ended September 30, 2017 compared to the year ended September 30, 2016 
 
The net loss for the year ended September 30, 2017 was $192,807 (2016 - $375,483). For the year ended 
September 30, 2017, general and administrative costs were $190,521 (2016 - $453,493).  Significant 
savings were realised in management fees due to the transition to new management. The Company 
originally entered in to a settlement agreement with the prior director and accrued $30,000 related to 
the settlement.  However, the Company subsequently believes that the former director may have 
breached terms of the settlement and that certain information provided in support of the settlement 
could not be verified.   The Company intends to defend against collection of this balance if required. 
 
Reduced expenses in 2017 as compared to 2016 were realised in professional fees due to the settlement 
with Xtra.  In addition, for the year ended September 30, 2016, exploration and evaluation expenditures 
reported a recovery of $123,422 which were mostly related to the settlement.  
 
Related Party Transactions  
 
Related parties include directors, officers, close family members, certain consultants and enterprises that 
are controlled by these individuals as well as certain persons performing similar functions.  
 
During the year ended September 30, 2017, the Company:  
 
(a)  paid $nil (2016 - $nil) in rent, and incurred $nil (2016 - recovered $125,932) for exploration and 

evaluation expenditures, to a corporation which former officers and directors of the Company were 
formerly officers and directors. Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities at September 
30, 2017 is $nil (2016 - $nil) owing to this corporation.  

 
(b)  paid $nil (2016 - $10,600) for administrative services to an officer and former officer and former 

director of the Company. Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities at September 30, 2017 
is $nil (2016 - $nil) owing to this individual.  

 
(c)  Incurred legal fees totaling $nil (2016 - $51,428) to a law firm of which a former director of the 

Company is a partner. Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities at September 30, 2017 
is $nil (2016 - $4,070) owing to this law firm.  
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In accordance with IAS 24, key management personnel are those persons having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company directly or indirectly, 
including any directors (executive and non-executive) of the Company. Remuneration of directors and key 
management personnel of the Company for the years ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 was:  
 

 2017 2016 
 $ $ 
Management fees 54,407 112,368
Director fees 49,126 51,577
Share-based payments - 45,392
Total 103,533 209,337
  

As at September 30, 2017, $30,000 (2016 - $30,000) is accrued relating to a potential liability to a prior 
director and officer of the Company.   The Company originally entered in to a settlement agreement with 
the prior director and officer.  However, the Company subsequently believes that the former director and 
officer may not have fulfilled the conditions of the settlement.   The Company intends to defend against 
collection of this balance, if required. 
 
All amounts due to related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing and payable on demand.  

  
Financial Condition  
 
Cash Flow  
 
At September 30, 2017, the Company held cash of $595,848, a reduction of $195,973 during the year.  
Cash of $193,992 was used to fund operations.  Working capital changes from decrease amounts 
receivable and prepaid were mostly offset by the expense of shares received in the legal settlement. 
 
As of January 1, 2018, the CEO and the Board waived their monthly fees to preserve cash. 
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources  
 
Working capital of as of September 30, 2017 was $551,691 compared to $774,498 as of September 30, 
2016. The Company’s principal source of liquidity as of September 30, 2017 was cash and short term 
investments of $595,848 compared to $791,821 as of September 30, 2016.  
 
While Management believes that the Company has sufficient funds to meet its obligations and short term 
working capital requirements, and to accomplish its short term plans, the Company plans to continue to 
monitor closely its use of its available cash, while conditions in the capital markets continue to make it 
difficult for early stage exploration companies to raise additional capital. The Company may require 
substantial additional capital to fund any new project or to advance the Massey Project.  
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Historically, the Company has used the net proceeds from issuances of its securities to provide sufficient 
funds for it to meet its near-term exploration and development plans and other contractual obligations 
when due. However, given the current market conditions affecting the junior mining sector, the current 
trading price of the Company’s common shares and other uncertainties discussed herein, there can be no 
assurance that the Company will be able to obtain sufficient additional funds on favorable terms, or at all, 
in order to carry out its objectives. As mentioned elsewhere in this MD&A, the Company is evaluating 
various strategic alternatives and, if it decides to pursue any such alternative, it may also require 
additional funds to carry out its strategic plans in amounts that cannot be determined as of the date 
hereof, which funds may also be unavailable to the Company on favorable terms or at all.  
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  
 
At September 30, 2017, there were no off-balance sheet arrangements.  
 
Outstanding Share Data  
 
As at September 30, 2017, and at the date of this MD&A, the Company had 31,021,667 common shares 
issued and outstanding. The Company had no warrants outstanding at September 30, 2017 or at the date 
of this MD&A. 
 
Stock options  
 
A summary of the outstanding options of the Company as at the date of this MD&A is set out below.  
 

Expiry 
Date 

Options 
Issued 

Exercise 
Price 

 # $ 
Nov. 1, 2020 200,000 0.05
Sept.15, 2021 1,750,000 0.05
 1,950,000 0.05
 

Risk Factors  
 
The Company’s business of mineral exploration has an inherent high level of risk. Management of the 
Company is optimistic about the potential of its property, but there can be no guarantee with regard to 
any property that any mineral deposits will be identified or, if identified, be economically viable for 
production. Management is currently updating the NI 43-101 report on the Massey Property to assess our 
future direction on the property.  Further, the ability of the Company to continue operations is dependent 
upon favorable results from its exploration activities which will attract potential investors or exploration 
partners. Other risk exposures and the impact on the Company's financial instruments are summarized 
below.  
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There have been no changes in the risks, objectives, policies and procedures from previous years other 
than disclosed elsewhere herein.  
 
Current Global Financial Conditions and Trends  
 
Securities of mining and mineral exploration companies have experienced substantial volatility in the past, 
often based on factors unrelated to the financial performance or prospects of the companies involved. 
These factors include macroeconomic developments globally, and market perceptions of the 
attractiveness of particular industries. The price of the securities of companies is also significantly affected 
by short-term changes in commodity prices, base and precious metal prices or other mineral prices, 
currency exchange fluctuation and the political environment in the countries in which the Company does 
business. As of September 30, 2017, the global economy continues to be in a period of significant 
economic volatility, in large part due to US, European, and Middle East economic and political concerns 
which have impacted global economic growth.  
 
Dependence on Key Employees  
 
The Company’s business and operations are dependent on retaining the services of a small number of key 
employees. The success of the Company is, and will continue to be, to a significant extent, dependent on 
the expertise and experience of these employees. The loss of one or more of these employees could have 
a materially adverse effect on the Company. The Company does not maintain insurance on any of its key 
employees.  
 
Capital Management  
 
The Company considers its capital to consist of shareholders’ equity. The Company manages its capital 
structure and makes adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the Company, in order to support 
the acquisition, exploration and development of mineral properties. The Board does not establish 
quantitative return on capital criteria for Management, but rather relies on the expertise of the 
Company’s Management to sustain future development of the business.  
 
The properties in which the Company currently has an interest are in the exploration stage and the 
Company is dependent on external financing to fund its activities. In order to carry out future exploration 
and pay on-going administrative costs, the Company will spend its existing working capital and raise 
additional amounts as needed. The Company will continue to assess new properties and seek to acquire 
an interest in additional properties if it determines there is sufficient geological or economic potential and 
if it has adequate financial resources to do so.  
 
Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this 
approach, given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable. There were no significant changes in the 
Company’s approach to capital management in the year ended September 30, 2017. The Company and 
its subsidiary are not currently subject to externally imposed capital requirements.  
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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements  
 

This MD&A contains certain “forward-looking information” as defined in applicable securities laws 
(collectively referred to herein as “forward-looking statements”). These statements relate to future 
events or the Company’s future performance. All statements other than statements of historical fact are 
forward-looking statements. Often, but not always, forward-looking statements can be identified by the 
use of words such as “plans”, “expects”, “budgeted”, “scheduled”, “estimates”, “continues”, “forecasts”, 
“projects”, “predicts”, “intends”, “anticipates” or “believes”, or variations of, or the negatives of, such 
words and phrases, or statements that certain actions, events or results “may”, “could”, “would”, 
“should”, “might” or “will” be taken, occur or be achieved. The forward-looking statements in this MD&A 
speak only as of the date of this MD&A or as of the date specified in such statements.  
 
Forward-looking statements are based upon certain assumptions and other important factors regarding 
present and future business strategies and the environment in which the Company will operate in the 
future, which could prove to be significantly incorrect. Forward-looking statements are inherently subject 
to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the actual results, level of 
activity, performance or achievements of the Company and/or its subsidiary to be materially different 
from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.  
 
Actual results and developments are likely to differ, and may differ materially, from those expressed or 
implied by the forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A. Forward-looking statements involve 
known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the Company’s actual results, 
performance or achievements to be materially different from any of its future results, performance or 
achievements expressed or implied by forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements herein 
are qualified by this cautionary note. Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on forward 
looking statements. The Company undertakes no obligation to update publicly or otherwise revise any 
forward-looking statements whether as a result of new information or future events or otherwise, except 
as may be required by law. If the Company does update one or more forward-looking statements, no 
inference should be drawn that it will make additional updates with respect to those or other forward-
looking statements, unless required by law. 
 
 


